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Part I
Item 1. Business

General

Owens & Minor, Inc. and subsidiaries (we, us, our or the Company), a Fortune 500 company headquartered in Richmond, Virginia, is a global
healthcare solutions company that incorporates product manufacturing, distribution support and innovative technology services to deliver significant and
sustained value across the breadth of the industry – from acute care to patients in their home. Our business has two distinct segments: Products & Healthcare
Services and Patient Direct. Products & Healthcare Services provides distribution, outsourced logistics and value-added services, and manufactures and sources
medical surgical products through our production and kitting operations. Patient Direct expands our business along the continuum of care through delivery of
disposable medical supplies sold directly to patients and home health agencies and is a leading provider of integrated home healthcare equipment and related
services in the United States (U.S.). Our teammates serve healthcare industry customers in approximately 70 countries, by providing quality products and
helping to reduce total costs across the healthcare supply chain by optimizing point-of care performance, freeing up capital and clinical resources and managing
contracts to optimize financial performance. The description of our business should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and
supplementary data included in this Form 10-K.

Founded in 1882, Owens & Minor was incorporated in 1926 and has operated continuously from its Richmond, Virginia headquarters. Through
organic growth and acquisitions over many years, we significantly expanded and strengthened our company, achieving international scale in the healthcare
market. Today, we have distribution, production, storage, customer service and sales facilities located across Asia, Australia, Europe, Latin America and the
United States.

Acquisition of Apria

On March 29, 2022, we completed the acquisition of 100% of Apria, Inc. (Apria) pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger dated January 7, 2022
(Apria Acquisition), in exchange for approximately $1.7 billion, net of $144 million of cash acquired. See Note 3, “Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations,”
of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included in this annual report for further information.

Products & Healthcare Services

In our Products & Healthcare Services segment, we offer a comprehensive portfolio of products and services to healthcare providers and
manufacturers. This segment is vertically-integrated, starting with America's-based manufacturing, using our proprietary technology, teammates, and leased or
owned production facilities. We manufacture from raw material all the way to finished goods before transferring product to our distribution center network.
Our portfolio of medical and surgical supplies includes branded products purchased from manufacturers and our own proprietary products. We store our
products at our distribution centers and provide delivery of these products, along with related services, to healthcare providers around the U.S.

Our service offerings to healthcare providers include supplier management, analytics, inventory management, and clinical supply management. These
value-add services help providers improve their processes for contracting with vendors, purchasing supplies and streamlining inventory. These services include
our operating room-focused inventory management program that helps healthcare providers manage suture and endo-mechanical inventory, as well as our
customizable surgical supply service that includes the kitting and delivery of surgical supplies in procedure-based totes to coincide with the healthcare
providers' surgical schedule.

In addition to services to healthcare providers, we offer a variety of programs dedicated to providing outsourced logistics and marketing solutions to
our suppliers as well. These are designed to help manufacturers drive sales growth, increase market share and achieve operational efficiencies. Manufacturer
programs are generally negotiated on an annual basis and provide for enhanced levels of support that are aligned with the manufacturer’s annual objectives and
growth goals. We have contractual arrangements with manufacturers participating in these programs that provide performance-based incentives to us, as well as
cash discounts for prompt payment. Program incentives can be earned on a monthly, quarterly or annual basis.

We operate a network of 54 distribution centers located throughout the United States, which are strategically located to efficiently serve our provider
and manufacturer customers. Investments in information technology support our business including warehouse management systems, customer service and
ordering functions, demand forecasting programs, electronic commerce, data warehousing, decision support and supply chain management.
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We customize product deliveries, whether the orders are “just-in-time,” “low-unit-of-measure,” pallets, or truckloads. We also customize delivery
schedules according to customers’ needs to increase their efficiency in receiving and storing products. We use low-unit-of-measure automated picking modules
in our larger distribution centers to maximize efficiency, and our distribution center teammates use voice-pick technology to enhance speed and accuracy in
performing certain warehousing processes. We partner with a third party company to deliver most supplies in the United States. We also use contract carriers
and parcel delivery services when they are more cost-effective and timely.

The majority of our distribution arrangements compensate us on a cost-plus percentage basis, under which a negotiated percentage mark-up is added
to the contract cost of the product agreed to by the supplier and customer or Group Purchasing Organization (GPO). We price our services for other
arrangements under activity-based pricing models. In these cases, pricing depends upon the type, level and/or complexity of services that we provide to
customers, and in some cases we do not take title to the product (although we maintain certain custodial risks). As a result, this fee-for-service pricing model
aligns the fees we charge with the cost of the services provided, which is a component of distribution, selling and administrative expenses, rather than with the
cost of the product, which is a component of cost of goods sold.

Our Products & Healthcare Services segment manufactures and sources medical surgical products through our production and kitting operations. We
provide medical supplies and solutions for the prevention of healthcare-associated infections across the acute and alternate site channels.

Our manufacturing facilities are located in the United States, Thailand, Honduras, Mexico and Ireland. Our business has recognized brands across its
portfolio of product offerings, including sterilization wrap, surgical drapes and gowns, facial protection, protective apparel, medical exam gloves, custom and
minor procedure kits and other medical products. We use a wide variety of raw materials and other inputs in our production processes, with polypropylene
polymers and nitrile constituting our most significant raw material purchases. We base our purchasing decisions on quality assurance, cost effectiveness and
regulatory requirements, and we work closely with our suppliers to assure continuity of supply while maintaining high quality and reliability. We primarily
purchase these materials from external suppliers, some of which are single-source suppliers. Global commodity prices can affect pricing of certain raw
materials on which we rely. In our Halyard product line, polypropylene polymers, which are oil based, and nitrile represent a significant component of our
manufacturing costs. In addition, the prices of other raw materials we use, such as resins and finishing supplies, often fluctuate in response to changes in oil
prices.

We support customer sales through a dedicated global sales force and direct our primary sales and marketing efforts toward hospitals and other
healthcare providers to highlight the unique benefits and competitive differentiation of our products. We work directly with physicians, nurses, professional
societies, hospital administrators and GPOs to collaborate and educate on emerging practices and clinical techniques that prevent infection and speed recovery.
These marketing programs are delivered directly to healthcare providers. Additionally, we provide marketing programs to our strategic distribution partners
throughout the world. For the products we manufacture, we operate four major distribution centers located in North America and Asia that ship finished
products to customers, as well as other distribution sites that also have customer shipping capabilities, in order to optimize cost and customer service
requirements.

Our proprietary products are typically purchased pursuant to purchase orders or supply agreements in which the purchaser specifies whether such
products are to be supplied through a distributor or directly. These products may be sold on an intercompany basis within our Products & Healthcare Services
segment when we are the designated distributor, to other third-party distributors or directly to healthcare providers.

Patient Direct

Our Patient Direct segment expands our business along the continuum of care through delivery of disposable medical supplies sold directly to patients
and home health agencies and is a leading provider of integrated home healthcare equipment and related services in the United States. The segment offers a
comprehensive range of products and services for in-home care and delivery across diabetes treatment, home respiratory therapy (including home oxygen and
non-invasive ventilation services), and obstructive sleep apnea treatment (including continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) and bi-level positive airway
pressure devices, and patient support services). Additionally, Patient Direct supplies a wide range of other home medical equipment, patient care product lines
including ostomy, wound care (including negative pressure wound therapy), urology, incontinence and other products and services to help improve the quality
of life for patients with home care needs. Revenues are generated through fee-for-service and capitation arrangements with large government and commercial
payors (Payors) for equipment, supplies, services and other items rented or sold to patients. We provide patients with a variety of clinical and administrative
support services and related products and supplies, most of which are prescribed by a physician as part of a care plan. Patient Direct remains focused on being
the industry’s highest-quality provider of home healthcare equipment, medical supplies and related services, while maintaining a commitment to being a low-
cost operator. We aim to provide a compelling value proposition to patients, providers and Payors by allowing patients to receive necessary care and services in
the comfort of their own home, while, at the same time, reducing the costs of treatment.
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Patient Direct has a nationwide sales force, focusing on managed care and key referral sources, six centers of excellence aligned with specific mail
order product categories and a nationwide network to optimize shipping distance and time, with over 300 locations to serve patients.

Our Customers

Through Products & Healthcare Services we currently provide products and services to thousands of healthcare provider customers either directly or
indirectly through third-party distributors. Through Patient Direct, we provide delivery of disposable medical supplies and equipment sold or rented directly to
patients and home health agencies, for which payments are received from managed care plans, the U.S. federal government under the Medicare program, state
governments under their respective Medicaid or similar programs, private insurers, home health agencies, and directly from patients. Medicare contracts within
our Patient Direct segment may be subject to a Competitive Bidding Process (CBP) for the durable medical equipment, prosthetics, orthotics and supplies
(DMEPOS), as further described in the Regulation section.

Our customers include multi-facility networks of healthcare providers offering a broad spectrum of healthcare services to a particular market or
markets as well as smaller, independent hospitals. In addition to contracting directly with healthcare providers at the Integrated Delivery Network (IDN) level,
we also contract with GPOs as well as other types of healthcare providers including surgery centers, physicians’ practices and smaller networks of hospitals
that have joined together to negotiate terms. We have contracts to provide distribution services to the members of a number of national GPOs, including
Vizient, Premier, Inc. (Premier) and HealthTrust Purchasing Group (HPG). Below is a summary of these agreements:

GPO
Year of Renewal or

Extension Term

Sales to Members as a % of
Consolidated Net Revenue in

2022
Vizient 2021 2 years 35%
Premier 2021 5 years 19%
HPG 2022 4 years 12%

We have our own independent relationships with most of our hospital customers through separate contractual commitments that may or may not be
based upon the terms of our agreement with the GPO. As a result, the termination or expiration of an agreement with a particular GPO would not necessarily
mean that we would lose the members of such GPO as our customers.

Our suppliers represent the largest and most influential healthcare manufacturers in the industry. We have long-term relationships with these important
companies in the healthcare supply chain and have long provided traditional distribution services to them. No sales of products from any individual suppliers
exceeded 10% of our consolidated net revenue for 2022.

Asset Management

In our business, a significant investment in inventory and accounts receivable is required to meet the rapid delivery requirements of customers and
provide high-quality service. As a result, efficient asset management is essential to our profitability. We continually work to refine our processes to optimize
inventory and collect accounts receivable.

Inventory

We actively monitor inventory for obsolescence and use inventory days and other operational metrics to measure our performance in managing
inventory. We write down inventories which are considered excess and obsolete as a result of these assessments. We are focused in our efforts to optimize
inventory and continually consolidate products and collaborate with suppliers on inventory productivity initiatives. When we convert large-scale IDN
customers to our distribution network, an additional investment in inventory in advance of expected sales is generally required.

Accounts Receivable

In the normal course of business, we provide credit to our customers and use credit management techniques to evaluate customers’ creditworthiness
and facilitate collection. In our Products & Healthcare Services segment, these techniques may include performing initial and ongoing credit evaluations of
customers based primarily on financial information provided by them and from sources available to the general public. We also use third-party information
from sources such as credit reporting agencies, banks and other credit references. For Patient Direct, we have developed internal expertise to manage the
unique reimbursement requirements of certain Payors and continue to negotiate simplifications in the claims submission process in an effort to reduce
subsequent denials and shorten related collection periods. Our policy is to collect co-payments from the patient or applicable secondary Payor. In the absence
of a secondary Payor, we generally require the co-payment to be paid at the time the patient is initially established.

5



We actively manage our accounts receivable to minimize credit risk, days sales outstanding (DSO) and accounts receivable carrying costs. Our ability
to accurately invoice and ship product to customers enhances our collection results and affects our DSO performance. As we diversify our customer portfolio,
the change in business mix also affects our DSO. We have arrangements with certain customers under which they make deposits on account, because they do
not meet our standards for creditworthiness, to reduce past due balances, or in order to obtain more favorable pricing.

Competition

The industries in which we operate are highly competitive. Products & Healthcare Services competitors include two major nationwide manufacturers
who also provide distribution services, Cardinal Health, Inc. and Medline Industries, Inc. We also compete against other product manufacturers, including
Hogy Medical, Multigate Medical Products, Mölnlycke Health Care and the HARTMANN Group. In addition, we compete with a number of regional and local
distributors, and customer self-distribution models. Major outsourced logistics competitors serving healthcare manufacturers in the United States include
United Parcel Service and FedEx Corporation. In our Patient Direct segment, we compete against national providers that deliver products and services to
patients' homes, including AdaptHealth Corp., Lincare, Rotech, Aerocare, Inogen, Inspire Medical Systems, Inc., Viemed Healthcare, Inc., as well as regional
providers and local organizations. In addition, pharmacy benefit managers, such as CVS Health Corporation, are beginning to compete with us in the home
healthcare market.

In the United States, several of our distribution partners and GPOs directly compete with us by sourcing their own brands. We compete against
reusable products, or low usage of infection prevention products, due in large part to limited awareness and education on infection prevention practices and
products. The highly competitive environment requires us to seek out technological innovations and to market our products effectively. Our products face
competition from other brands that may be less expensive than our products and from other companies that may have more resources than we do. Competitive
factors include price, alternative clinical practices, innovation, quality and reputation. To successfully compete, we must demonstrate that our products offer
higher quality, more innovative features or better value versus other products.

Research and Development

We continuously engage in research and development to commercialize new products and enhance the effectiveness, reliability and safety of our
existing products. In our Products & Healthcare Services segment, we are focused on maintaining and improving our market position by providing innovative
customer-preferred product enhancements, with a particular focus on the operating room. Leveraging customer insights and our vertically integrated
manufacturing capabilities, we seek to continuously improve our product designs, specifications and features to deliver cost efficiencies while improving
healthcare worker and patient protection. We continuously refresh our surgical drape and gown portfolio to ensure that our products are aligned with the latest
medical and procedural standards. Our research team works with healthcare providers to develop and design exam glove and apparel portfolios that optimize
comfort and fit and provide cost-effective infection prevention solutions for use throughout the hospital. We are also investing in new categories and solutions
that complement our technical expertise and existing intellectual property. We are particularly focused on those new categories that we believe will leverage
our existing scalable technology platforms as well as our sales and marketing expertise.

Intellectual Property

Patents, trademarks and other proprietary rights are very important to the growth of our business. We also rely upon trade secrets, manufacturing
know-how, continuing technological innovations and licensing opportunities to maintain and improve our competitive position.

On a regular basis, we review third-party proprietary rights, including patents and patent applications, as available, in an effort to develop an effective
intellectual property strategy, avoid infringement of third-party proprietary rights, identify licensing opportunities, and monitor the intellectual property owned
by others.

We have approximately 825 patents and patent applications pending in the United States and other countries that relate to the technology used in many
of our products. We utilize patents in our surgical and infection protection products and currently have approximately 135 issued patents in the U.S. and
approximately 540 issued patents in countries outside the U.S. These patents generally expire between 2023 and 2043. We do not license any patents from third
parties that are material to our business.

We also file patent applications for innovative product lines and solutions that result from our technical expertise. In order to protect our ongoing
research & development investments, we have approximately 40 pending patent applications in the U.S. and approximately 110 pending patent applications in
countries outside of the U.S.

With respect to trademarks, we have approximately 1,180 trademarks and trademark applications pending in the United States and other countries that
are used to designate or identify our company or products. We have approximately 160 U.S. registration trademarks and approximately 850 registered
trademarks outside of the U.S. We also have approximately 60 pending trademark applications in the U.S. and approximately 110 pending trademark
applications outside of the U.S.
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We manufacture and distribute products bearing the well-known “Halyard” brand. Other well-known registered trademarks we use include: Aero Blue,
Apria, Byram Healthcare, Quick Check, Smart-Fold, Orange, One Step, Purple, Purple Nitrile, Purple Nitrile-Xtra, Lavender, Sterling, and Safeskin.

We consider the patents and trademarks which we own and the trademarks under which we sell certain of our products, as a whole, to be material to
our business. However, we do not consider our business to be materially dependent upon any individual patent or trademark.

Regulation

The development, manufacture, marketing, sale, promotion and distribution of products, as well as the provision of logistics and services in the
healthcare industry and provisions of our contracts with certain governmental agencies, are subject to comprehensive regulation by federal, state, local and
foreign governments and agencies. Compliance with these laws and regulations is costly and materially affects our business. Among other effects, healthcare
regulation substantially increases the time, difficulty and costs incurred in obtaining and maintaining approvals to market newly developed and existing
products. We believe we are in material compliance with all statutes and regulations applicable to our operations. Notwithstanding this, violations of these laws
and regulations may still occur, which could subject us to civil and criminal enforcement actions; licensure revocation, suspension, or non-renewal; severe fines
and penalties; the repayment of amounts previously paid to us; and even the termination of our ability to provide services under certain government programs.

Healthcare is an area of rapid regulatory change. Changes in the laws and regulations and new interpretations of or guidelines relating to existing laws
and regulations may affect permissible activities and compliance requirements, licenses and approvals required to be held, the relative costs associated with
doing business, and reimbursement amounts paid by federal, state and other third-party payors. We cannot predict the future of federal, state, local and foreign
regulation or legislation, or possible changes in national healthcare policies. Future legislative and regulatory changes could have a material adverse effect on
our financial condition and results of operations.

General Regulation

Privacy

Numerous federal and state laws and regulations, including the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), as amended by the
Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act of 2009 (HITECH), govern the collection, dissemination, security, use and
confidentiality of Protected Health Information (PHI). HIPAA includes a number of requirements pertaining to the privacy and security of certain PHI, as well
as the standard formatting of certain electronic health transactions. As part of the provision of, and billing for, healthcare equipment and services, our Patient
Direct business is required to collect and maintain PHI and as such, are subject to HIPAA as a covered entity. HIPAA also applies to business associates of
covered entities, which are individuals and entities that provide services for or on behalf of those covered entities. Failure of our business associates to comply
with HIPAA requirements can adversely impact our business. Numerous other federal and state laws that protect the confidentiality, privacy, availability,
integrity and security of PHI and healthcare related data also apply to us. In many cases, these laws are more restrictive than, and not preempted by, the HIPAA
and HITECH rules and requirements, and may be subject to varying interpretation by courts and government agencies, creating complex compliance issues for
us and potentially exposing us to additional expenses, adverse publicity and liability. We are also subject to privacy laws outside the United States. See
“Products & Healthcare Services-Global Privacy Regulation.”

Further, federal and state consumer laws are being applied increasingly by the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) and state enforcement authorities, to
regulate the collection, use and disclosure of personal information or PHI, and to ensure that businesses and organizations maintaining personal information
about individuals implement appropriate data safeguards. For instance, the California Consumer Privacy Act (CCPA) became effective on January 1, 2020. The
CCPA gives California residents expanded rights to direct the use of their personal information. The CCPA provides for civil penalties for violations, as well as
a private right of action for data breaches that may result in data breach litigation. Although there are limited exemptions for PHI and HIPAA regulated entities,
and the CCPA’s implementation standards and enforcement practices are continuing to develop and remain uncertain for the foreseeable future, the CCPA may
increase our compliance costs and potential liability. In November 2020, Californians approved the California Privacy Rights Act (the CPRA), which modified
and expanded the CCPA and established a new California Privacy Protection Agency. The CPRA established January 1, 2023 as the new compliance date for
most of the other substantive provisions of the CPRA. Colorado, Connecticut, Utah, and Virginia have enacted similar laws to provide for the protection of
consumer privacy, and numerous other states have similar laws under consideration.

Additionally, the FTC and many state attorneys general are interpreting existing federal and state consumer protection laws to impose evolving
standards for the online collection, use, dissemination and security of PHI and other personal information. Courts may also adopt the standards for fair
information practices promulgated by the FTC, which concern consumer notice, choice, security, and access. Consumer protection laws require us to publish
statements that describe how we
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handle personal information and choices individuals may have about the way we handle their personal information. If we publish information that is considered
untrue, it may be subject to government claims of unfair or deceptive trade practices, which could lead to significant liabilities and consequences. Furthermore,
according to the FTC, violating consumers’ privacy rights or failing to take appropriate steps to keep consumers’ personal information secure may constitute
unfair acts or practices in or affecting commerce in violation of Section 5 of the FTC Act.

New health information standards implemented on the federal and state level could have a significant effect on the manner in which we handle
personal and healthcare-related data and communicate with payors, and the cost of complying with these standards could be significant. Failure to comply with
existing or new laws and regulations (including the interpretations thereto) related to patient health information could subject us to criminal or civil sanctions.

Licensing

Certain of our businesses are subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to the licensure of our facilities, healthcare
specialists working for or engaged by us, and certain medical products, and requirements vary amongst jurisdictions.

Certain of our teammates in our Patient Direct segment are authorized and/or licensed under various federal, state and local requirements, which cover
a variety of topics including standards regarding the provision of medical or care services, clinical records, infection control and care plans. Additionally,
certain states may require certain of our teammates to complete training programs, undergo background checks, and maintain state certification. In addition,
various federal and state authorities and clinical practice boards regulate the licensure of our clinical specialists, working either directly as employees or on a
per diem or contractual basis, and facilities. We believe we are currently licensed appropriately as required by the laws of the jurisdictions in which we operate
in all material respects, but additional licensing requirements may be imposed upon us in existing or future markets.

In the United States, the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act (FFDCA), Food and Drug Administration (FDA) regulations and other federal and
state statutes and regulations govern, among other things, medical device design and development, preclinical and clinical testing, premarket clearance or
approval, registration and listing, manufacturing, labeling, storage, advertising and promotion, sales and distribution and post-market surveillance. We must
also comply with laws and regulations governing operations, storage, transportation, manufacturing, sales, safety and security standards for each of our
manufacturing and distribution centers. This includes oversight by the FDA, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services, the Drug Enforcement Agency,
the Department of Transportation, the Environmental Protection Agency, the Department of Homeland Security, the Occupational Safety and Health
Administration, the Department of Labor, the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission, and state boards of pharmacy, or similar state licensing boards and
regulatory agencies. For example, our locations that fill and distribute medical oxygen containers must register with the FDA as a medical gas manufacturer,
and these registered locations are subject to extensive regulation. Among other requirements, the FDA’s Good Manufacturing Practice (cGMP) regulations
impose certain quality control, documentation and recordkeeping requirements on the receipt, processing and distribution of medical gas. Further, in each state
in which we operate medical gas facilities, we are subject to regulation under varying state health and safety laws. The FDA and state authorities conduct
periodic, unannounced inspections at our facilities to assess compliance with cGMPs and other regulations. Failure to comply with applicable requirements can
lead to a variety of administrative or legal sanctions, such as warning letters, product recalls, product seizures, total or partial suspension of production or
distribution, injunctions, fines, civil penalties and criminal prosecution. We expend significant resources to achieve compliance with federal and state law
requirements at each of our facilities. There can be no assurance, however, that these efforts will be successful and that our facilities will achieve and maintain
compliance with applicable federal, state and local law requirements. We are also subject to certain federal and state disclosure requirements regarding
financial arrangements within the healthcare industry.

Environmental Laws

We are subject to federal, state, local and foreign laws and regulations relating to hazardous materials, pollution and the protection of the environment.
Such regulations include those governing emissions to air, discharges to water, storage, treatment and disposal of wastes, including medical waste, remediation
of contaminated sites and protection of worker health and safety. These laws and regulations frequently change and have become increasingly stringent over
time. Non-compliance with these laws and regulations may result in significant fines or penalties or limitations on our operations or claims for remediation
costs, as well as alleged personal injury or property damages. We believe our current operations are in substantial compliance with all applicable
environmental, health and safety requirements and that we maintain all material permits required to operate our business.

Certain environmental laws and regulations impose strict, and under certain circumstances joint and several, liability for investigation and remediation
of the release of regulated substances into the environment. Such liability can be imposed on current or former owners or operators of contaminated sites, or on
persons who dispose or arrange for disposal of wastes at a contaminated site. Based on available information, we do not believe that any known compliance
obligations, releases or
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investigations under environmental laws or regulations will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
However, there can be no guarantee that these releases or newly- discovered information, more stringent enforcement of or changes in environmental
requirements, or our inability to enforce available indemnification agreements will not result in significant costs.

In addition, governments in the U.S. and abroad are considering new or expanded laws to address climate change. Such laws may include limitations
on greenhouse gas emissions, mandates that companies implement processes to monitor and disclose climate-related matters, additional taxes or offset charges
on specified energy sources, and other requirements. Compliance with climate-related laws may be further complicated by disparate regulatory approaches in
various jurisdictions. New or expanded climate-related laws could impose substantial costs on us. Until the timing and extent of climate-related laws are
clarified, we cannot predict their potential effect on our capital expenditures or our results of operations.

Antitrust Laws

The federal government, most states and foreign governments have enacted antitrust or competition laws that prohibit certain types of conduct deemed
to be anti-competitive. These laws prohibit price fixing, market allocation, bid-rigging, concerted refusal to deal, market monopolization, price discrimination,
tying arrangements, certain acquisitions of competitors and other practices that have, or may have, an adverse effect on competition. Violations of federal or
state antitrust laws can result in various sanctions, including criminal and civil penalties. Antitrust enforcement in the healthcare sector is currently a priority of
the FTC and the Department of Justice (DOJ). In addition, the DOJ has been pursuing criminal antitrust enforcement actions for conduct of parties that the DOJ
is alleging to be fixing wages or limiting worker mobility. We believe we are in compliance with such federal and state laws, but courts or regulatory authorities
may reach a determination in the future that could adversely affect our operations.

Products & Healthcare Services

Global Operations

Our operations are subject to local, country and regional regulations, such as those promulgated by the European Medicines Agency and the Medical
Devices Directive. In addition, quality requirements are imposed by customers which audit our operations on a regular basis. Each of our manufacturing
locations is licensed or registered with the appropriate local authority. We believe we are in material compliance with all applicable statutes and regulations, as
well as prevailing industry best practices, in the conduct of our business operations outside of the United States.

Since we market our products worldwide, certain products of a local nature and variations of product lines must also meet other local regulatory
requirements. Certain additional risks are inherent in conducting business outside the United States, including price and currency exchange controls, changes in
currency exchange rates, limitations on participation in local enterprises, expropriation, nationalization, and other governmental action.

Our operations are impacted by trade regulations in many countries that govern the import of raw materials and finished products, as well as data
privacy laws that require safeguards for the protection of healthcare and other personal data. In addition, we are subject to laws and regulations that seek to
prevent corruption and bribery in the marketplace as well as laws and regulations pertaining to healthcare fraud and abuse, including state and federal anti-
kickback and false claims laws in the United States.

Global Privacy Regulation

Our international operations are impacted by data privacy laws that require safeguards for the protection of healthcare and other personal data. Data
protection laws and regulations are evolving globally and may continue to add additional compliance costs and legal risks to our international operations. In the
European Union, the General Data Protection Regulation (EU GDPR) imposes a comprehensive data protection regime with the potential for regulatory fines
as well as data breach litigation by impacted data subjects. Under the EU GDPR, regulatory penalties may be passed by data protection authorities for up to the
greater of 4% of worldwide turnover or €20 million. The United Kingdom has implemented similar legislation (the UK GDPR) that may carry similar
compliance and operational costs, and potential fines, as the EU GDPR. The costs of compliance with, and other burdens imposed by, the EU GDPR, UK
GDPR and other international data protection laws may impact our operations outside the U.S. and may limit the ways in which we can provide services or use
personal data collected while providing services.

Anti-bribery and Corruption

In addition, we are subject to laws and regulations that seek to prevent corruption and bribery in the marketplace, including the U.S. Foreign Corrupt
Practices Act (FCPA) and the United Kingdom Bribery Act. These regimes have been the focus of increasing enforcement activity globally in recent years. A
violation of the FCPA or other similar laws by us and/or our agents or representatives could result in, among other things, the imposition of fines and penalties,
changes to our business
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practices, the termination of or other adverse impacts under our contracts or debarment from bidding on contracts, and/or harm to our reputation, any of which
could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition, cash flows and stock price.

Patient Direct

Reimbursement

To participate in and qualify for reimbursement under governmental reimbursement programs such as Medicare and Medicaid, we must comply with
extensive conditions of participation imposed by federal and state authorities as well as third-parties administering such governmental reimbursement
programs. If we were to violate the applicable regulations or requirements governing participation, we could be excluded from participation in federal and state
healthcare programs and be subject to substantial administrative, civil and criminal penalties.

Demand for many of the existing and new medical devices and supplies dispensed to our customers is, and will continue to be, affected by the extent
to which government healthcare programs and private health insurers reimburse us and our customers for their members/beneficiaries’ medical expenses in the
jurisdictions where we do business. Statutory and regulatory requirements for Medicare, Medicaid and other government healthcare programs govern provider
reimbursement levels. From time to time, legislative changes are made to government healthcare programs that impact our business, and the federal and/or
state governments may continue to enact measures in the future aimed at containing or reducing reimbursement levels for medical expenses paid for in whole
or in part with government funds. The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010
(collectively, ACA), the Medicare Improvements for Patients and Providers Act of 2008 (MIPPA), the Deficit Reduction Act of 2005 (DRA) and the Medicare
Prescription Drug, Improvement, and Modernization Act of 2003 (MMA), each contain provisions that have directly impacted reimbursement for the products
we provide. Reimbursement from private third-party payors varies and is dependent on contract negotiations and there is no guarantee that such contracts will
be profitable, and failure to comply with these contracts may result in termination or financial liabilities. Efforts by Payors to reduce healthcare costs have
intensified in recent years and will likely continue, which may result in reductions or slower growth in reimbursement for certain services provided by
healthcare companies. It is possible that healthcare companies will continue to experience a shift in Payor mix away from fee-for-service Payors, resulting in an
increase in the percentage of revenues attributable to reimbursement based upon value-based principles and quality-driven managed care programs, and general
industry trends that include pressures to control healthcare costs. Pressures to control healthcare costs and a shift away from traditional health insurance
reimbursement to payments based upon quality outcomes have increased the uncertainty of payments.

The ACA affects how healthcare services are delivered and reimbursed through the expansion of health insurance coverage, constraining Medicare
and Medicaid program spending, and establishing programs that tie reimbursement to quality and integration. Potential changes to the ACA may impact our
business including but not limited to court challenges, and administration and legislative modifications. Lower numbers of insured individuals, reduced
coverage for insured individuals and reduced government funding for programs could each cause our revenues to decrease to the extent such legislation reduces
reimbursement rates.

The MMA established a Competitive Bidding Process (CBP) for certain durable medical equipment, prosthetics, orthotics and supplies (DMEPOS) we
provide. The DMEPOS CBP impacts the Medicare reimbursement amounts for suppliers of certain DMEPOS items, and in the past, included some DMEPOS
items that we provide to our patients. Cumulatively, in previous competition rounds of the DMEPOS CBP in effect between 2011 and 2018, we were offered
contracts for a substantial majority of the product categories for which we submitted bids. Competitive bidding contracts are expected to be re-bid at least every
three years. While we cannot predict the outcome of the DMEPOS CBP on our business in the future nor the Medicare payment rates that will be in effect in
future years, the program may materially adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

State Medicaid programs implement reimbursement policies for the products and services we provide which can vary from state to state. We cannot
predict whether states may consider adopting reimbursement reductions or whether any such changes could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Fraud and Abuse Laws

There are various federal and state laws that regulate the operation of healthcare providers, including those that prohibiting fraudulent and abusive
business practices by healthcare providers, suppliers, and parties that contract with such providers and suppliers who participate in, receive payments from or
are in a position to make or influence referrals in connection with government-sponsored healthcare programs, including the Medicare and Medicaid programs.
Of particular importance, each of which may be amended and updated from time to time, are:
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• The federal Anti-Kickback statute and similar state equivalents prohibits providers and others from directly or indirectly soliciting, receiving, offering
or paying any remuneration with the intent of generating referrals or orders for services or items covered by a federal healthcare program. Courts have
interpreted this statute broadly and held that there is a violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute if just one purpose of the remuneration is to generate
referrals. Violations of the federal Anti-Kickback Statute may result in civil monetary penalties up to $112,131 for each violation, plus up to three
times the remuneration involved. Civil penalties for such conduct can further be assessed under the federal False Claims Act (FCA). Violations can
also result in criminal penalties, including criminal fines of up to $100,000 and imprisonment of up to 10 years. Similarly, violations can result in
exclusion from participation in government healthcare programs, including Medicare and Medicaid;

• The federal physician self-referral law, commonly known as the Stark Law, prohibits physicians from referring Medicare and Medicaid patients to
healthcare entities in which they or any of their immediate family members have ownership interests or other financial arrangements, if these entities
provide certain designated health services (including home healthcare services) reimbursable by Medicare or Medicaid, unless an exception applies.
The Stark Law also prohibits entities that provide designated health services reimbursable by Medicare and Medicaid from billing the Medicare and
Medicaid programs for any items or services that result from a prohibited referral and requires the entities to refund amounts received for items or
services provided pursuant to the prohibited referral on a timely basis. Sanctions for violating the Stark Law include denial of payment, civil monetary
penalties of up to $27,750 per claim submitted and exclusion from the federal healthcare programs. Failure to refund amounts received as a result of a
prohibited referral on a timely basis may constitute a false or fraudulent claim and may result in civil penalties and additional penalties under the FCA.
The statute also provides for a penalty of up to $185,009 for a circumvention scheme;

• The federal FCA and similar state laws provide, in part, that the federal government may bring a lawsuit against any person whom it believes has
knowingly presented, or caused to be presented, a false or fraudulent request for payment from the federal government, or who has made a false
statement or used a false record to get a claim approved.. Among the many other potential bases for liability is the knowing and improper failure to
report and refund amounts owed to the government within 60 days of identifying an overpayment. Submission of claims for services or items
generated in violation of the Anti-Kickback Statute constitutes a false or fraudulent claim under the FCA. The federal government has taken the
position, and some courts have held, that providers who allegedly have violated other statutes, such as the Stark Law, have thereby submitted false
claims under the FCA. The FCA may be enforced directly by the federal government or by a whistleblower on the government’s behalf;

• The Eliminating Kickbacks in Recovery Act, which imposes criminal liability on individuals or entities that pay, receive, or solicit any remuneration
in return for patient referrals to recovery homes, clinical treatment facilities, or laboratories;

• The federal Civil Monetary Penalties Law prohibits, among other things, the offering or transfer of remuneration to a Medicare or state healthcare
program beneficiary if the person knows or should know it is likely to influence the beneficiary’s selection of a particular provider, practitioner, or
supplier of services reimbursable by Medicare or a state healthcare program, unless an exception applies;

• Similar state law provisions pertaining to Anti-Kickback, self-referral and false claims issues, some of which may apply to items or services
reimbursed by any third-party Payor, including commercial insurers or services paid out-of-pocket by patients; and

• Federal and state laws that prohibit providers from billing and receiving payment from Medicare and Medicaid for services unless the services are
medically necessary, adequately and accurately documented, and billed using codes that accurately reflect the type and level of services rendered.

To enforce compliance with the federal laws, the U.S. Department of Justice and the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) Office of
Inspector General (OIG) have continued their scrutiny of healthcare providers, which has led to a number of investigations, prosecutions, convictions and
settlements in the healthcare industry. An example of the continued prioritization by DOJ on corporate and healthcare matters is evidenced by the September
2022 release of the Monaco Guidelines, which reflect enhancements to long-standing DOJ Guidelines on corporate accountability. Dealing with investigations
can be time- and resource-consuming and can divert management’s attention from the business. Any such investigation or settlement could increase costs or
otherwise have an adverse effect on operations. In addition, because of the potential for large monetary exposure under the federal False Claims Act, which
provides for treble damages and mandatory minimum penalties of $12,537 to $25,076 per false claim or statement, with such penalty amounts being updated
from time to time, healthcare providers often resolve allegations without admissions of liability for significant and material amounts to avoid the uncertainty of
treble damages that may be awarded in litigation proceedings. Such settlements often contain additional compliance and reporting requirements as part of a
consent decree, settlement agreement or corporate integrity agreement.
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Given the significant size of actual and potential settlements, it is expected that the government will continue to devote substantial resources to investigating
healthcare providers’ compliance with the healthcare reimbursement rules and fraud and abuse laws.

We completed our acquisition of Apria on March 29, 2022. On December 18, 2020, a federal judge approved a civil and administrative settlement
between Apria and the United States and certain state Medicaid programs, in a complaint filed by three relators under the qui tam provisions of the FCA, 31
U.S.C. § 3729 et seq., as well as comparable state false claims laws, in connection with the rental of non-invasive ventilation products (NIVs). Apria also
entered into separate settlements to resolve the relators’ claims brought on behalf of the states of California and Illinois related to NIVs covered by private
insurers.

To resolve any potential liability regarding alleged improper use of NIVs, Apria agreed to enter a civil settlement agreement and to pay $40 million to
the federal government and the states. Apria also agreed with the California Department of Insurance to pay $500,000 to resolve claims asserted by the relators
under the California Insurance Frauds Prevention Act, Cal. Ins. Code § 1871 et seq. Apria separately agreed with the relators to settle all remaining claims from
their complaint, including: (1) claims for retaliation in violation of federal and state laws; (2) claims for attorneys’ fees and costs available under federal and
state law; and (3) claims under the Illinois Insurance Claims Fraud Prevention Act, 740 Ill. Comp. Stat. 92/1 et seq. Apria did not admit that any of its conduct
was illegal or otherwise improper.

As part of the settlement, Apria also entered into a five-year CIA with the HHS OIG. The CIA requires Apria to maintain its ongoing corporate
compliance program and implement a set of defined corporate integrity activities for a period of five years from the effective date of the CIA. Among other
things, the CIA requires Apria to impose certain oversight obligations on our board of directors; provide certain management certifications; continue or
implement, as applicable, certain compliance training and education; and engage an Independent Review Organization to perform certain reviews. The CIA
also includes certain reporting, certification, record retention, and notification requirements. In the event of a breach of the CIA, Apria could become liable for
payment of certain stipulated penalties or could be excluded from participation in federal healthcare programs.

Federal and state agencies and health insurance carriers often conduct audits and request customer records and other documents to support claims
submitted for payment of services rendered to customers. In response to an audit or inquiry, we are obligated to procure and submit the underlying medical
records retained by various clinical providers, medical facilities and prescribers, which may be challenging. If a determination is made that our records or the
patients’ medical records are insufficient to meet requirements for the claims, we could be subject to denials or overpayment demands for claims submitted for
Medicare reimbursement. In the rare event that such an audit results in major discrepancies of claims records which lacked medical necessity, we may be
subject to broader corrective measures, including extrapolation of audit results across a wider population of claims, submission of recoupment demands for
claims other than those examined in the audit, or placing the provider on a full pre-payment review.

Marketing and Transparency Reporting Laws

Communications with consumers are also subject to laws and regulations governing communications, including the Telephone Consumer Protection
Act of 1991 (TCPA), the Federal CAN-SPAM Act, additional fax regulations under the Junk Fax Act and the Telemarketing Sales Rule and Medicare
regulations. Under such regulations, companies are restricted in the methods used to contact consumers by email, telephone, and text message, for example,
through the use of random or sequential “auto-dialer” devices. Numerous class-action suits under federal and state laws have been filed in recent years against
companies that conduct SMS texting programs, with many resulting in multi-million-dollar settlements to the plaintiffs. We believe we are in substantial
compliance with the federal regulations we are subject to, as well as state equivalents where applicable. The scope and interpretation of the laws that are or may
be applicable to the delivery of consumer phone calls, emails and text messages are continuously evolving and developing. If we do not comply with these laws
or regulations or if we become liable under these laws or regulations, we could face direct liability, could be required to change some portions of our business
model, could face negative publicity and our business, financial condition and results of operations could be adversely affected.

Fair Debt Collection Practices Act

Some of our operations may be subject to compliance with certain provisions of the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and comparable statutes in
many states. Under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act, a third-party collection company is restricted in the methods it uses to contact consumer debtors and
elicit payments with respect to placed accounts. Requirements under state collection agency statutes vary, with most requiring compliance similar to that
required under the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act. We believe we are in substantial compliance with the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act and comparable
state statutes where applicable. If our collection practices are viewed as inconsistent with these standards, we may be subject to damages and penalties.
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Human Capital Resources

Teammate Overview

Our teammates are at the heart of everything that we do. Through their creativity, talent and hard work, our teammates allow us to offer exceptional
products and services, and they provide the force that propels our mission to empower our customers to advance healthcare. Thus, we are committed to
maintaining a culture and providing benefits that will attract and retain top talent. We are also committed to creating a diverse and inclusive environment that
allows our teammates to perform at a high level, emphasizes a culture of safety and is conducive to professional and personal growth.

At the end of 2022, we employed approximately 13,400 full-time and part-time teammates in the U.S. and 9,100 teammates outside of the U.S (OUS).
None of our domestic teammates are represented by a labor union or subject to a collective bargaining agreement (CBA), but certain OUS teammates are
represented and covered by labor agreements. Throughout our operations, we continue to have positive relationships with our teammates, as well as the unions
and works councils that represent our OUS teammates.

We depend on our key personnel to successfully operate our business, including our executive officers, senior corporate management and management
at our operating segments. We seek to attract and retain top talent for these critical roles by offering competitive base and incentive compensation packages
(and in certain instances share-based compensation and retention incentives), attractive benefits, and opportunities for advancement and rewarding careers. We
periodically review and adjust, if needed, our teammates’ total compensation (including salaries, annual cash incentive compensation, other cash and equity
incentives, and benefits) to ensure that our offerings are competitive within the industry and consistent with our performance. We have also implemented
enterprise-wide talent development and succession planning programs designed to identify future and/or replacement candidates for key positions. In addition
to compensation, we promote numerous charitable, philanthropic, and social awareness programs that not only support the communities we serve, but also
provide experiences for teammates to promote a collaborative and rewarding work environment.

In order to take advantage of available opportunities and successfully implement our long-term strategy, we understand that we must be able to
employ, train and retain skilled personnel. To that end, we support and utilize various training and educational initiatives, and we have developed Company-
wide and project-specific teammate training and educational programs. Key programs focus on teammate safety, leadership development, health and wellness,
work-life balance, talent management, diversity and inclusion, and teammate engagement. We believe that diversity, inclusion, and teammate engagement are
integral to our vision, strategy and business success. We pride ourselves on sustaining a culture that respects teammates and values concern for others. We
believe that fostering an environment that values diversity, inclusion and ethical conduct creates an organization that is able to embrace, leverage and respect
differences among our teammates, customers and the communities where we live, work and serve. As a result, we created Teammate Resource Groups (TRGs)
that provide resources and support for underrepresented identity groups to improve innovation, promote belonging, increase team alignment, and boost
engagement. Our current TRGs include Black Heritage, Outreach, Mentorship and Enrichment, Asian Americans and Pacific Islanders Rising to Excellence,
Hispanic Organization for Leadership and Achievement, LGBTQ+, Military and Veteran, Women Empowerment Network, and Women in Technology. We also
believe that our teammates are the face of Owens & Minor, and we expect every teammate to model our values and commitment to ethical business practices as
set forth in our Code of Honor.

In 2021, we established the Owens & Minor Foundation, which is dedicated to further our commitment towards impactful contributions to charitable
and civic organizations in the communities we serve. The Owens & Minor Foundation focuses on three primary areas, the environment, healthcare, and
diversity and inclusion.

We believe that our efforts to create an environment that is conducive to our values and teammate success have been rewarded. Our values reflect our
commitment to our customers and our teammates, as well as the environment and the communities where we live and work. Our values embody “IDEAL”
behavior — Integrity, Development, Excellence, Accountability and Listening. All teammates are expected to reflect these values in all they do each and every
day. We also hold our teammates to a high standard of performance, and we regularly evaluate teammates’ productivity against current requirements, future
demand expectations and historical trends. From time to time, we may add, reduce or adjust resources in certain areas to align with changing circumstances.

Teammate Benefits

We believe teammate benefits are an essential component of a competitive total compensation package. Our benefits programs are designed to attract
and retain top talent, and include medical, health and dental insurance, long-term disability insurance, accidental death and disability insurance, life insurance,
travel and accident insurance, and our 401(k) savings and retirement plans.
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Our Board of Directors’ Role in Human Capital Resource Management

Our Board of Directors (Board) believes that human capital management, and particularly the ability to attract, retain and develop key talent, is
essential to our continued growth and success. Our Board also believes that effective human capital management is vital to maintaining a culture that reflects
our core values and our shared commitment to excellence and ethical business practices.

Management regularly reports to the Our People & Culture Committee of the Board on human capital management topics, including corporate culture,
diversity and inclusion, teammate development, compensation, and benefits. From time to time, we also conduct teammate engagement surveys to solicit
feedback, and report findings from these surveys to the Board. The Our People & Culture Committee has oversight of talent retention and development,
including succession planning, and the Board provides input on important decisions in each of these areas.

COVID-19 Response

In response to the 2019 novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic, we implemented health and safety protocols to protect our teammates and
customers. These protocols meet or exceed health and safety standards required by federal, state and local government agencies, and are based on guidance
from the Centers for Disease Control (CDC) and Prevention, as well as, other public health authorities. Actions taken to protect our teammates and customers
in response to the COVID-19 pandemic include:

• Providing personal protective equipment (PPE) to teammates in distribution and manufacturing locations;

• Monitoring CDC community levels and taking actions to mitigate risks during high community level surges;

• Providing paid time off for teammates to receive COVID-19 vaccinations;

• Significantly increasing remote work arrangements and virtual interactions among teammates and with customers;

For additional discussion of the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our business, see Item 1A. “Risk Factors – General Risk Factors – We are
subject to risks related to public health crises or future outbreaks of health crises or other adverse public health developments such as the COVID-19 global
pandemic.”

Available Information

The Company files annual reports, quarterly reports, proxy statements and other documents with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC)
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act). We make these filings available free of charge through the SEC Filings link in the Investor
Relations content section on our website located at www.owens-minor.com as soon as reasonably practicable after they are filed with or furnished to the SEC.
Information included on our website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Furthermore, the SEC also maintains a website that contains reports, proxy and information statements, and other information regarding Owens &
Minor, Inc. The public can obtain any documents that the Company files with the SEC at http://www.sec.gov.

Investors and others should note that we announce material financial information to our investors using our investor relations website, SEC filings,
press releases, public conference calls and webcasts. We use these channels as well as social media and blogs to communicate with our teammates and the
public about our company, our services and other issues. It is possible that the information we post on social media and blogs could be deemed to be material
information. Therefore, we encourage investors, the media, and others interested in our company to review the information we post on the social media
channels and blogs listed on our investor relations website.

Additionally, we have adopted a written Code of Honor that applies to all of our directors, officers and teammates, including our principal executive
officer and senior financial officers. This Code of Honor (including any amendments to or waivers of a provision thereof) and our Corporate Governance
Guidelines are available on our website at www.owens-minor.com.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Set forth below are certain risk factors that we currently believe could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows. These risk factors are in addition to those mentioned in other parts of this report and are not all of the risks that we face. We could
also be affected by risks that we currently are not aware of or that we currently do not consider material to our business.

Operational Risks

We have concentration in and dependence on certain healthcare provider customers, Group Purchasing Organizations, and Payors.

In 2022, although no single customer accounted for 5% of our consolidated net revenue, our top ten customers in the United States represented
approximately 26% of our consolidated net revenue. In addition, in 2022, approximately 66% of our consolidated net revenue was from sales to member
hospitals under contract with our largest GPOs: Vizient, Premier and HPG. We could lose a significant healthcare provider customer or GPO relationship if an
existing contract expires without being replaced or is terminated by the customer or GPO prior to its expiration. Although the termination of our relationship
with a given GPO would not necessarily result in the loss of the member hospitals as customers, any such termination of a GPO relationship, or a significant
individual healthcare provider customer relationship or Payor, could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash
flows.

The medical products industry is subject to a multi-tiered costing structure, which can vary by manufacturer and/or product. Under this structure,
certain institutions can obtain more favorable prices for medical products than we are able to obtain. The multi-tiered costing structure continues to expand as
many large integrated healthcare providers and others with significant purchasing power, such as GPOs, demand more favorable pricing terms. Additionally,
the formation of new provider networks and GPOs may shift purchasing decisions to entities or persons with whom we do not have a historical relationship.
This may threaten our ability to compete effectively, which could in turn negatively impact our financial results. Although we are seeking to obtain similar
terms from manufacturers to obtain access to lower prices demanded by GPO contracts or other contracts, and to develop relationships with provider networks
and new GPOs, we cannot assure you that such terms will be obtained or contracts will be executed.

Our failure to establish and maintain relationships with hospital and physician referral sources may cause our revenue to decline.

We do not have contracts or exclusive arrangements with most hospitals or physicians for our Patient Direct segment. Instead, we attempt to work
closely with hospitals and physicians to accept discharges and referrals of their patients who require our services. Therefore, the success of our Patient Direct
segment is significantly dependent on referrals from hospital and physician sources. If we are unable to successfully establish new referral sources and
maintain strong relationships with our current referral sources, if there is an actual or perceived decrease in the quality of service and care levels we provide, or
if efforts to increase the skill level and effectiveness of our sales force fail, our revenues may decline. In addition, our relationships with referral sources are
subject to federal and state healthcare laws such as U.S. federal Anti-kickback Statute and the U.S. federal Stark Law, and compliance with these laws limits
the scope of our relationships with our referral sources.

Possible changes in customer and product mix could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows,
capital resources and liquidity.

Our revenues are determined by a number of factors, including mix of customers, the rates of payment among customers and the mix of our products
and services provided. A shift towards customers with lower prices, or from higher gross margin products to lower gross margin products, would reduce our
gross margins. Changes in the mix of our customers, products and services provided and payment methodologies could have a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, capital resources and liquidity.

Our Products & Healthcare Services segment is dependent on certain significant suppliers.

In the United States, we distribute products from approximately 1,000 suppliers in our Products & Healthcare Services segment and are dependent on
these suppliers for the continuing supply of products. In 2022, sales of products of our ten largest domestic suppliers accounted for approximately 37% of
consolidated net revenue. No sales of products of any individual suppliers exceeded 10% of our consolidated net revenue for 2022. We rely on suppliers to
provide agreeable purchasing and delivery terms and performance incentives. Our ability to sustain adequate operating income has been, and will continue to
be, dependent upon our ability to obtain favorable terms and incentives from suppliers, as well as suppliers continuing use of third-party distributors to sell and
deliver their products. A change in terms by a significant supplier, the decision of such a supplier to distribute its products directly to healthcare providers rather
than through third-party distributors, or a key supplier’s failure
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to sell and deliver us products necessary to meet our customers’ demands could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition
and cash flows.

In addition, for quality assurance or cost effectiveness, we have purchased from sole suppliers certain components and raw materials such as polymers
used in our products, and we expect to continue to purchase these components and raw materials from these sole suppliers. Although there are other sources in
the marketplace for these items, we may not be able to quickly establish additional or replacement sources for certain components or materials due to
regulations and requirements of the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) and other regulatory authorities regarding the manufacture of our products. The
loss of any sole supplier or any sustained supply interruption that affects the ability to manufacture or distribute our products in a timely or cost-effective
manner could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The reliance of our Patient Direct segment on relatively few vendors for the majority of its patient equipment and supplies could adversely affect our ability
to operate this business.

We currently rely on a relatively small number of vendors to provide us with the majority of our patient equipment and supplies for our home
healthcare business. From time to time, we also enter into certain exclusive arrangements with a given vendor for the provision of patient equipment and
supplies. Further, some of our supply agreements contain pricing scales that depend on meeting certain order volumes. Our inability to procure certain
equipment and supplies, including as a result of failure to maintain and renew certain agreements and access arrangements, could have a materially adverse
effect on our results of operations and cash flows. We often use vendors selectively for quality and cost reasons. Significant price increases, or disruptions in
the ability to obtain such equipment and supplies from existing vendors, such as the disruptions associated with the Philips Respironics recall as described in
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, may force us to increase our prices (which we may be unable to do)
or reduce our margins and could force us to use alternative vendors. Any change in the existing vendors we use could cause delays in the delivery of products
and possible losses in revenue, which could adversely affect our results of operations and cash flows. In addition, alternative vendors may not be available, or
may not provide their products and services at similar or favorable prices. If we cannot obtain the patient equipment and supplies we currently use, or
alternatives at similar or favorable prices, our ability to provide such products may be severely impacted, which could have an adverse effect on our business,
financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, capital resources and liquidity.

An interruption in the ability of our business to manufacture products may have a material adverse effect on our business.

We manufacture the majority of our products in 17 facilities: twelve in the United States, two in Mexico, and one each in Thailand, Ireland and
Honduras. If one or more of these facilities experience damage, or if these manufacturing capabilities are otherwise limited or stopped due to quality, regulatory
or other reasons, including pandemic, natural disasters, geopolitical events, prolonged power or equipment failures, labor disputes or unsuccessful
imports/exports of products as well as supply chain transportation disruptions, it may not be possible to timely manufacture the relevant products at required
levels or at all. A reduction or interruption in any of these manufacturing processes could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows.

Our business and operations depend on the proper functioning of critical facilities and distribution networks.

Damage or disruption to any of our facilities or distribution capabilities due to pandemic, weather, natural disaster, fire, terrorism, strikes, trade
restrictions, the financial and/or operational instability of key suppliers, geo-political events (such as the Russia-Ukraine conflict) or other reasons could impair
our ability to offer services, distribute products and conduct our business. To the extent that we are unable, or it is not financially feasible, to mitigate the
likelihood or potential impact of such events, or to manage effectively such events if they occur, there could be a material adverse effect on our business, results
of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our operations depend on the proper functioning of information systems, and our business or results of operations could be adversely affected if we
experience a cyberattack or other systems breach or failure.

We and our external service providers use and rely on information systems to perform our business operations including receiving, processing,
analyzing, and managing data in distributing thousands of products to customers from numerous distribution centers. These systems are also relied upon for
receiving and filling orders for customers, billings to and collections from customers, the purchase of and payment for inventory and related transactions from
our suppliers, and the secure electronic transmission, processing, storage, and hosting of sensitive information, including protected health information and other
types of personal information, confidential financial information, proprietary information, and other sensitive information relating to our customers, company,
and teammates. In addition, the success of our long-term growth strategy is dependent upon the ability to continually monitor and upgrade our information
systems to provide better service to customers

Despite physical, technical, and administrative security measures, our technology systems and operations may be subject to cyberattacks from sources
beyond our control. In recent years, cyberattacks in our industry have increased and
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become more sophisticated and, as a result, the risk of a cyberattack on our systems has increased. Cyberattacks include actual or attempted unauthorized
access, tampering, malware insertion, ransomware attacks, or other system integrity events. A cybersecurity incident could involve a material data breach or
other material impact to the operations of our technology systems, which could result in failure of our systems to operate properly for an extended period of
time, litigation or regulatory action, loss of customers or revenue, and increased expense, any of which might have a material adverse impact on our business
operations, reputation, our growth and strategic initiatives, our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our capitation arrangements may prove unprofitable if actual utilization rates exceed our assumptions.

From time to time, we enter into capitation arrangements with commercial Payors pursuant to which they agree to pay us a set amount (on a per
member per month basis for a defined patient population) without regard to the actual services provided. We negotiate the contractual rates in these
arrangements with Payors based on assumptions regarding average expected utilization of services. If actual utilization rates exceed our assumptions, the
profitability of such arrangements may be diminished. Moreover, we may be obligated to perform under such capitation arrangements even if the contractual
reimbursement rates are insufficient to cover our costs based on actual levels of utilization.

Our ability to attract and retain talented and qualified teammates is critical to our success and competitiveness.

The success of our business depends on our ability to attract, engage, develop and retain qualified and experienced teammates, including key
executives. We may not be able to successfully compete for, attract, or retain qualified and experienced teammates, especially in North America where labor
markets are currently tight. Competition among potential employers, labor shortages, and inflationary pressures might result in increased salaries, benefits or
other teammate-related costs, or in our failure to recruit and retain teammates. We may experience sudden loss of key personnel due to a variety of causes,
including illness, and must adequately plan for succession of key executive roles. Teammates might not successfully transition into new roles. If we are unable
to recruit or retain a sufficient number of qualified employees, or if the costs of compensation or employee benefits increase substantially, our ability to deliver
services effectively could suffer and our profitability would likely be adversely affected. In addition, union organizing activities have occurred in the past and
may occur in the future, and the adverse impact of unionization and organizing activities on our costs and operating results could be substantial.

Our inability to adequately integrate acquisitions could have a material adverse effect on our operations.

In connection with our growth strategy, we from time to time acquire other businesses, that we believe will expand or complement our existing
businesses and operations. The integration of acquisitions involves a number of significant risks, which may include but are not limited to, the following:

• Expenses and difficulties in the transition and integration of operations and systems;

• Complexities associated with managing the expanded operations;

• Retention of current customers and the ability to obtain new customers;

• The assimilation and retention of personnel;

• Accounting, tax, regulatory and compliance issues;

• Difficulties in implementing uniform controls, procedures, policies and information systems;

• Unanticipated expenses, delays or regulatory issues associated with integrating the operations;

• General economic conditions in the markets in which the acquired businesses operate;

• Difficulties encountered in conducting business in markets where we have limited experience and expertise;

• Difficulties obtaining or failure to obtain necessary regulatory licenses and Payor-specific approvals;

• Diversion of management’s attention caused by completing the integration of the operations;

• Inadequate indemnification from the seller; and

• Failure of the seller to perform under any transition services agreement.

Even if we are able to integrate an acquired business successfully, this integration may not result in the realization of the full benefits that we expected
or may be more costly than we expected. For instance, the integration of Apria’s business may result in unanticipated problems, expenses, liabilities, regulatory
risks and competitive responses that could have material adverse consequences and we may fail to realize the full expected synergies from this acquisition. If
we are unable to successfully complete and integrate our strategic acquisitions in a timely manner, our business, growth strategies, results of operations and
cash flows could be adversely affected.
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Our operations involve the storage, transportation and provision of compressed and liquid oxygen, which carries an inherent risk of rupture or other
accidents with the potential to cause substantial loss.

Our operations are subject to the many hazards inherent in the storage, transportation and provision of medical gas products and compressed and
liquid oxygen, including ruptures, leaks and fires. These risks could result in substantial losses due to personal injury or loss of life, severe damage to and
destruction of property and equipment and pollution or other environmental damage and may result in curtailment or suspension of our related operations. If a
significant accident or event occurs, it could adversely affect our business, financial position, results of operations, and cash flows. Additionally, corrective
action plans, fines or other sanctions may be levied by government regulators who oversee the storage, transportation and provision of hazardous materials
such as compressed or liquid oxygen.

Our goodwill may become impaired, which would require us to record a significant charge to earnings in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles.

U.S. Generally Accepted Accounting Principals (GAAP) requires us to test our goodwill for impairment on an annual basis, or more frequently if
indicators for potential impairment exist. The testing required by GAAP involves estimates and judgments by management. Although we believe our
assumptions and estimates are reasonable and appropriate, any changes in key assumptions, including, but not limited to, a failure to meet our business plans or
expected earnings, unanticipated events and circumstances such as changes in assumptions about the duration and magnitude of increased supply chain
expense, commodities costs or inflationary pressures and our planned efforts to mitigate such impacts, further disruptions in the supply chain, estimated
demand and selling prices for PPE or other products, a further increase in the discount rate, a decrease in the terminal growth rate, increases in tax rates
(including potential tax reform) or a significant change in industry or economic trends, may affect the accuracy or validity of such estimates and may result in
goodwill impairment. No impairment charges to goodwill were recorded in 2022, 2021, or 2020. We may be required to record a material charge to earnings in
our consolidated financial statements during the period in which any impairment of our goodwill is determined, which charge could adversely affect our results
of operations.

Industry and Economic Risks

We face increasing competition, accelerating pricing pressure and changes in technology.

The medical/surgical supply distribution industry in which our Products & Healthcare Services segment operates is highly competitive and
characterized by pricing and margin pressure for our business. We compete with other national distributors and a number of regional and local distributors, as
well as customer self-distribution models and, to a lesser extent, certain outsourced logistics companies. In the United States, several of our distribution
partners and GPOs directly compete with us by sourcing their own brands. Competitive factors within the medical/surgical supply distribution industry include
market pricing, the relative bargaining power of provider networks and GPOs, total delivered product cost, product availability, the ability to fill and invoice
orders accurately, delivery time, range of services provided, efficient product sourcing, inventory management, information technology, electronic commerce
capabilities, and the ability to meet customer-specific requirements. Our success is dependent on the ability to compete on the above factors, while managing
internal costs and expenses.

The home healthcare industry in which our Patient Direct segment operates is also intensely competitive and highly fragmented. There are a large
number of providers, including hospital systems, physician specialists and sleep labs, industrial gas manufacturers, home healthcare agencies, health
maintenance organizations, and alternative treatment providers. There are also relatively few barriers to entry in local home healthcare markets. Hospitals,
health systems, and Payors are routinely looking to provide coverage and better control of post-acute healthcare services, including home healthcare services of
the types we provide. From time to time our contracts are amended (sometimes through unilateral action regarding payment policy), renegotiated, subjected to
a bidding process with our competitors, or terminated altogether. Payors may enlarge their provider networks, reducing the amount of referrals or revenue we
may receive from them, reduce their provider networks in exchange for lower payment rates or change the order of preference among the providers to which
they refer business. In addition, pharmacy benefit managers, such as CVS Health Corporation, are beginning to compete with us in the home healthcare market.
Large technology companies, such as Amazon.com, Inc. and Alphabet Inc., have disrupted other supply businesses and, in the case of Amazon.com, Inc. and its
new pharmacy offerings, entered the healthcare market. In the event such providers enter the home healthcare market, we may experience a loss of referrals or
revenue.

Traditional distribution relationships are also being challenged by online commerce solutions. Such competition will require us to cost-effectively
adapt to changing technology, to continue to provide enhanced service offerings and to continue to differentiate our business (including with additional value-
added services) to address demands of consumers and customers on a timely basis. The emergence of such competition and our inability to anticipate and
effectively respond to changes on a timely basis could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Some of our competitors may now or in the future have greater financial or marketing resources than we do, or have more effective sales and
marketing activities, which may increase pricing pressure and limit our ability to maintain or increase

18



our market share. In addition, in certain markets, competitors may have other products and services that are or perceived to be superior to our own.

It is also possible that major changes in available technology, Payor benefit or coverage policies related to those changes, or the preferences of
customers, patients and referral sources, may cause our current product offerings to become less competitive or obsolete, and it will be necessary for us to adapt
to those changes. Such unanticipated changes could cause us to incur increased capital expenditures and change strategies and could have a material adverse
effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

An inability to obtain key components, raw materials or manufactured products from third parties in a timely and cost-effective manner, or a material
disruption in our supply chain, may have a material adverse effect on our business.

We depend on the availability of various components, raw materials and manufactured products supplied by others for our operations. If the
capabilities of suppliers and third-party manufacturers are limited or stopped, due to quality, regulatory or other reasons, including pandemic, natural disasters,
geopolitical events, prolonged power or equipment failures, labor disputes or unsuccessful imports/exports of products as well as supply chain transportation
disruptions, or other reasons, that could negatively impact our ability to manufacture or distribute our products and could lead to exposure to regulatory actions.
In addition, any material interruption in our supply chain, including as a result of shipping or trade restrictions, could materially adversely affect our business
operations and our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Furthermore, the failure of third parties to timely deliver quality products to us may negatively impact our operations. Disputes with significant
suppliers, including disputes regarding pricing or performance, could adversely affect our ability to supply products to our customers and could materially
adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. Failure to take adequate steps to mitigate the likelihood or potential impact of
such events, or to effectively manage such events if they occur, particularly when a product is sourced from a single location or supplier, could adversely affect
our business, results of operations, and cash flows, as well as require additional resources to restore our supply chain.

We have experienced, and may continue to experience, higher supply chain costs, particularly related to international freight and commodities. Due to
competitive dynamics and contractual limitations, we may be unable to pass along these cost increases through higher prices. Short-term or sustained increases
in demand for our products may exceed our production capacity or otherwise strain our supply chain. These and other supply chain issues can increase our
costs, disrupt or reduce our production, delay our product shipments, prevent us from meeting customer demand, damage our customer relationships, and could
materially adversely affect our business operations, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our profitability and cash flows may vary based on the impacts of rising inflationary pressures.

Inflation has and may continue to materially impact the costs to source materials or produce and distribute finished goods to customers. Continued
inflationary pressures could result in market pressures on our customers to reduce costs, which could impact our profitability and cash flows. Additionally,
there is uncertainty that we will be able to pass elevated costs onto customers in an effort to offset inflationary pressures, or that such increases may outpace the
compensating inflation-based increase in Medicare payment rates or any other rate increases we may receive.

Our Products & Healthcare Services segment is exposed to price fluctuations of key commodities, which may negatively impact our results of operations
and cash flows.

Our Global Products business, which falls within our Products & Healthcare Services segment, relies on product inputs, such as polypropylene and
nitrile, as well as other commodities, in the manufacture of its products. Prices of these commodities are volatile and have fluctuated significantly in recent
years, which may contribute to fluctuations in our results of operations and cash flows. The ability to hedge commodity prices is limited. Furthermore, due to
competitive dynamics, we may be unable to pass along commodity-driven cost increases through higher prices. If we cannot fully offset cost increases through
other cost reductions, or recover these costs through price increases or surcharges, we could experience lower margins and profitability which could have a
material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and cash flows.

Changing conditions in the United States healthcare industry may impact our results of operations and cash flows.

A large percentage of our revenue is derived in the United States. We, along with our customers and suppliers, are subject to extensive federal and
state regulations relating to healthcare as well as the policies and practices of the private healthcare insurance industry. In recent years, there have been a
number of government and private initiatives to reduce healthcare costs and government spending. These changes have included an increased reliance on
managed care; consolidation of competitors, suppliers and customers; a shift in healthcare provider venues from acute care settings to clinics, physician offices
and home care; and the development of larger, more sophisticated purchasing groups. National and regional insurers and managed care organizations are
regularly attempting to seek reductions in the prices we charge for our products and services to them and their members, including through direct contracts with
healthcare providers, increased oversight and greater enrollment of patients in managed care programs and preferred provider organizations. We have faced,
and expect to continue
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to face, pricing pressures due to reductions in provider reimbursement for our products and services. In addition, in recent years, the healthcare industry in the
United States has experienced and continues to experience significant consolidation in response to cost containment legislation and general market pressures to
reduce costs. This consolidation of our customers, health insurers and suppliers generally gives them greater bargaining power to reduce the pricing available to
them. All of these changes place additional financial pressure on healthcare provider customers, who in turn seek to reduce the costs and pricing of products
and services provided by us. We expect the healthcare industry to continue to change significantly and these potential changes, which may include a reduction
in government support of healthcare services, adverse changes in legislation or regulations, and further reductions in healthcare reimbursement practices, could
have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Uncertainty about current and future economic conditions and other adverse changes in general political conditions may adversely affect demand for our
products and services.

Poor or deteriorating economic and political conditions in the United States and the other countries in which we conduct business could adversely
affect the demand for healthcare services and consequently, the demand for our products and services. Such change in demand may result in further inventory
valuation adjustments. Poor economic conditions also could lead our suppliers to offer less favorable terms of purchase to distributors, which would negatively
affect our profitability. Further, the potential decline in federal and state revenues that may result from a deterioration in economic and political conditions may
create additional pressures to contain or reduce reimbursements for our services from Medicare, Medicaid and other government sponsored programs.
Increases in job losses in the U.S. as a result of adverse economic conditions could result in a smaller percentage of our patients being covered by an employer
group health plan and a larger percentage being covered by lower paying Medicare and Medicaid programs. Employers may also select more restrictive
commercial plans with lower reimbursement rates. To the extent that Payors are negatively impacted by a decline in the economy, we may experience further
pressure on commercial rates, a slowdown in collections and a reduction in the amounts we expect to collect. Worsening economic conditions have had and
may continue to have an adverse impact on the businesses and financial health of many of our customers and hurt their creditworthiness. The bankruptcy,
insolvency or other credit failure of one or more customers with substantial balances due to us could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations,
financial condition and cash flows. These and other possible consequences of financial and economic decline could have a material adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The U.S. and larger global economies experienced high inflation rates during 2022. The Federal Reserve and other Central Banks already have raised
interest rates more aggressively and, as a result, the prospect for a recession is high and considered by many to be likely. The present conditions and state of our
U.S. and global economies make it difficult to predict whether and/or when and to what extent a recession has occurred or will occur in the near future.
Uncertainty about the effects of current and future economic and political conditions on us, our customers, suppliers and partners makes it difficult for us to
forecast operating results and to make decisions about future investments. Any significant downturn in the health of the general economy, or any recession,
depression or other sustained adverse market event, including inflationary pressures, could have an adverse effect on our revenues and financial performance,
resulting in impairment of assets.

Litigation & Regulatory Risks

We are subject to stringent regulatory and licensing requirements, and we have been, are and could become the subject of federal and state investigations
and compliance reviews.

We are required to comply with extensive and complex laws and regulations at the federal, state and local government levels in the United States and
other countries where we operate. We, and certain of our employees, also are required to hold permits and licenses and to comply with the operational and
security standards of various governmental bodies and agencies. Any failure to comply with these laws and regulations or any failure to maintain the necessary
permits, licenses or approvals, or to comply with the required standards, could disrupt our operations and/or adversely affect our results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

Among the U.S. healthcare related laws that we are subject to include the Anti-kickback Statute, the Stark Law, the False Claims Act and similar state
laws relating to fraud, waste and abuse. The requirements of these laws are complex and subject to varying interpretations, and it is possible that regulatory
authorities could challenge our policies and practices. If we fail to comply with these laws, we could be subject to federal or state government investigations or
qui tam actions (false claims cases initiated by private parties purporting to act on behalf of federal or state governments), which could result in civil or
criminal sanctions, including the loss of licenses or the ability to participate in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal and state healthcare programs. Such
sanctions and damages could adversely affect our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our global operations are also subject to risks of violation of laws, including those that prohibit improper payments to and bribery of government
officials and other individuals and organizations. These laws include the U.S. Foreign Corrupt Practices Act, the U.K. Bribery Act and other similar laws and
regulations in foreign jurisdictions, any violation of which could
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result in substantial liability and a loss of reputation in the marketplace. Failure to comply with these laws also could subject us to civil and criminal penalties
that could adversely affect our business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our Patient Direct segment is a Medicare-certified supplier and participates in state Medicaid programs. Failure to comply with applicable standards
and regulations could result in civil or criminal sanctions, including the loss of our ability to participate in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal and state
healthcare programs.

We collect, handle and maintain patient-identifiable health information and other sensitive personal and financial information, which are subject to
federal, state and foreign laws that regulate the use and disclosure of such information. Regulations currently in place continue to evolve, and new laws in this
area could further restrict our ability to collect, handle and maintain personal or patient information, or could require us to incur additional compliance costs,
either of which could have an adverse impact on our results of operations and cash flows. Violations of federal (such as the Health Insurance Portability and
Accountability Act of 1996, as amended, or HIPAA), state or foreign laws (such as the European Union’s General Data Protection Regulation, as amended, or
GDPR) concerning privacy and data protection could subject us to civil or criminal penalties, breach of contract claims, costs for remediation and harm to our
reputation.

Our operations, including our billing practices and our arrangements with healthcare providers, are also subject to extensive federal and state laws and
audits, inquiries and investigations from government agencies. For example, in connection with the settlement agreements resolving the investigation
conducted by the U.S. Attorney’s Office for the Southern District of New York regarding civil investigative demands, Apria was required to enter into a five-
year Corporate Integrity Agreement (CIA) with the Office of Inspector General for the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. The CIA provides that
Apria will, among other things, impose certain oversight obligations on Owens & Minor's board of directors, provide certain management certifications, and
continue or implement, as applicable certain compliance training and education. The CIA also requires Apria to engage independent third parties to review
compliance with the CIA, as well as certain reporting, certification, record retention and notification requirements. Failure to comply with the obligations under
the CIA could have material consequences for us including monetary penalties or exclusion from participation in federal healthcare programs.

Applicable laws may be directed at payments for the products and services we provide, conduct of our operations, preventing fraud and abuse, and
billing and reimbursement from government programs such as Medicare, Medicaid and from commercial Payors. These laws may have related rules and
regulations that are subject to interpretation and may not provide definitive guidance as to their application to our operations, including our arrangements with
hospitals, physicians, and other healthcare providers.

Federal and state governments have contracted with private entities to audit and recover revenue resulting from payments made in excess of those
permitted by federal and state benefit program rules. These entities include, but are not limited to, Recovery Audit Contractors that are responsible for auditing
Medicare claims, Unified Program Integrity Contractors that are responsible for the identification of suspected fraud through medical record review and
Medicaid Integrity Contractors, that are responsible for auditing Medicaid claims. We believe audits, inquiries, and investigations from these contractors and
others will occur from time to time in the ordinary course of our business. We also may be subject to increased audits from commercial Payors and pursuant to
federal, civil, and criminal statutes that relate to our billings to commercial Payors. Our efforts to be responsive to these audits, inquiries, and investigations
may result in substantial costs and divert management’s time and attention away from the operation of our business. Moreover, an adverse outcome with
respect to any audit, inquiry or investigation may result in damage to our reputation, or in fines, penalties or other sanctions imposed on us. Such pending or
future audits, inquiries, or investigations, or the public disclosure of such matters, could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition,
results of operations, cash flows, capital resources and liquidity.

Federal and state laws are broadly worded and may be interpreted or applied by prosecutorial, regulatory, or judicial authorities in ways that we cannot
predict. Additionally, in many instances, there are only limited publicly available guidelines and methodologies for determining errors with certain audits. As a
result, there can be a significant lack of clarity regarding required documentation and audit methodology. The clarity and completeness of each patient medical
file, some of which is the work product of physicians not employed by us, is essential to successfully challenging any payment denials.

Certain of our operations engage in Ethylene Oxide (EtO) sterilization of medical products either directly or indirectly through third-parties. In the
United States, several regulators, including the EPA, FDA, and agencies at the state and local level, play a role in regulating the use of EtO sterilization. Recent
announcements of the temporary or permanent closure of sterilization facilities operated by others have been associated with state and/or local regulatory or
other legal action related to EtO emissions at those facilities. We have taken and will continue to take measures to comply with all applicable emissions
regulations and to reduce emissions. However, no assurance can be given that current or future legislative or regulatory action, or current or future litigation to
which we may become a party, will not significantly increase the costs of conducting sterilization operations or curtail or eliminate the use of EtO in our
operations. Further, we could be liable for damages and fines as a result of legislative or regulatory action or litigation, which could have a material adverse
effect on our financial condition.
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Accordingly, our arrangements and business practices may be the subject of government scrutiny or be found to violate applicable laws. If federal or
state government officials challenge our operations or arrangements with third parties that we have structured based upon our interpretation of these laws, rules,
and regulations, such a challenge could potentially disrupt our business operations and we may incur substantial defense costs, even if we successfully defend
our interpretation of these laws, rules, and regulations. If the government or third parties successfully challenge our interpretation, such a challenge may have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, capital resources and liquidity.

We must obtain clearance or approval from the appropriate regulatory authorities prior to introducing a new product or a modification to an existing
product. The regulatory clearance process may result in substantial costs, delays and limitations on the types and uses of products we can bring to market,
any of which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

In the United States, before we can market a new product, or a new use of, or claim for, or significant modification to, an existing product, we
generally must first receive clearance or approval from the FDA and certain other regulatory authorities. Most major markets for medical products outside the
United States also require clearance, approval or compliance with certain standards before a product can be commercially marketed. The process of obtaining
regulatory clearances and approvals to market a medical product can be costly and time consuming, involve rigorous pre-clinical and clinical testing, require
changes in products or result in limitations on the indicated uses of products. We cannot assure you that these clearances and approvals will be granted on a
timely basis, or at all. In addition, once a medical product has been cleared or approved, a new clearance or approval may be required before it may be
modified, its labeling changed or marketed for a different use. Medical products are cleared or approved for one or more specific intended uses and promoting a
device for an off-label use could result in government enforcement action. Furthermore, a product approval or clearance can be withdrawn or limited due to
unforeseen problems with the medical product or issues relating to its application. The regulatory clearance and approval process may result in, among other
things, delayed, if at all, realization of product net sales, substantial additional costs and limitations on the types of products we may bring to market or their
indicated uses, any one of which could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

Our failure to comply with regulatory requirements or receive regulatory clearances or approvals for our medical gas facilities, products or operations
could adversely affect our business.

We have a number of medical gas facilities in several states. These facilities are subject to federal and state regulatory requirements. Our medical gas
facilities and operations are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and other federal and state authorities. The FDA regulates medical gases, including
medical oxygen, pursuant to its authority under the Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act. Among other requirements, the FDA’s cGMP regulations impose
certain quality control, documentation, and recordkeeping requirements on the receipt, processing, and distribution of medical gas. Further, in each state where
we operate medical gas facilities, we are subject to regulation under state health and safety laws, which vary from state to state. The FDA and state authorities
conduct periodic, unannounced inspections at medical gas facilities to assess compliance with the cGMP and other regulations. We expend significant time,
money, and resources in an effort to achieve substantial compliance with the cGMP regulations and other federal and state law requirements at each of our
medical gas facilities. There can be no assurance, however, that these efforts will be successful and that our medical gas facilities will achieve and maintain
compliance with federal and state laws and regulations. Our failure to achieve and maintain regulatory compliance at our medical gas facilities could result in
enforcement action, including warning letters, fines, product recalls or seizures, temporary or permanent injunctions, or suspensions in operations at one or
more locations, as well as civil or criminal penalties, all of which could materially harm our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows,
capital resources, and liquidity.

The medical gas products we manufacture and distribute and certain other products we distribute are subject to extensive regulation by the FDA and
other federal and state governing authorities. Compliance with FDA, state, and other requirements regarding production, safety, quality, manufacturing,
distribution and marketing is costly and time-consuming, and while we seek to be in full compliance, instances of non-compliance could arise from time to
time. We cannot be assured that any of our medical gases will be certified by the FDA. We have applied for, and received, designated gas certifications for our
medical gas products. We may not be successful in receiving certification in the future. Other potential product manufacturing-related risks include difficulties
or delays in product manufacturing, sales, or marketing, which could affect future results through regulatory actions, shutdowns, approval delays, withdrawals,
recalls, penalties, supply disruptions or shortages, reputational harm, product liability, and/or unanticipated costs.

Failure to comply with applicable regulatory requirements could result in administrative enforcement action by the FDA or state agencies, which may
include any of the following: adverse publicity; warning or untitled letters; fines; injunctions; consent decrees; civil money penalties; recalls; termination of
distribution or seizure of our products; operating restrictions or partial suspension or total shutdown of production; delays in the introduction of products into
the market; withdrawals or suspensions of current medical gas certifications or drug approvals, resulting in prohibitions on sales of our products; and criminal
prosecution. There is also a risk that we may not adequately implement sustainable processes and

22



procedures to maintain regulatory compliance and to address future regulatory agency findings, should they occur. The FDA may change its policies, adopt
additional regulations or revise existing regulations, each of which could prevent or delay certification of our medical gases, or could impact our ability to
market a device that was previously certified or cleared by the FDA. Any of these sanctions could result in higher than anticipated costs or lower than
anticipated sales and have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations, cash flows, capital resources and liquidity.

Our business may be adversely affected if we are unable to adequately establish, maintain, protect and enforce our intellectual property and proprietary
rights or prevent third parties from making unauthorized use of such rights.

Our intellectual property is an important part of our business. Failure to adequately protect our intellectual property rights could result in our
competitors offering similar products and services, potentially resulting in the loss of our competitive advantage and a decrease in our revenue, which would
adversely affect our business prospects, financial condition, results of operations, and cash flows. Our success depends in part on our ability to protect our
proprietary rights and intellectual property. We rely on a combination of intellectual property rights, such as patents, trademarks, copyrights, trade secrets
(including know-how) and domain names, in addition to teammate and third-party confidentiality agreements, intellectual property licenses and other
contractual rights, to establish, maintain, protect and enforce our rights in our technology, proprietary information and processes. For example, we rely on
trademark protection to protect our rights to various marks as well as distinctive logos and other marks associated with our products and services. Furthermore,
intellectual property laws and our procedures and restrictions provide only limited protection and any of our intellectual property rights may be challenged,
invalidated, circumvented, infringed or misappropriated. If we fail to protect our intellectual property rights adequately, we may lose an important advantage in
the markets in which we compete.

Other parties may also independently develop technologies, products and services that are substantially similar or superior to ours. We also may be
forced to bring claims against third parties. However, the measures we take to protect our intellectual property from unauthorized use by others may not be
effective, and there can be no assurance that our intellectual property rights will be sufficient to protect against others offering technologies, products or
services that are substantially similar or superior to ours and that compete with our business. Our management’s attention may be diverted by these attempts,
and we may need to use funds in litigation to protect our proprietary rights against any infringement, misappropriation or other violation.

We may become subject to litigation brought by third parties claiming infringement, misappropriation or other violation by us of their intellectual property
rights.

Our commercial success depends in part on avoiding infringement, misappropriation or other violations of the intellectual property and proprietary
rights of third parties. However, we may become party to disputes from time to time over rights and obligations concerning intellectual property held by third
parties. For example, third parties may allege that we have infringed upon or not obtained sufficient rights in the technologies used in our products and
services. We cannot assure that we are not infringing or violating, and have not infringed or violated, any third-party intellectual property rights, or that we will
not be held to have done so or be accused of doing so in the future. Any claim that we have violated intellectual property or other proprietary rights of third
parties, with or without merit, and whether or not it results in litigation, is settled out of court or is determined in our favor, could be time consuming and costly
to address and resolve, and could divert the time and attention of management and technical personnel from our business. Our liability insurance may not cover
potential claims of this type adequately or at all. Any of these events could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

We may incur product liability losses, litigation liability, product recalls, safety alerts or regulatory action associated with the provision of healthcare
services, and the products that we source, assemble, manufacture and sell which can be costly and disruptive to our business.

There is an inherent risk of liability in the provision of the services we provide and the design, assembly, manufacture and marketing of the medical
products of the types we sell. As participants in the healthcare industry, we are and expect to be periodically subject to lawsuits, some of which may involve
large claims and significant costs to defend, such as mass tort or other class actions. A number of factors could result in an unsafe condition or injury to, or
death of, a patient with respect to the products that we source, assemble, manufacture or sell, including physician technique and experience in performing the
relevant surgical procedure, component failures, manufacturing flaws, design defects or inadequate disclosure of product-related risks or information. A
successful claim in excess of, or not covered by, our insurance policies could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations, cash flows, capital resources and liquidity. Our insurance policies are also subject to annual renewal and our insurance premiums could be subject
to material increases in the future.

In addition to product liability claims and litigation, an unsafe condition or injury to, or death of, a patient associated with our products could lead to a
recall of, or issuance of a safety alert relating to, our products, or suspension or delay of regulatory product approvals or clearances, product seizures or
detentions, governmental investigations, civil or criminal sanctions or injunctions to halt manufacturing and distribution of our products. Any one of these
could result in significant costs
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and negative publicity resulting in reduced market acceptance and demand for our products and harm our reputation. In addition, a recall or injunction affecting
our products could temporarily shut down production lines or place products on a shipping hold.

All of the foregoing types of legal proceedings and regulatory actions are inherently unpredictable and, regardless of the outcome, could disrupt our
business, result in substantial costs or the diversion of management attention and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations, financial
condition and cash flows.

We could be subject to adverse changes in the tax laws or challenges to our tax positions.

We operate throughout the United States and other countries. As a result, we are subject to the tax laws and regulations of the United States federal,
state and local governments and of various foreign jurisdictions. From time to time, legislative and regulatory initiatives are proposed, including but not limited
to proposals to repeal last-in, first-out (LIFO) treatment of inventory in the United States or changes in tax accounting methods for inventory, import tariffs and
taxes, or other tax items. Changes in tax laws and regulations could adversely affect our tax positions, tax rate or cash payments for taxes. There can be no
assurance that our effective tax rate will not be materially adversely affected by legislative developments.

Audits by tax authorities could result in additional tax payments for prior periods, and tax legislation could materially adversely affect our financial results
and tax liabilities.

The amount of income taxes we pay is subject to ongoing audits by U.S. federal, state and local tax authorities and by non-U.S. tax authorities. In
addition, tax laws and regulations are extremely complex and subject to varying interpretations. Although we believe that our historical tax positions are sound
and consistent with applicable laws, regulations and existing precedent, there can be no assurance that our tax positions will not be challenged by relevant tax
authorities or that we would be successful in any such challenge. If these audits result in assessments different from our reserves, our future results may include
unfavorable adjustments to our tax liabilities.

Our aspirations, goals and disclosures related to ESG matters expose us to numerous risks, including risks to our reputation and stock price.

Companies are facing increasing scrutiny from regulators, investors, consumers and other stakeholders related to ESG matters. We engage with key
stakeholders to develop ESG focus areas and to set ESG-related goals, many of which are aspirational. We have set and disclosed these focus areas, goals and
related objectives as part of our continued commitment to ESG matters, but our goals and objectives reflect our current plans and aspirations and are not
guarantees that we will be able to achieve them. Our efforts to accomplish and accurately report on these goals and objectives present numerous operational,
reputational, financial, legal and other risks, certain of which are outside of our control, and could have, under certain circumstances, a material adverse impact
on us, including on our reputation and stock price. Moreover, while we create and publish voluntary disclosures regarding ESG matters from time to time,
some of the statements in those voluntary disclosures may be based on hypothetical expectations and assumptions that may or may not be representative of
current or actual risks or events or forecasts of expected risks or events, including the costs associated therewith. Such expectations and assumptions are
necessarily uncertain and may be prone to error or subject to misinterpretation given the long timelines involved and the lack of an established single approach
to identifying, measuring and reporting on many ESG matters. If our ESG practices do not meet evolving regulator, investor or other stakeholder expectations
and standards, then our reputation, our ability to attract or retain employees and our attractiveness as an investment, business partner or acquiror could be
negatively impacted. Similarly, our failure or perceived failure to adequately pursue or fulfill our goals and objectives or to satisfy various reporting standards
within the timelines we announce, or at all, could also have similar negative impacts and expose us to other risks, which under certain circumstances could be
material. Further, organizations that provide information to investors on corporate governance and related matters have developed ratings processes for
evaluating companies on ESG matters. Such ratings are used by some investors to inform their investment and voting decisions, and thus unfavorable ESG
ratings may have a negative impact on our reputation, stock price and access to and costs of capital.

Our amended and restated bylaws designates the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia as the exclusive forum for certain
litigation that may be initiated by our stockholders, which could limit our stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.

Pursuant to our amended and restated bylaws, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the United States District Court for
the Eastern District of Virginia, (or, if United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia lacks subject matter jurisdiction, another state or federal
court located within the Commonwealth of Virginia) will be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the
Company, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a duty owed by any director or officer or other employee of the Company to the Company or the
Company’s shareholders, (iii) any action asserting a claim against the Company or any director or officer or other employee of the Company arising pursuant to
any provision of the Virginia Stock Corporation Act, our articles of incorporation or our amended and restated bylaws (as either, or (iv) any action asserting a
claim against the Company or any director or officer or
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other employee of the Corporation governed by the internal affairs doctrine. In addition, our amended and restated bylaws provide that, unless we consent in
writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the federal district courts of the United States of America shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be the
sole and exclusive forum for the resolution of any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended. The forum
selection clause in our amended and restated bylaws may have the effect of discouraging lawsuits against us or our directors and officers and may limit our
stockholders’ ability to obtain a favorable judicial forum for disputes with us.

Risks Related to Our Debt

We may not be able to generate sufficient cash to service our debt and other obligations.

As of December 31, 2022, on a consolidated basis we had approximately $2.5 billion of aggregate principal amount of indebtedness, excluding
deferred financing costs and third party fees, as well as approximately $262 million in contractual obligations under our operating leasing arrangements due
beyond the next twelve months, $354 million of undrawn availability under our accounts receivable securitization program, and $422 million of undrawn
availability under our revolving credit facility. Our ratio of total debt to total shareholders’ equity as of December 31, 2022 was 264%. See Part II, Item 7
“Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations – Contractual Obligations” of this Annual Report on Form 10-K for
additional details.

Our ability to make payments on our indebtedness and our other obligations will depend on our financial and operating performance, which is subject
to prevailing economic and competitive conditions and to certain financial, business and other factors beyond our control. We may be unable to maintain a
level of cash flows from operating activities sufficient to permit us to pay the principal, premium, if any, and interest on our indebtedness.

If our cash flows and capital resources are insufficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay investments and
capital expenditures, or to sell assets, seek additional capital or restructure or refinance our indebtedness. These alternative measures may not be successful and
may not permit us to meet our scheduled debt service obligations. We cannot assure you that we would be able to implement any of these alternatives on
satisfactory terms or at all. In the absence of such operating results and resources, we could face substantial liquidity problems and may be required to dispose
of material assets or operations to meet our debt service and other obligations. We may not be able to consummate those dispositions or to obtain the proceeds
that we could realize from them, and these proceeds may not be adequate to meet any debt service obligations then due.

If we are unable to service our debt obligations from cash flows, we may need to refinance all or a portion of our debt obligations prior to maturity.
Our ability to refinance or restructure our debt will depend upon our financial condition or the condition of the capital markets at such time. Any refinancing of
our debt could be at higher interest rates and may require us to comply with more onerous covenants, which could further restrict our business operations. We
may not be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on commercially reasonable terms or at all.

We may not be able to refinance, extend or repay our substantial indebtedness which would have a material adverse affect on our financial condition.

Our 2024 Notes, 2029 Notes and 2030 Notes become due and payable in December 2024, March 2029 and March 2030. We may need to raise capital
in order to repay the 2024 Notes, 2029 Notes, and 2030 Notes. As of December 31, 2022, we owed $246 million, $500 million and $600 million in principal
under our 2024 Notes, 2029 Notes, and 2030 Notes, respectively. If we are unable to raise sufficient capital to repay these obligations at maturity and we are
otherwise unable to extend the maturity dates or refinance these obligations, we would be in default. We cannot provide any assurances that we will be able to
raise the necessary amount of capital to repay this obligation or that we will be able to extend the maturity dates or otherwise refinance this obligation. Upon a
default, our lenders would have the right to exercise its rights and remedies to collect, which would include foreclosing on our assets. Accordingly, a default
would have a material adverse effect on our business and financial condition.

Our credit facilities and our existing notes have restrictive covenants that could limit our financial flexibility.

Our Credit Agreement, Receivables Securitization Program, and Revolver, as well as the indentures that govern our existing senior notes, contain
financial and other restrictive covenants that limit our ability to engage in activities that may be in our long-term best interests.

Our credit facilities and the indentures governing our existing notes include restrictions that, among other things, limit our ability to: incur
indebtedness; grant liens; engage in acquisitions, mergers, consolidations and liquidations; use proceeds from asset dispositions for general corporate purposes,
restricted payments, or investments; enter into transactions with affiliates; and amend, modify or prepay certain indebtedness. Under our credit facilities, we are
subject to financial covenants that require us to maintain ratios for leverage and interest coverage, including on a pro forma basis in the event of an acquisition.
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These restrictions limit our ability to manage our business in our sole discretion, which could adversely affect our business by, among other things,
limiting our ability to take advantage of financings, mergers, acquisitions and other corporate opportunities that we believe would be beneficial to us. The terms
of any future indebtedness we may incur could include more restrictive covenants. We cannot assure you that we will be able to maintain compliance with these
covenants in the future and, if we fail to do so, that we will be able to obtain waivers from the lenders and/or amend the covenants. Our ability to comply with
these various covenants may be affected by events beyond our control, including prevailing economic, financial and industry conditions. Our failure to comply
with these restrictions or covenants could result in a default under the agreements governing the relevant indebtedness. If a default under the credit facilities
and the indentures governing our existing notes is not cured or waived, such default could result in the acceleration of debt or other payment obligations under
our debt or other agreements that contain cross-acceleration, cross-default or similar provisions, which could require us to repurchase or pay debt or other
obligations prior to the date it is otherwise due.

Our variable rate indebtedness subjects us to interest rate risk, which could cause our indebtedness service obligations to increase significantly.

Certain borrowings under our Credit Agreement and Receivables Securitization Program bear interest at variable rates and expose us to interest rate
risk. If interest rates were to increase, our debt service obligations on our variable rate indebtedness would increase even though the amount borrowed
remained the same, and our earnings and cash flows will correspondingly decrease.

Despite current indebtedness levels, we may continue to incur indebtedness in the future, and the amount of that additional indebtedness may be
substantial, which could further exacerbate the risks described herein.

We and our subsidiaries may incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future. If new debt is added to our current debt levels, the related risks
that we and our subsidiaries now face to service debt levels and the risks associated with failure to adequately service our debt could intensify.

General Risk Factors

We are subject to risks related to public health crises or future outbreaks of health crises or other adverse public health developments such as the COVID-
19 global pandemic.

As a global healthcare solutions company, we are impacted by public health crises. For instance, COVID-19 affected the ability of suppliers and
vendors to provide products and services to us or to do so at acceptable quality levels or prices. Any worsening of the COVID-19 pandemic or any future
outbreaks could further reduce demand for our products, which could have a material negative impact on our revenues and profit for future periods. In addition,
public health crises may cause health care professionals to prioritize the needs of impacted patients and access to other healthcare services may be limited,
which could negatively impact new patient growth in our Patient Direct segment. While we experienced growth in sales volumes for certain of our products
(such as PPE) during the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as improved productivity and manufacturing output, there can be no assurance that such growth rates,
increased sales volumes or other improvements will be maintained during or following the COVID-19 pandemic or any other public health crisis.

Adverse public health developments such as COVID-19 can also disrupt global capital markets, which can adversely impact our access to capital
including deferred payment arrangements with key suppliers. In addition, actions by the United States government or other foreign government in response to
any such public health developments could adversely affect our business and operations, including by way of closure of one or more facilities for an unknown
period of time.

We have incurred additional costs to ensure we meet the needs of our customers and protect our workforce and expect to continue to incur additional
costs, which may be significant, as we continue to implement operational changes in response to the COVID-19 pandemic and any future pandemics. If we do
not respond appropriately to the pandemic, any future outbreaks or similar pandemics, or if customers do not perceive our response to be adequate for the
United States or our international markets, we could suffer damage to our reputation and our brands, which could adversely affect our business. We may also
experience additional impacts that we are not aware of currently. Due to the uncertainty of the COVID-19 pandemic’s duration, any future outbreaks, the
timing of recovery, travel restrictions, business closures or business disruptions, a recession or other sustained adverse market event resulting from the spread
of the COVID-19, we are not able at this time to predict the extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic, or any future outbreaks or similar pandemics, may have
a material effect on our financial or operational results.

Our continued success is substantially dependent on positive perceptions of our reputation.

One of the reasons why customers choose to do business with us and why teammates choose us as a place of employment is the reputation that we
have built over many years. To be successful in the future, we must continue to preserve, grow and leverage the value of our brand. Reputational value is based
in large part on perceptions of subjective qualities. Even an isolated incident, or the aggregate effect of individually insignificant incidents, can erode trust and
confidence, particularly if
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they result in adverse publicity, governmental investigations or litigation, and as a result, could tarnish our brand and lead to adverse effects on our business,
results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

The market price for our common stock and debt have been, and may continue to be, highly volatile.

The market price for our common stock and debt have been, and may continue to be, highly volatile. A variety of factors may have a significant
impact on the market price of our common stock and debt, including, but not limited to:

• the publication of earnings estimates or other research reports and speculation in the press or investment community;

• changes in our financial projections or our failure to meet these projections;

• changes in our industry and competitors;

• changes in government or legislation;

• government debt and/or budget crises;

• changes in our board of directors or management;

• our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows and prospects;

• activism by any single large shareholder or combination of shareholders;

• lawsuits threatened or filed against us;

• any future issuances of our common stock, which may include primary offerings for cash, stock splits, issuances in connection with business
acquisitions, issuances of restricted stock/units and the grant or exercise of stock options from time to time;

• the trading volume of our common stock and debt;

• general market and economic conditions;

• any worsening of the COVID-19 pandemic, or future outbreaks and any future pandemics;

• the threat or outbreak of war, terrorism or public unrest (including, without limitation, the war in the Ukraine and a wider European or global
conflict); and

• the other factors discussed in this Item 1A. Risk Factors, any of which could have a material effect on us.

The stock and bond markets have recently experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations. The market prices of securities of companies have
experienced fluctuations that often have been unrelated or disproportionate to their operating results. In the past, following periods of volatility in the market
price of a company’s securities, securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies. This type of litigation, if instituted, could result in
substantial costs and a diversion of management’s attention and resources, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Our global operations increase the extent of our exposure to the economic, political, currency, regulatory and other risks of international operations.

Our global operations involve issues and risks, including but not limited to the following, any of which could have an adverse effect on our business,
results of operations and cash flows:

• Lack of familiarity with and expertise in conducting business in foreign markets;

• Foreign currency fluctuations and exchange risk;

• Unexpected changes in foreign regulations or conditions relating to labor, the economic or political environment, and social norms or
requirements;

• Adverse tax consequences and difficulties in repatriating cash generated or held abroad;

• Local economic environments, recession, inflation, indebtedness, currency volatility and competition; and

• Changes in trade protection laws and other laws affecting trade and investment, including import/export regulations in both the United States
and foreign countries.

We may be adversely affected by global climate change or by legal, regulatory or market responses to such change.

The long-term effects of climate change are difficult to predict and may be widespread. The impacts may include physical risks (such as rising sea
levels or frequency and severity of extreme weather conditions), social and human effects (such as population dislocations or harm to health and well-being),
compliance costs and transition risks (such as regulatory or
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technology changes) and other adverse effects. The effects could impair, for example, the availability and cost of certain products, commodities and energy
(including utilities), which in turn may impact our ability to procure goods or services required for the operation of our business at the quantities and levels we
require. We bear losses incurred as a result of, for example, physical damage to or destruction of our facilities (such as distribution centers), loss or spoilage of
inventory, and business interruption due to weather events that may be attributable to climate change. These events and impacts could materially adversely
affect our business operations and our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

As of December 31, 2022, we operated facilities located throughout the world that handle production, assembly, research, quality assurance testing,
distribution, packaging and sales of our products, as well as office and warehouse space. We also leased customer service centers as well as small offices for
sales personnel across the United States. In addition, we lease space on a temporary basis from time to time to meet our inventory storage needs.

As of December 31, 2022, our Patient Direct segment had over 300 locations to serve patients, including 277 branch locations that are capable of
reaching over 90% of the U.S. population, six centers of excellence aligned with specific mail order product categories, as well as regional distribution and
repair centers, customer service and billing centers, a national pharmacy and a biomedical center for the repair, maintenance and distribution of patient
equipment.

We own our corporate headquarters building, and adjacent acreage, in Mechanicsville, Virginia, a suburb of Richmond, Virginia.

The following table provides a summary of our principal facilities:
Owned Leased Other Total Location

Production 6 11 — 17 United States, Europe, Honduras, Mexico and Thailand
Distribution 1 52 1 54 United States and India
Storage — 26 — 26 United States, Honduras and Mexico
Office 1 36 — 37 United States, Asia, Australia, Canada and Europe
Branch — 277 — 277 United States
Total 8 402 1 411 

 Represents a distribution center owned by a customer.

We regularly assess our business needs and make changes to the capacity and the location of our facilities. We believe that our facilities are adequate
to carry on our business as currently conducted. A number of leases are scheduled to terminate within the next several years. We believe that, if necessary, we
could find facilities to replace these leased premises without suffering a material adverse effect on our business.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are party to various legal claims that are ordinary and incidental to our business, including relating to commercial disputes, employment, workers’
compensation, product liability, regulatory and other matters. We establish reserves from time to time based upon periodic assessments of the potential
outcomes of pending matters. In addition, we believe that any potential liability arising from employment, product liability, workers’ compensation and other
personal injury litigation matters would be adequately covered by our insurance, subject to policy limits, applicable deductibles, exclusions, and insurer
solvency. While the outcome of legal actions cannot be predicted with certainty, we believe, based on current knowledge and the advice of counsel, that the
outcome of these currently pending matters, individually or in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on our financial condition or results of
operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

(1)

(1)
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Information about our Executive Officers

Edward A. Pesicka (55)

President, Chief Executive Officer & Director

President and Chief Executive Officer since joining Owens & Minor in March 2019. Mr. Pesicka was also appointed to the board of directors at the time he
joined the company. Previously Mr. Pesicka served as an independent consultant and advisor in the healthcare, life sciences and distribution industries since
January 1, 2016. From January 2000 through April 2015, Mr. Pesicka served in various roles of increasing responsibility at Thermo Fisher Scientific Inc.,
including, most recently, Chief Commercial Officer and Senior Vice President from January 2014 to April 2015. Prior to that, he was President, Customer
Channels at Thermo Fisher from July 2008 to January 2014 and President, Research Market from November 2006 to July 2008. Earlier in his career, Mr.
Pesicka held various Vice President-level roles in Thermo Fischer Scientific’s finance department, serving as Chief Financial Officer of numerous divisions.
Prior to Thermo Fisher Scientific, Mr. Pesicka spent eight years with TRW, Inc. in its finance department and three years with PricewaterhouseCoopers as an
auditor.

Alexander J. Bruni (46)
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer of Owens & Minor since October 2022. Previously, Mr. Bruni served as the senior finance partner of the
Patient Direct segment and prior to that, as the senior finance partner of the Products & Healthcare Services segment after joining the company in April 2020.
Prior to joining the Company from 2019 to 2020, Mr. Bruni served as Chief Financial Officer & Chief Operating Officer for Centerline Communications, a
services company providing infrastructure solutions to the wireless telecommunications industry. From 2018 to 2019, Mr. Bruni was Chief Financial Officer
and Chief Operating Officer for Torque Therapeutics, an immuno-oncology company, where he led finance, manufacturing and corporate operations. Prior to
joining Torque Therapeutics, Mr. Bruni served from 2012 until 2018 in multiple Vice President positions including Finance, Corporate FP&A, Continuous
Improvement and Corporate Development at Patheon, a pharmaceutical services company.

Andrew G. Long (57)
Executive Vice President & Chief Executive Officer of Products & Healthcare Services Segment

Executive Vice President & Chief Executive Officer of Products & Healthcare Services Segment since October 2022. Previously Mr. Long served as Chief
Financial Officer of Owens & Minor since joining the company on November 11, 2019. Prior to that, Mr. Long served as the Chief Executive Officer of Insys
Therapeutics, Inc. (Insys) from April 2019 to November 8, 2019. Prior to that, Mr. Long served as the Chief Financial Officer of Insys from August 2017. Prior
to joining Insys, Mr. Long served as senior vice president of Global Finance at Patheon, a pharmaceutical company, from 2015 to 2017. Prior to working at
Patheon, Mr. Long served as Vice President of Finance for multiple divisions at Thermo Fisher Scientific from 2006 until 2015. Mr. Long has served as a
Member of the Board of Directors of Insys, which filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in June 2019, from April 2019 until his resignation on November
8, 2019.

Daniel J. Starck (56)
Executive Vice President, President of Patient Direct Segment, & Chief Executive Officer of Apria

Executive Vice President, President of Patient Direct Segment, & Chief Executive Officer of Apria since the Apria acquisition on March 29, 2022. Previously,
Mr. Starck served as Chief Executive Officer of Apria, Inc. since February 2015. Prior to that, Mr. Starck served as the Chief Executive Officer of Apria's home
respiratory therapy and home medical equipment segment since he joined Apria in April 2012. From 2007 to 2012, Mr. Starck served as Chief Executive
Officer of CorVel Corporation (CorVel), an Orange County, California-based national provider of industry-leading workers’ compensation solutions for
employers, third-party administrators, insurance companies and government agencies seeking to control costs and promote positive outcomes. Mr. Starck
joined CorVel in 2006 as President and Chief Operating Officer after serving Apria and a predecessor company in a series of progressively more responsible
operations roles from 1992 to 2006.
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Tammy Gomez (51)
Executive Vice President & Chief Human Resources Officer

Executive Vice President & Chief Human Resource Officer since joining Owens & Minor in July 2022. Prior to that, Ms. Gomez worked for Cardinal Health
from 1999 to 2021 in various roles throughout her career. She served as Senior Vice President, Global HR Center of Excellence & HR Services at the time of
her exit. Prior to that, Ms. Gomez served in various human resources business partner roles supporting the company’s business and functional leaders.

Nicholas J. Pace (52)
Executive Vice President, General Counsel & Corporate Secretary

Executive Vice President, General Counsel & Corporate Secretary since May 2018. Mr. Pace joined Owens & Minor in 2016, serving as its Senior Vice
President, General Counsel & Corporate Secretary. Prior to joining the company, Mr. Pace served as Executive Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary of
Landmark Health, LLC, from July-December 2015. From January 2014 to July 2015, he served in simultaneous roles of Senior Vice President, Strategy &
General Counsel of Landmark Health, LLC and Executive Vice President, Corporate Development & General Counsel of Avalon Health Services, LLC, two
Francisco Partners portfolio companies. From March to October 2013, Mr. Pace served as Executive Vice President, Operations & Compliance for Health
Diagnostic Laboratory, Inc., which filed for Chapter 11 bankruptcy protection in June 2015. Prior to that role, he served as Executive Vice President, General
Counsel & Secretary of Amerigroup Corporation, where he worked from 2006-2013 until its sale to Anthem, Inc.

Jonathan A. Leon (56)
Senior Vice President, Corporate Treasurer

Senior Vice President, Corporate Treasurer of Owens & Minor since May 2018. Prior to that, Mr. Leon served as Vice President, Treasurer, after joining Owens
& Minor in January 2017. Before joining Owens & Minor, Mr. Leon worked for the Brinks Company for nineteen years, beginning in 1998, where he served as
Treasurer.

Michael W. Lowry (61)
Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller & Chief Accounting Officer

Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller & Chief Accounting Officer since June 2018. Prior to that, from May 2016 to June 2018, Mr. Lowry was Senior
Vice President, Corporate Controller and Vice President, Corporate Controller beginning in 2013. Prior to that, from 2009 to 2013 Mr. Lowry was the Vice
President, Treasurer. Mr. Lowry joined Owens & Minor in 1988.

Part II

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

Owens & Minor, Inc.’s common stock trades on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol OMI. As of February 13, 2023, there were 2,354
common shareholders of record. Because many of our shares of common stock are held by brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, the
common shareholders of record do not reflect the total number of stockholders.
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5-Year Total Shareholder Return

The following performance graph compares the performance of our common stock to the Standard & Poor's Composite-500 Index (S&P 500 Index),
the Russell 3000 Medical Equipment and Services Sector Index, an index that includes more than 100 companies in the medical equipment and services
industry, and the Standard & Poor's Composite-500 Healthcare Index (S&P 500 Healthcare Index), an independently prepared index that includes more than 50
companies in the healthcare industry. Beginning this year, we are using the Russell 3000 Medical Equipment and Services Sector Index as our line of business
index, but in prior years we used the S&P 500 Healthcare Index. We are changing our line of business index to the Russell 3000 Medical Equipment and
Services Sector Index because that index more closely aligns with our business. In accordance with Item 201(e) of Regulation S-K, we are including both the
Russell 3000 Medical Equipment and Services Sector Index and S&P 500 Healthcare Index in the performance graph below. This graph assumes that the value
of the investment in the common stock and each index was $100 on December 31, 2017, and that all dividends were reinvested.

 Base Period Years Ended
Company Name / Index 12/2017 12/2018 12/2019 12/2020 12/2021 12/2022

Owens & Minor, Inc. $ 100.00 $ 35.49 $ 29.05 $ 152.18 $ 244.79 $ 109.90 
S&P 500 Index 100.00 95.62 125.72 148.85 191.58 156.88 
Russell 3000 Medical
Equipment and Services
Sector 100.00 112.27 146.90 185.83 224.41 174.51 
S&P 500 Healthcare 100.00 106.47 128.64 145.93 184.07 180.47 

In May 2020, we entered into an equity distribution agreement, pursuant to which we may offer and sell, from time to time, shares of our common
stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million. We intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of our securities offered by this program for the
repayment of indebtedness and/or for general corporate and working capital purposes. As of December 31, 2022, no shares were issued and $50.0 million of
common stock remained available under the at-the-market equity financing program.

On October 6, 2020, we completed a follow-on equity offering wherein we sold an aggregate of 8,475,000 shares of our common stock at an offering
price of $20.50, resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $165 million, after deducting expenses relating to the follow-on equity offering, including the
underwriters’ discounts and commissions. Pursuant to the underwriting agreement, we granted the underwriters an option to purchase up to an additional
1,271,250 shares of our common stock, which the underwriters exercised in full. Inclusive of this exercised option, net proceeds to us were approximately
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$190 million, after deducting expenses relating to the follow-on equity offering, including the underwriters’ discounts and commissions. We used the proceeds
from the follow-on equity offering to repay the remaining $109 million outstanding balance of Term Loan A-1 at par on October 8, 2020, to repay
$51.7 million of our Term Loan A-2 at par on October 15, 2020, and to repay $30.0 million of borrowings under the revolving credit facility.

Item 6. [Reserved]

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations is intended to assist the reader in the understanding and
assessment of significant changes and trends related to our results of operations. The discussion and analysis presented below refers to, and should be read in
conjunction with, the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes included in Item 8 of Part II of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

Owens & Minor, Inc., along with its subsidiaries, is a global healthcare solutions company. Our business has two distinct segments: Products &
Healthcare Services and Patient Direct. Products & Healthcare Services provides distribution, outsourced logistics and value-added services, and manufactures
and sources medical surgical products through our production and kitting operations. Patient Direct expands our business along the continuum of care through
delivery of disposable medical supplies sold directly to patients and home health agencies and is a leading provider of integrated home healthcare equipment
and related services in the United States. Beginning in 2022, we have reported financial results using this two segment structure and have recast our prior
period segment results on the same basis.

Net income per diluted share was $0.29 for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to $2.94 for the year ended December 31, 2021. Products
& Healthcare Services segment operating income was $175 million for the year ended December 31, 2022, compared to $384 million for the year ended
December 31, 2021. The decrease reflected overall reduced hospital demand, including reliance on stockpiles, and price changes, particularly for gloves, and
headwinds created by macroeconomic conditions, including inflationary pressures, supply chain issues, and rising interest rates, partially offset by productivity
gains derived from operating efficiencies, and changes in accrued incentive compensation. Patient Direct segment operating income was $194 million for the
year ended December 31, 2022, compared to $58.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2021. The increase was primarily the result of the inclusion of
Apria in the Patient Direct segment since March 29, 2022 (the Acquisition Date), strong revenue growth in our Byram business, leveraging our fixed costs, and
operating efficiencies, partially offset by inflationary pressures. Net income per diluted share was unfavorably impacted as compared to the prior year by
foreign currency translation in the amount of $0.16 for the year ended December 31, 2022. Segment operating incomes exclude adjustments noted in Note 20,
"Segments", in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, including a $92.3 million (approximately $69.6 million, net of tax) inventory valuation adjustment,
primarily associated with PPE inventory built up and a subsequent decline in demand as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Acquisition of Apria

On the Acquisition Date, we completed the Apria Acquisition, in which we acquired 100% of Apria in exchange for approximately $1.7 billion, net of
$144 million of cash acquired. The purchase was funded with a combination of debt and cash on hand. At the time of the Apria Acquisition, each share of
Apria’s common stock was converted into the right to receive $37.50 in cash. Apria is a leading provider of integrated home healthcare equipment and related
services in the United States. This business is reported as part of the Patient Direct segment.

COVID-19 Update

We continue to closely monitor the impact of COVID-19, including its variants and sub-variants, on all aspects of our business, including our
customers, teammates, suppliers, vendors and distribution channels. We have taken actions to protect our teammates while maintaining business continuity as
we respond to the needs from this global pandemic and may take further actions that may alter our business operations.

We are unable to predict the timing and the full impact that COVID-19 and any new pandemic(s) will have on our future operating results, financial
position and cash flows due to numerous variables and continued uncertainties. Transportation and business operation restrictions arising from virus
containment efforts of governments around the world have impacted our operations in certain locations, including within Asia. Essential activity exceptions
from these restrictions have allowed us to continue to operate, but virus containment efforts have created supply chain challenges resulting in additional direct
costs.

We have experienced growth in sales volumes for certain of our products (such as PPE) during the COVID-19 pandemic, as well as improved
productivity and manufacturing output. During the COVID-19 pandemic, customers, state
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agencies and the federal government purchased a significant amount of PPE to serve patients, and to build stockpiles of product. There can be no assurance that
such growth rates, increased sales volumes or other improvements will be maintained during or following the COVID-19 pandemic.

Our response to the COVID-19 pandemic was to manufacture and source as much PPE products as possible to enable front-line healthcare workers to
perform their duties in the safest environment as possible, and to satisfy the U.S. government’s purchase requirements. Our efforts included a significant
increase in PPE production in our manufacturing plants through expanding our production lines, hiring additional plant teammates, and increasing labor shifts.
Furthermore, we sourced a greater level of PPE from our existing third-party suppliers than we historically have. One of the financial impacts from our
response to this unprecedented crisis was an inventory build in the Products & Healthcare Services segment through the end of 2022. During 2022, overall
reduced hospital demand and hospital reliance on stockpiles contributed to lower demand for PPE as compared to 2021.

As of December 31, 2022, we had inventory valuation allowances of $128 million, inclusive of an inventory valuation adjustment of $92.3 million
recorded in the three months ended December 31, 2022, primarily associated with an increase in the amount of excess PPE inventory.

Philips Respironics Recall

In June 2021, one of Apria's suppliers, Philips Respironics, announced a voluntary recall for continuous and non-continuous ventilators (certain CPAP,
BiLevel positive airway pressure and ventilator devices) related to polyurethane foam used in those devices. The Food and Drug Administration (FDA) has
since identified this as a Class I recall, the most serious category of recall. Philips Respironics issued a subsequent voluntary recall in December 2022 (together
with the June 2021 recall, the Recall), related to deficiencies in repairs made to certain of the ventilators that had been recalled in June 2021.

Because we distribute these products and provide related home respiratory services and, in part, due to the substantial number of impacted devices, we
have devoted, and will likely continue to devote, substantial time and resources to coordinating Recall-related activity and to supporting our home healthcare
patients’ needs. The Recall has caused us, and may continue to cause us, to incur significant costs, some or all of which may not be recoverable from the
product manufacturer. The Recall may also materially negatively affect our revenues and results of operations as a result of patients not using their impacted
devices, current shortages in the availability of both replacement devices for impacted patients and new devices for new patients, patient hesitancy to use
respiratory devices generally or other reasons.

We are closely monitoring the impact of the Recall on our business and the uncertainty surrounding the availability and supply of CPAP and
ventilators due to the Recall. While the equipment shortage in the industry has begun to ease for certain CPAP and BiLevel positive airway pressure devices,
we do not know whether that will continue. The Recall or other supply chain disruptions may have a future material adverse effect on our financial condition or
results of operations, cash flows and liquidity.
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Supplemental Financial Information
(in thousands, except ratios and per share data)
 At or for the years ended December 31,
 2022 2021 2020

Summary of Operations:
Net revenue $ 9,955,475 $ 9,785,315 $ 8,480,177 
Income from continuing operations $ 22,389 $ 221,589 $ 88,074 

Per Common Share:
Income from continuing operations per share—basic $ 0.30 $ 3.05 $ 1.39 
Income from continuing operations per share—diluted $ 0.29 $ 2.94 $ 1.39 
Cash dividends $ — $ 0.01 $ 0.01 

Stock price at year end $ 19.53 $ 43.50 $ 27.05 

Summary of Financial Position:
Total assets $ 5,386,283 $ 3,536,551 $ 3,335,639 
Cash and cash equivalents $ 69,467 $ 55,712 $ 83,058 
Total debt $ 2,500,874 $ 949,577 $ 1,025,967 
Total equity $ 945,604 $ 938,501 $ 712,054 

Selected Ratios:
Gross margin as a percent of revenue 18.35 % 15.46 % 15.10 %
Distribution, selling and administrative expenses as a percent of revenue 16.41 % 11.41 % 12.28 %
Operating income as a percent of revenue 1.44 % 3.77 % 2.41 %
Days sales outstanding (DSO) 27.0 24.6 26.0 
Inventory days 57.2 64.7 57.8 

 Based on year end accounts receivable and net revenue for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020.
 Based on year end merchandise inventories and cost of goods sold for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. The 2022 figure reflects the $92.3 million inventory valuation

adjustment in our Products & Healthcare Services segment, primarily associated with PPE inventory built up and a subsequent decline in demand as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Results of Operations

Our Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations within this Annual Report on Form 10-K generally
discusses 2022 and 2021 items and year-to-year comparisons between 2022 and 2021. Discussions of year-to-year comparisons between 2021 and 2020 can be
found in Part II, Item 7 "Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2021, which is incorporated by reference herein.

2022 compared to 2021

Net revenue. For the years ended December 31, Change
(Dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Products & Healthcare Services $ 7,898,397 $ 8,825,646 $ (927,249) (10.5)%
Patient Direct 2,057,078 959,669 1,097,409 114.4 %
Net revenue $ 9,955,475 $ 9,785,315 $ 170,160 1.7 %

The increase in net revenue in our Patient Direct segment for the year ended December 31, 2022 was driven by the acquisition of Apria on March 29,
2022 and continued strong performance in our Byram business. The decrease in net revenue in our Products & Healthcare Services segment for the year ended
December 31, 2022 reflected overall reduced hospital demand, including reliance on stockpiles and price changes, particularly for gloves. Foreign currency
translation had an unfavorable impact on net revenue of $43.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the prior year.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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Cost of goods sold. For the years ended December 31, Change
(Dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Cost of goods sold $ 8,129,124 $ 8,272,086 $ (142,962) (1.7)%

Cost of goods sold includes the cost of the product (net of supplier incentives and cash discounts) and all costs incurred for shipments of products
from manufacturers to our distribution centers for all customer arrangements where we are the primary obligor and bear risk of general and physical inventory
loss. These are sometimes referred to as distribution contracts. Cost of goods sold also includes direct and certain indirect labor, depreciation of certain property
and equipment, product costs, and material and overhead costs. Cost of goods sold compared to prior year reflects the inclusion of Apria since the Acquisition
Date. The decrease in cost of goods sold since the prior year was due to changes in sales activity, including product mix, partially offset by an inventory
valuation adjustment in our Products & Healthcare Services segment primarily associated with PPE, inflationary pressures, and supply chain issues.

Gross margin. For the years ended December 31, Change
(Dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Gross margin $ 1,826,351 $ 1,513,229 $ 313,122 20.7 %

As a % of net revenue 18.35 % 15.46 %

Gross margin increase for the year ended December 31, 2022 was driven by inclusion of Apria since the Acquisition Date and sales mix, partially
offset by overall reduced hospital demand, including reliance on stockpiles, an inventory valuation adjustment in our Products & Healthcare Services segment
primarily associated with PPE, price changes, particularly for gloves, inflationary pressures, and supply chain issues. Foreign currency translation had an
unfavorable impact on gross margin of $21.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to the prior year.

We value a portion of Products & Healthcare Services inventory held in the United States under the LIFO method. Had inventory been valued under
the first-in, first-out (FIFO) method, gross margin as a percentage of net revenue would have been 6 basis points higher in 2022 and 56 basis points higher in
2021.

Operating expenses. For the years ended December 31, Change
(Dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Distribution, selling & administrative expenses $ 1,633,668 $ 1,116,871 $ 516,797 46.3 %

As a % of net revenue 16.41 % 11.41 %
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges $ 55,022 $ 34,076 $ 20,946 61.5 %
Other operating income, net $ (5,252) $ (6,191) $ 939 15.2 %

Distribution, selling and administrative (DS&A) expenses include labor and warehousing costs associated with our distribution and outsourced
logistics services. Shipping and handling costs are primarily included in DS&A expenses and include costs to store, move, and prepare products for shipment,
as well as costs to deliver products and services to customers. Overall DS&A expenses were affected by inclusion of Apria in our results since the Acquisition
Date, and inflationary pressures for the year ended December 31, 2022, partially offset by operating efficiencies and productivity gains, and changes in accrued
incentive compensation. DS&A expenses also included a favorable impact for foreign currency translation of $5.7 million for the year ended December 31,
2022 as compared to the prior year.
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Acquisition-related charges were $48.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 as compared to $3.0 million for the year ended December, 31,
2021. Acquisition-related charges in 2022 and 2021 consisted primarily of costs related to the Apria Acquisition. Exit and realignment charges were $6.9
million and $31.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. Amounts in 2022 consisted primarily of severance and other charges associated
with the reorganization of the Products & Healthcare Services segment and wind-down costs related to Fusion5. Amounts in 2021 consisted of wind-down
costs related to Fusion5, IT restructuring charges, costs associated with our strategic organizational realignment, and other items. We do not expect material
additional costs in 2023 for activities that were initiated through December 31, 2022. We expect material costs in 2023 for new actions taken in 2023.

The change in other operating income, net for the year ended December 31, 2022 includes the impact of foreign currency transaction losses, as
compared to prior year gains.

Interest expense, net. For the years ended December 31, Change
(Dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Interest expense, net $ 128,891 $ 48,090 $ 80,801 168.0 %

Effective interest rate 5.70 % 4.61 %

Interest expense, net and the effective interest rate for the year ended December 31, 2022 increased primarily due to the increase in debt associated
with the Apria Acquisition on March 29, 2022, along with rising market interest rates. See Note 10 in Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Loss on extinguishment of debt. For the years ended December 31, Change
(Dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Loss on extinguishment of debt $ — $ 40,433 $ (40,433) (100.0)%

    

Loss on extinguishment of debt for the year ended December 31, 2021 included the write-off of deferred financing costs and third party fees
associated with the debt financing in March 2021 of $15.3 million and amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss as a result of the
termination of our interest rate swaps of $25.1 million.

Other expense, net.
For the years ended December 31, Change

(Dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Other expense, net $ 3,131 $ 3,196 $ (65) (2.0)%

Other expense, net in 2022 and 2021 represented interest cost and net actuarial losses related to our retirement plans.

Income taxes. For the years ended December 31, Change
(Dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Income tax (benefit) provision $ (11,498) $ 55,165 $ (66,663) (120.8)%

Effective tax rate (105.6)% 19.9 %

The change in the effective tax rate for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to 2021 resulted primarily from changes in income and losses
and a change in our foreign repatriation plans related to the indefinite reinvestment of earnings associated with a subsidiary in Thailand.
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Financial Condition, Liquidity and Capital Resources

Financial condition. We monitor operating working capital through days sales outstanding (DSO) and merchandise inventory days. We estimate
a hypothetical increase (decrease) in DSO of one day would result in a decrease (increase) in our cash balances, an increase (decrease) in borrowings against
our revolving credit facility or Receivables Securitization Program, or a combination thereof of approximately $28 million.

The majority of our cash and cash equivalents are held in cash depository accounts with major banks in North America, Europe, and Asia. Changes in
our working capital can vary in the normal course of business based upon the timing of inventory purchases, collections of accounts receivable, and payments
to suppliers.

December 31, Change
(Dollars in thousands) 2022 2021 $ %
Cash and cash equivalents $ 69,467 $ 55,712 $ 13,755 24.7 %
Accounts receivable, net $ 763,497 $ 681,564 $ 81,933 12.0 %

Days sales outstanding 27.0 24.6 
Merchandise inventories $ 1,333,585 $ 1,495,972 $ (162,387) (10.9)%

Inventory days 57.2 64.7 
Accounts payable $ 1,147,414 $ 1,001,959 $ 145,455 14.5 %

 Based on year end accounts receivable and net revenue for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2022 and 2021
 Based on year end merchandise inventories and cost of goods sold for the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2022 and 2021. The 2022 figure reflects the $92.3 million inventory valuation

adjustment in our Products & Healthcare Services segment, primarily associated with PPE inventory built up and a subsequent decline in demand as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Liquidity and capital expenditures. The following table summarizes our consolidated statements of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2022
and 2021:

For the years ended December 31,
(Dollars in thousands) 2022 2021
Net cash provided by (used for):

Operating activities $ 325,006 $ 124,177 
Investing activities (1,804,476) (53,630)
Financing activities 1,497,105 (129,478)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (3,485) (3,540)

Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 14,150 $ (62,471)

Cash provided by operating activities in 2022 and 2021 reflected cash generated by net income along with changes in working capital. The increase in
cash provided by operating activities in 2022 as compared to 2021 reflected changes in working capital and the inclusion of Apria since the Acquisition Date.

Cash used for investing activities in 2022 included cash paid for the acquisition of Apria of $1.7 billion and capital expenditures of $167 million for
patient equipment and our strategic and operational efficiency initiatives associated with property and equipment and capitalized software, partially offset by
$48.4 million in proceeds related primarily to the sale of patient equipment. Cash used for investing activities in 2021 included capital expenditures of $49.7
million for our strategic and operational efficiency initiatives associated with property and equipment, investments for increased manufacturing capacity in the
Americas and Thailand, as well as capitalized software.

Cash provided by financing activities in 2022 included proceeds from borrowings of $1.7 billion related to the 6.625% senior notes due in 2030 (the
2030 Unsecured Notes), Term Loan A (as defined below), and Term Loan B (as defined below), compared to $575 million in proceeds related to the 4.500%
senior unsecured notes due in 2029 (the 2029 Unsecured Notes) and the accounts receivable securitization program during 2021. In 2022, borrowings under our
revolving credit facility, net and accounts receivable securitization program were $30.0 million compared to net repayments of $103 million during 2021.
Repayments of debt during 2022 included $4.5 million on our Term Loan B. Repayments of debt during 2021 included $553 million on our previous Term
Loan A-2, previous Term Loan B, 3.875% Senior Notes due 2021 and 2024 Notes, and accounts receivable securitization program. Gross issuances and
repayments under our amended accounts receivable securitization program were $1.0 billion and $1.2 billion during 2022. We also paid $42.6 million in
financing costs during 2022, as compared to $13.9 million during 2021. We paid $15.4 million to terminate the remaining $300 million in notional value of

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)
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interest rate swaps during 2021. Payments for taxes related to the vesting of restricted stock awards were $45.0 million and $20.2 million during 2022 and
2021, which are included in Other, net.

Capital resources. Our primary sources of liquidity include cash and cash equivalents, our Receivables Financing Agreement, and our Revolving
Credit Agreement. The Receivables Financing Agreement provides a maximum revolving borrowing capacity of $450 million. The interest rate under the
Receivables Financing Agreement is based on a spread over a benchmark SOFR rate (as described in the Fourth Amendment to the Receivables Financing
Agreement). Under the Receivables Financing Agreement, certain of our subsidiaries sell substantially all of their accounts receivable balances to our wholly
owned special purpose entity, O&M Funding LLC. The Receivables Financing Agreement matures in March 2025. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had
borrowings of $96.0 million and $200 million outstanding under our Receivables Financing Agreement. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had maximum
revolving borrowing capacity of $354 million and $100 million available under our Receivable Financing Agreement.

The Revolving Credit Agreement provides a revolving borrowing capacity of $450 million. We have $1.1 billion in outstanding term loans under a
term loan credit agreement (the Credit Agreement). The interest rate on our Revolving Credit Agreement is based on a spread over a benchmark rate (as
described in the Revolving Credit Agreement). The Revolving Credit Agreement matures in March 2027. The interest rate on the Term Loan A facility (Term
Loan A) is based on either the Term SOFR or the Base Rate plus an Applicable Rate which varies depending on the current Debt Ratings or Total Leverage
Ratio, determined as to whichever shall result in more favorable pricing to the Borrowers (each as defined in the Credit Agreement). The interest rate on the
Term Loan B facility (Term Loan B) is based on either the Term SOFR or the Base Rate plus an Applicable Rate. The Term Loan A matures in March 2027 and
the Term Loan B matures in March 2029.

At December 31, 2022, we had no borrowings and letters of credit of $27.9 million outstanding under our revolving credit facility. At December 31,
2021, we had no borrowings and letters of credit of $9.4 million outstanding under our revolving credit facility. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had
$422 million and $291 million available for borrowing under our Revolving Credit Agreement. We also had letters of credit and bank guarantees, which were
issued outside of the Revolving Credit Agreement for $2.3 million and $2.2 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, which supports certain leased facilities
as well as other normal business activities in the United States and Europe.

On March 29, 2022, we entered into a Security Agreement Supplement pursuant to which the Security and Pledge Agreement (the Security
Agreement), dated March 10, 2021 was supplemented to grant collateral on behalf of the holders of the 2024 Notes, and the parties secured under the credit
agreements (the Secured Parties) including first priority liens and security interests in (a) all present and future shares of capital stock owned by the Grantors
(as defined in the Security Agreement) in the Grantors’ present and future subsidiaries, subject to certain customary exceptions, and (b) all present and future
personal property and assets of the Grantors, subject to certain exceptions.

The Revolving Credit Agreement, the Credit Agreement, Receivables Financing Agreement, 2024 Notes, 2029 Unsecured Notes, and 2030 Unsecured
Notes contain cross-default provisions which could result in the acceleration of payments due in the event of default of any of the related agreements. The
terms of the applicable credit agreements also require us to maintain ratios for leverage and interest coverage, including on a pro forma basis in the event of an
acquisition or divestiture. We were in compliance with our debt covenants at December 31, 2022.

In May 2020, we entered into an equity distribution agreement, pursuant to which we may offer and sell, from time to time, shares of our common
stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million. We intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of our securities offered by this program for the
repayment of indebtedness and/or for general corporate and working capital purposes. As of December 31, 2022 no shares were issued and $50.0 million of
common stock remained available under the at-the-market equity financing program.

We regularly evaluate market conditions, our liquidity profile and various financing alternatives to enhance our capital structure. From time to time,
we may enter into transactions to repay, repurchase or redeem our outstanding indebtedness (including by means of open market purchases, privately
negotiated repurchases, tender or exchange offers and/or repayments or redemptions pursuant to the debt’s terms). Our ability to consummate any such
transaction will depend on prevailing market conditions, our liquidity requirements, contractual restrictions and other factors. We cannot provide any assurance
as to if or when we will consummate any such transactions or the terms of any such transaction.

We believe cash generated by operating activities, available financing sources, and borrowings under the Receivables Financing Agreement and
Revolving Credit Agreement, will be sufficient to fund our working capital needs, capital expenditures, long-term strategic growth, payments under long-term
debt and lease arrangements, debt repurchases and other cash requirements. While we believe that we will have the ability to meet our financing needs in the
foreseeable future, changes in economic conditions may impact (i) the ability of financial institutions to meet their contractual commitments to us, (ii) the
ability of our customers and suppliers to meet their obligations to us or (iii) our cost of borrowing.
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We earn a portion of our operating income in foreign jurisdictions outside the United States. Our cash and cash equivalents held by our foreign
subsidiaries subject to repatriation totaled $26.3 million and $26.9 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021. As of December 31, 2022, we are permanently
reinvested in our foreign subsidiaries.

Impact of Inflation

The cost to manufacture and distribute our products is influenced by the cost of raw materials, finished goods, labor, and transportation. During 2022,
we have experienced continued inflationary pressure and higher costs as a result of the increasing cost of raw materials, finished goods, labor, transportation,
and other administrative costs associated with the normal course of business. The increase in cost of raw materials and finished goods are due in part to a
shortage in the availability of certain products, the higher cost of shipping, and inflation. We can only pass elevated costs onto customers in an effort to offset
inflationary pressures on a limited basis. Future volatility of general price inflation and the impact of inflation on costs and availability of materials, costs for
shipping and warehousing and other operational overhead could adversely affect our financial results.

Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2022, material cash requirements, including known contractual and other obligations, in the next twelve months were primarily
comprised of $100 million in operating leases, $73.0 million in fixed interest payments on our outstanding senior notes, $32.6 million in purchase obligations
related to outsourced information technology operations, $15.4 million in principal debt payments, $3.6 million in retirement plan benefits, based on the same
assumptions used to measure our year-end benefit obligation, and $3.6 million in finance leases. Additionally, as of December 31, 2022, material cash
requirements, including known contractual and other obligations, due beyond the next twelve months were primarily comprised of $2.5 billion in principal debt
payments, $377 million in fixed interest payments on our outstanding senior notes, $262 million in operating leases, which excludes $40.2 million of legally
binding lease payments for the Morgantown, West Virginia center of excellence lease not yet commenced, $48.0 million in purchase obligations related to
outsourced information technology operations, $35.7 million in retirement plan benefits, based on the same assumptions used to measure our year-end benefit
obligation, and $14.3 million in finance leases. Due to the uncertainty of forecasting variable interest rate payments, interest payment amounts on our variable
rate debt are excluded from the contractual obligations disclosed in this section. See Note 8, "Leases", Note 10, "Debt", Note 12, "Retirement Plans", Note 14,
"Income Taxes", and Note 18, "Commitments and Contingencies" of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.

Guarantor and Collateral Group Summarized Financial Information

We are providing the following information in compliance with Rule 13-01, “Financial Disclosures about Guarantors and Issuers of Guaranteed
Securities” and Rule 13-02 of Regulation S-X, of with respect to our 2024 Notes. See Note 10 of the accompanying consolidated financial statements for
additional information regarding the terms of the 2024 Notes.

The following tables present summarized financial information for Owens & Minor, Inc. and the guarantors of Owens & Minor, Inc.’s 2024 Notes
(together, the Guarantor Group), on a combined basis with intercompany balances and transactions between entities in the Guarantor Group eliminated. The
guarantor subsidiaries are 100% owned by Owens & Minor, Inc. Separate financial statements of the guarantor subsidiaries are not presented because the
guarantees by our guarantor subsidiaries are full and unconditional, as well as joint and several.

Summarized financial information of the Guarantor Group is as follows:
Summarized Consolidated Statement of Operations - Guarantor Group For the year ended

December 31, 2022(Dollars in thousands)

Net revenue $ 9,736,450 
Gross margin 1,718,719 
Operating income 111,754 
Net income 1,984 

Includes $248 million in sales to non-guarantor subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2022.

(1)

(1)
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Summarized Consolidated Balance Sheet - Guarantor Group
December 31, 2022(Dollars in thousands)

Total current assets $ 1,442,661 
Total assets 4,658,382 
Current liabilities 1,613,228 
Total liabilities 4,360,673 

The following tables present summarized financial information for Owens & Minor, Inc. and the subsidiaries of Owens & Minor, Inc.’s 2024 Notes
pledged that constitute a substantial portion of collateral (together, the Collateral Group), on a combined basis with intercompany balances and transactions
between entities in the Collateral Group eliminated. The pledged subsidiaries are 100% owned by Owens & Minor, Inc. No trading market for the subsidiaries
included in the Collateral Group exists.

Summarized financial information of the Collateral Group is as follows:
Summarized Consolidated Balance Sheet - Collateral Group

December 31, 2022(Dollars in thousands)

Total current assets $ 1,523,290 
Total assets 4,614,380 
Current liabilities 1,562,680 
Total liabilities 4,343,750 

The results of operations of the Collateral Group are not materially different from the corresponding amounts presented in our consolidated statements
of operations.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have guarantees or other off-balance sheet financing arrangements, including variable interest entities, which we believe could have a
material impact on financial condition or liquidity.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes have been prepared in accordance with U.S. GAAP. The preparation of the financial
statements requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts and related disclosures. We continually evaluate the accounting
policies and estimates used to prepare the consolidated financial statements.

Critical accounting estimates are defined as those estimates that require us to make assumptions about matters that are highly uncertain at the time the
estimate is made and could have a material impact on our results due to changes in the estimate or the use of different assumptions that could reasonably have
been used. Our estimates are generally based on historical experience and various other assumptions that are judged to be reasonable in light of the relevant
facts and circumstances. Because of the uncertainty inherent in such estimates, actual results may differ. We believe our critical accounting estimates include
accounting for business combinations, revenue recognition, and inventory.

Business Combinations. We apply the acquisition method of accounting for business combinations. We allocate the fair value of purchase
consideration to the tangible assets acquired, liabilities assumed and intangible assets acquired based on their estimated fair values at the date of acquisition.
The excess of the fair value of purchase consideration over the fair values of these identifiable assets and liabilities is recorded as goodwill. When determining
the fair values of assets acquired and liabilities assumed, management makes significant estimates and assumptions, especially with respect to intangible assets.
We may adjust the preliminary purchase price allocation, as we obtain more information regarding asset valuations and liabilities assumed that existed but were
not available at the acquisition date, generally for up to one year subsequent to the acquisition closing date.

Critical estimates in valuing certain intangible assets include but are not limited to future expected cash flows from customer relationships, royalty
rates, and discount rates. Our estimates of fair value are based upon assumptions believed to be reasonable, but which are inherently uncertain and
unpredictable and, as a result, actual results may differ materially from estimates.
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Revenue Recognition. Due to the nature of our industry and the reimbursement environment in which we operate, revenue recognition requires
significant estimates and judgements. We determine the transaction price based on contractually agreed-upon amounts or rates, adjusted for estimates of
variable consideration including but not limited to rebates, discounts, performance guarantees, and implicit price concessions. The Company utilizes the
expected value method to estimate the amount of variable consideration that should be included to arrive at the transaction price, using contractual agreements,
historical experience, and other operating trends. The Company applies constraint to the transaction price, such that net revenue is recorded only to the extent
that it is probable that a significant reversal in the amount of the cumulative revenue recognized will not occur in the future. The complexity of many third-
party billing arrangements, contractual terms and the uncertainty of reimbursement amounts may result in adjustments to amounts originally recorded. Such
adjustments are typically identified and recorded at the point of cash application, claim denial or account review. If actual amounts of consideration ultimately
received differ from the Company’s estimates, the Company adjusts these estimates, which would affect net revenue in the period such adjustments become
known.

Inventory. Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, with the approximate cost determined by the LIFO method for
distribution inventories in the U.S. within our Products & Healthcare Services segment. Cost of remaining inventories are determined using the FIFO or
weighted-average cost method at the lower of cost or net realizable value.

We periodically evaluate whether inventory valuation allowance adjustments are required, which includes consideration of recent sales trends. In our
evaluation, we review for expired or obsolete inventory and slow-moving inventory. We write down inventories which are considered excess and obsolete as a
result of these assessments. Shifts in market trends and conditions, as well as changes in customer preferences and behavior could affect the value of our
inventories.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

For a discussion of recent accounting pronouncements, see Note 1 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

We are subject to price risk for our raw materials, the most significant of which relates to the cost of polypropylene and nitrile used in the
manufacturing processes of our Products & Healthcare Services segment. Prices of the commodities underlying these raw materials are volatile and have
fluctuated significantly in recent years and in the future may contribute to fluctuations in our results of operations. The ability to hedge these commodity prices
is limited.

We are exposed to risks of changes in shipping and freight costs, including container and other third party fees associated with the transportation of
our products. Shipping and freight costs have fluctuated significantly in recent years and in the future may contribute to changes in our results of operations.

In the normal course of business, we are exposed to foreign currency translation and transaction risks. Our business transactions outside of the United
States are denominated in the euro, Malaysian ringgit, Mexican peso, Thai baht and other currencies. We may use foreign currency forwards, swaps and
options, where possible, to manage our risk related to certain foreign currency fluctuations. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, we held contracts with notional
amounts of $58.3 million and $9.7 million to exchange the U.S. dollar, Euro, and Thai baht.

We are exposed to market risk from changes in interest rates related to our borrowing under our Revolving Credit Agreement and Receivables
Financing Agreement. Excluding deferred financing costs and third party fees, we had $500 million in borrowings under our Term Loan A, $596 million in
borrowings under our Term Loan B, no borrowings under our Revolving Credit Agreement, $96.0 million in borrowings under our Receivables Financing
Agreement at December 31, 2022. After considering the effects of an interest rate swap agreement entered into during April 2022, we estimate an increase in
interest rates of 100 basis points would result in a potential reduction in future pre-tax earnings of approximately $7.9 million per year based on our borrowings
outstanding at December 31, 2022.

Due to the nature and pricing of our distribution and delivery services, we are exposed to potential volatility in fuel prices. Our strategies for helping
to mitigate our exposure to changing domestic fuel prices have included using trucks with improved fuel efficiency. We benchmark our domestic diesel fuel
purchase prices against the U.S. Weekly Retail On-Highway Diesel Prices (benchmark) as quoted by the U.S. Energy Information Administration. The
benchmark averaged $5.01 per gallon for 2022, an increase from $3.29 per gallon in 2021. Based on our fuel consumption in 2022, we estimate that every 10
cents per gallon increase in the benchmark would directly reduce our operating income by approximately $0.4 million on an annualized basis. We are also
indirectly exposed to increased shipping and freight costs, including container and other third party fees associated with the transportation of our products due
to changes in fuel prices. Changes in fuel prices have contributed to significant shipping and freight costs in recent years and in the future may contribute to
changes in our results of operations.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

See Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Conclusion Regarding the Effectiveness of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation, with the participation of management, including our principal executive officer and principal financial officer, of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures (pursuant to Rule 13a-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended) as of the end of
the period covered by this report. Based upon that evaluation, our principal executive officer and principal financial officer concluded that our disclosure
controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2022.

On the Acquisition Date, we completed the acquisition of 100% of Apria. As permitted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the current
year acquisition scope exception, we have excluded this acquisition, except for certain balances associated with acquisition accounting, from our 2022
assessment of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting since it was not practical for management to conduct an assessment of internal
control over financial reporting between the Acquisition Date and the date of management's assessment.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Our internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent
limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, controls deemed effective now may become inadequate in
the future because of changes in conditions, or because compliance with policies or procedures has deteriorated or been circumvented.

Management assessed the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022. In making this assessment,
management used the criteria established in the Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Based on management’s assessment and the COSO criteria, management believes that our internal control over
financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2022 to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements in accordance with GAAP.

In reliance on guidance set forth in Question 3 of a “Frequently Asked Questions” interpretative release issued by the Staff of the SEC’s Office of the
Chief Accountant and the Division of Corporation Finance in September 2004, as revised on September 24, 2007, regarding Securities Exchange Act Release
No. 34-47986, Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting and Certification of Disclosure in Exchange Act Periodic Reports,
management determined that it would exclude Apria, Inc. (Apria), which was acquired on March 29, 2022, from the scope of the assessment of the
effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. It was not practical for management to conduct an assessment of internal control over financial
reporting in the period between the date the acquisition was completed and the date of management’s assessment. Except for goodwill and intangible assets
recorded by the Company in connection with the purchase of Apria, management excluded Apria from its assessment of internal control over financial
reporting. Excluding $1.5 billion of goodwill and intangible assets (see Note 3 and Note 7 of Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements), this acquisition
represented $496 million of assets and $937 million of revenues as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022, of our consolidated financial statements.
Apria will be included in management’s assessment of internal control over financial reporting for the year ending December 31, 2023.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, has been audited by KPMG LLP, an independent registered
public accounting firm, as stated in their unqualified report which is included in this annual report.
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/s/ Edward A. Pesicka
Edward A. Pesicka, President, Chief Executive Officer & Director

/s/ Alexander J. Bruni
Alexander J. Bruni, Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during our last quarter ended December 31, 2022, that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.

Item 9B. Other Information

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

None.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
Owens & Minor, Inc.:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited Owens & Minor, Inc. and subsidiaries' (the Company) internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our
opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria
established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated
balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in
shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively, the
consolidated financial statements), and our report dated February 28, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

The Company acquired Apria, Inc. during 2022, and management excluded from its assessment of the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over
financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, Apria, Inc.’s internal control over financial reporting associated with total assets of $496 million and total
revenues of $937 million included in the consolidated financial statements of the Company as of and for the year ended December 31, 2022. Our audit of
internal control over financial reporting of the Company also excluded an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of Apria, Inc.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness of
internal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management's Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility
is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the
PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit of internal control over financial
reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we
considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
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/s/ KPMG LLP

Richmond, Virginia
February 28, 2023
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Part III

Items 10-14.

Information required by Items 10-14 can be found under Information about our Executive Officers under Part I of this Form 10-K and the registrant’s
2022 Proxy Statement pursuant to instructions G(3) of the General Instructions to Form 10-K.

Because our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE), our Chief Executive Officer is required to make, and he has made, an
annual certification to the NYSE stating that he was not aware of any violation of the corporate governance listing standards of the NYSE. Our Chief Executive
Officer made his annual certification to that effect to the NYSE as of May 13, 2022. In addition, we have filed, as exhibits to this Annual Report on Form 10-K,
the certifications of our principal executive officer and principal financial officer required under Sections 906 and 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 to be
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission regarding the quality of our public disclosure.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:

 Page

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 48
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 49
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 50
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 51
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 53
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 54
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (KPMG, LLP, Richmond, VA, Auditor Firm ID: 185) 82

b) Exhibits:

See Index to Exhibits on page 84.
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OWENS & MINOR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(in thousands, except per share data)
 
Year ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Net revenue $ 9,955,475 $ 9,785,315 $ 8,480,177 
Cost of goods sold 8,129,124 8,272,086 7,199,343 
Gross margin 1,826,351 1,513,229 1,280,834 
Distribution, selling and administrative expenses 1,633,668 1,116,871 1,041,336 
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges 55,022 34,076 37,752 
Other operating income, net (5,252) (6,191) (2,372)
Operating income 142,913 368,473 204,118 
Interest expense, net 128,891 48,090 83,398 
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 40,433 11,219 
Other expense (income), net 3,131 3,196 (407)
Income from continuing operations before income taxes 10,891 276,754 109,908 
Income tax (benefit) provision (11,498) 55,165 21,834 
Income from continuing operations 22,389 221,589 88,074 
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax — — (58,203)
Net income $ 22,389 $ 221,589 $ 29,871 

Basic income per common share:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.30 $ 3.05 $ 1.39 
Loss from discontinued operations — — (0.92)
Net income $ 0.30 $ 3.05 $ 0.47 

Diluted income per common share:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.29 $ 2.94 $ 1.39 
Loss from discontinued operations — — (0.92)
Net income $ 0.29 $ 2.94 $ 0.47 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OWENS & MINOR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in thousands)
Year ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Net income $ 22,389 $ 221,589 $ 29,871 
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:

Currency translation adjustments (14,101) (25,976) 25,283 
Change in unrecognized net periodic pension costs 7,396 3,850 (3,756)
Change in gains and losses on derivative instruments 11,441 20,044 (7,329)

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax 4,736 (2,082) 14,198 
Comprehensive income $ 27,125 $ 219,507 $ 44,069 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OWENS & MINOR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)
 
December 31, 2022 2021
Assets
Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 69,467 $ 55,712 
Accounts receivable, net 763,497 681,564 
Merchandise inventories 1,333,585 1,495,972 
Other current assets 128,636 88,564 

Total current assets 2,295,185 2,321,812 
Property and equipment, net 578,269 317,235 
Operating lease assets 280,665 194,006 
Goodwill 1,636,705 390,185 
Intangible assets, net 445,042 209,745 
Other assets, net 150,417 103,568 

Total assets $ 5,386,283 $ 3,536,551 
Liabilities and equity
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 1,147,414 $ 1,001,959 
Accrued payroll and related liabilities 93,296 115,858 
Other current liabilities 325,756 226,204 

Total current liabilities 1,566,466 1,344,021 
Long-term debt, excluding current portion 2,482,968 947,540 
Operating lease liabilities, excluding current portion 215,469 162,241 
Deferred income taxes 60,833 35,310 
Other liabilities 114,943 108,938 

Total liabilities 4,440,679 2,598,050 
Commitments and contingencies (Note 18)
Equity

Common stock, par value $2 per share; authorized—200,000 shares; issued and outstanding— 76,279 shares
and 75,433 shares as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 152,557 150,865 
Paid-in capital 418,894 440,608 
Retained earnings 410,008 387,619 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (35,855) (40,591)

Total equity 945,604 938,501 
Total liabilities and equity $ 5,386,283 $ 3,536,551 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OWENS & MINOR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
Year Ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Operating activities:
Net income $ 22,389 $ 221,589 $ 29,871 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 228,667 90,621 93,336 
Share-based compensation expense 20,993 25,016 20,010 
Impairment charges — — 8,724 
Loss on divestiture — — 65,472 
Loss on extinguishment of debt — 40,433 11,219 
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense (26,361) (29,736) 15,564 
Provision for losses on accounts receivable 3,315 21,158 11,292 
Changes in operating lease right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 353 1,463 (1,676)
Gain on sale and dispositions of property and equipment (26,260) — — 
Changes in operating assets and liabilities, net of acquisitions:

Accounts receivable 1,101 (2,201) (34,818)
Merchandise inventories 166,559 (263,439) (85,154)
Accounts payable 13,652 3,548 193,240 
Net change in other assets and liabilities (91,544) 692 5,278 

Other, net 12,142 15,033 6,865 
Cash provided by operating activities 325,006 124,177 339,223 
Investing activities:
Acquisition, net of cash acquired (1,684,607) — — 
Proceeds from divestiture — — 133,000 
Additions to property and equipment (158,090) (40,985) (50,424)
Additions to computer software (8,492) (8,705) (8,769)
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment 48,383 — — 
Other, net (1,670) (3,940) 6,266 
Cash (used for) provided by investing activities (1,804,476) (53,630) 80,073 
Financing activities:
Proceeds from issuance of debt 1,691,000 574,900 155,100 
Proceeds from issuance of common stock — — 189,971 
Borrowings (repayments) under revolving credit facility, net and accounts receivable
securitization program 30,000 (103,200) (74,700)
Repayments of debt (4,500) (553,140) (617,271)
Borrowings under amended accounts receivable securitization program 1,022,300 — — 
Repayments under amended accounts receivable securitization program (1,156,300) — — 
Financing costs paid (42,602) (13,912) (10,367)
Cash dividends paid — (731) (648)
Senior Notes make-whole premium paid — — (4,980)
Payment for termination of interest rate swaps — (15,434) — 
Other, net (42,793) (17,961) (16,491)
Cash provided by (used for) financing activities 1,497,105 (129,478) (379,386)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash (3,485) (3,540) 9,909 
Net increase (decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash 14,150 (62,471) 49,819 
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Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at beginning of year 72,035 134,506 84,687 
Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash at end of year $ 86,185 $ 72,035 $ 134,506 
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Income taxes paid (received), net of refunds $ 33,973 $ 99,400 $ (17,455)
Interest paid $ 107,022 $ 38,717 $ 89,961 
Noncash investing activity:
Unpaid purchases of property and equipment and software at end of period $ 67,852 $ — $ — 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OWENS & MINOR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands, except per share data)
 

 
Common Shares

Outstanding
Common Stock
($2 par value)

Paid-In
Capital

Retained
Earnings

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive
Loss Total Equity

Balance, December 31, 2019 62,843 $ 125,686 $ 251,401 $ 137,774 $ (52,707) $ 462,154 
Net income — — — 29,871 — 29,871 
Other comprehensive income — — — — 14,198 14,198 
Dividends declared ($0.01 per share) — — — (623) — (623)
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance costs 9,746 19,493 170,478 — — 189,971 
Share-based compensation expense, exercises and
other 883 1,765 14,718 — — 16,483 
Balance, December 31, 2020 73,472 146,944 436,597 167,022 (38,509) 712,054 
Net income — — — 221,589 221,589 
Other comprehensive loss — — — — (2,082) (2,082)
Dividends declared ($0.01 per share) — — — (992) — (992)
Share-based compensation expense, exercises and
other 1,961 3,921 4,011 — — 7,932 
Balance, December 31, 2021 75,433 150,865 440,608 387,619 (40,591) 938,501 
Net income — — — 22,389 22,389 
Other comprehensive income — — — — 4,736 4,736 
Share-based compensation expense, exercises and
other 846 1,692 (21,714) — — (20,022)
Balance, December 31, 2022 76,279 $ 152,557 $ 418,894 $ 410,008 $ (35,855) $ 945,604 

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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OWENS & MINOR, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
(in thousands, except per share data, unless otherwise indicated)

Note 1—Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Owens & Minor, Inc. and subsidiaries (we, us, our or the Company), a Fortune 500 company headquartered in Richmond, Virginia, is a global
healthcare solutions company that incorporates product manufacturing, distribution support and innovative technology services to deliver significant and
sustained value across the breadth of the industry – from acute care to patients in their home. Our teammates serve healthcare industry customers in
approximately 70 countries, by producing quality products and helping to reduce total costs across the healthcare supply chain by optimizing point-of care
performance, freeing up capital and clinical resources and managing contracts to optimize financial performance.

Basis of Presentation and Consolidation. The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of Owens & Minor, Inc. and the subsidiaries it
controls, in conformity with U.S generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been
eliminated. Unless otherwise indicated, information in these notes to consolidated financial statements relates to continuing operations. The results of
operations of businesses acquired by the Company are included as of the respective acquisition date.

Our business has two distinct segments: Products & Healthcare Services and Patient Direct. Products & Healthcare Services provides distribution,
outsourced logistics and value-added services, and manufactures and sources medical surgical products through our production and kitting operations. Patient
Direct expands our business along the continuum of care through delivery of disposable medical supplies sold directly to patients and home health agencies and
is a leading provider of integrated home healthcare equipment and related services in the United States. Beginning in 2022, we have reported financial results
using this two segment structure and have recast our prior year segment results on the same basis.

Reclassifications. Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform to the current year segment presentation.

Use of Estimates. The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires us to make assumptions and estimates
that affect reported amounts and related disclosures. Significant estimates are used for, but are not limited to, the allowances for losses on accounts receivable,
inventory valuation allowances, variable consideration, depreciation and amortization, goodwill valuation, valuation of intangible assets and other long-lived
assets, estimated fair values of the net assets acquired in business combinations, self-insurance liabilities, tax liabilities, defined benefit obligations, share-based
compensation and other contingencies. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

Cash, Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash. Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash include cash and marketable securities with an original
maturity or maturity at acquisition of three months or less. Cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash are stated at cost. Nearly all of our cash, cash equivalents
and restricted cash are held in cash depository accounts in major banks in North America, Europe, and Asia. Cash that is held by a major bank and has
restrictions on its availability to us is classified as restricted cash. Restricted cash included in other assets, net as of December 31, 2022 and 2021 primarily
represents cash held in an escrow account as required by the Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) in conjunction with the Bundled Payments for
Care Improvement (BPCI) initiatives related to wind-down costs of Fusion5.

The following table provides a reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets that sum to the total of those same amounts presented in the accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.

December 31, 2022 December 31, 2021
Cash and cash equivalents $ 69,467 $ 55,712 
Restricted cash included in Other assets, net 16,718 16,323 
Total cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash $ 86,185 $ 72,035 

Book overdrafts represent the amount of outstanding checks issued in excess of related bank balances and are included in accounts payable in our
consolidated balance sheets, as they are similar to trade payables and are not subject to finance charges or interest. Changes in book overdrafts are classified as
operating activities in our consolidated statements of cash flows.
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Accounts Receivable, Net. Accounts receivable, net are recorded at net realizable value. In the Products & Healthcare Services segment, accounts
receivable from customers are recorded at net realizable value of the invoiced amount and are reduced by any rebates due to the customer, which are estimated
based on contractual terms or historical experience. We assess finance charges on overdue accounts receivable that are recognized as other operating income
based on their estimated ultimate collectability. We have arrangements with certain customers under which they make deposits on account. Customer deposits
in excess of outstanding receivable balances are classified as other current liabilities.

Due to the nature of our industry and the reimbursement environment in which we operate, certain estimates are required to record total net revenues
and accounts receivable at their net realizable values, including estimating variable consideration. Inherent in these estimates is the risk that they will have to be
revised or updated as additional information becomes available. Specifically, the complexity of many third-party billing arrangements, contractual terms, and
the uncertainty of reimbursement amounts for certain services may result in adjustments to amounts originally recorded. Such adjustments are typically
identified and recorded at the point of cash application, claim denial or account review.

We maintain valuation allowances based upon the expected collectability of accounts receivable. Our allowances include specific amounts for
accounts that are likely to be uncollectible, such as customer bankruptcies and disputed amounts and general allowances for accounts that may become
uncollectible. Allowances are estimated based on a number of factors, including industry trends, current economic conditions, creditworthiness of customers,
age of the receivables, changes in customer payment patterns, and historical experience. Account balances are charged off against the allowance after all means
of collection have been exhausted and the potential for recovery is considered remote.

Merchandise Inventories. Merchandise inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market, with the approximate cost determined by the last-in,
first-out (LIFO) method for distribution inventories in the U.S. within our Products & Healthcare Services segment. Cost of remaining inventories are
determined using the first-in, first out (FIFO) or weighted-average cost method at the lower of cost or net realizable value.

We periodically evaluate whether inventory valuation allowance adjustments are required, which includes consideration of recent sales trends. In our
evaluation, we review for expired or obsolete inventory and slow-moving inventory. We write down inventories which are considered excess and obsolete as a
result of these assessments. Shifts in market trends and conditions, as well as changes in customer preferences and behavior could affect the value of our
inventories.

Property and Equipment. Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and amortization. Depreciation expense for
financial reporting purposes is computed on a straight-line method over the estimated useful lives of the assets or, for capital leases and leasehold
improvements, over the term of the lease, if shorter. In general, the estimated useful lives for computing depreciation are three to 15 years for machinery and
equipment, five to 40 years for buildings, one to 10 years for patient equipment, and up to 15 years for leasehold and land improvements. Straight-line and
accelerated methods of depreciation are used for income tax purposes. Normal maintenance and repairs are expensed as incurred, and renovations and
betterments are capitalized. We suspend depreciation and amortization on assets that are held for sale. In addition, we record capital-related government grants
earned as reductions to the cost of property and equipment; and associated unpaid liabilities and grant proceeds receivable are considered non-cash changes in
such balances for purposes of preparation of our consolidated statements of cash flows. Patient equipment consists of medical equipment rented to patients on a
month-to-month basis. Patient equipment depreciation is classified in our consolidated statements of operations within cost of goods sold as the equipment is
rented to patients as part of our primary operations within the Patient Direct segment.

Leases. We enter into non-cancelable agreements to lease most of our office and warehouse facilities with remaining terms generally ranging from one
to 10 years. Certain leases include renewal options, generally for one to five-year increments. The exercise of lease renewal options is at our sole discretion. We
include options to renew (or terminate) in our lease term, and as part of our right-of-use assets and lease liabilities, when it is reasonably certain that we will
exercise that option. We also lease some of our transportation and material handling equipment for terms generally ranging from three to 10 years. Leases with
a term of 12 months or less are not recorded on the consolidated balance sheets; we recognize lease expense for these leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. The depreciable life of right-of-use assets and leasehold improvements are limited by the expected lease term, unless there is a transfer of title or
purchase option reasonably certain of exercise. Our lease agreements do not contain any material residual value guarantees or material restrictive covenants.

Right-of-use assets represent our right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent our obligation to make lease
payments arising from the lease. We elected the practical expedient to not separate lease and non-lease components for our leases. Operating lease assets and
liabilities are recognized at commencement date based on the present value of unpaid lease payments over the lease term. As most of our leases do not provide
an implicit rate, we use our incremental borrowing rate based on the information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease
payments. Our incremental borrowing rate is estimated to approximate the interest rate on a collateralized basis with similar terms and payments. We use the
implicit rate when readily determinable. The right-of-use assets also include adjustments for any lease payments made and lease incentives received.
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Goodwill. We account for acquired businesses using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires that the assets acquired and liabilities
assumed be recorded at the date of acquisition at their respective fair values. Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill.

We evaluate goodwill for impairment annually, as of October 1, and whenever events occur or changes in circumstance indicate that the carrying
amount of goodwill may not be recoverable. Qualitative factors are first assessed to determine if it is more likely than not that the fair value of a reporting unit
is less than its carrying amount. If it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value does not exceed the carrying amount, then a quantitative test
is performed. The quantitative goodwill impairment test involves a comparison of the estimated fair value of the reporting unit to the respective carrying
amount.

We determine the estimated fair value of our reporting units by using an income (discounted cash flow analysis) approach. The income approach is
dependent upon several assumptions regarding future periods, including assumptions with respect to future sales growth and a terminal growth rate. In addition,
a weighted average cost of capital (WACC) is used to discount future estimated cash flows to their present values. The WACC is based on externally
observable data considering market participants’ cost of equity and debt, optimal capital structure and risk factors specific to our company.

Intangible Assets. Intangible assets acquired through purchases or business combinations are stated at fair value at the acquisition date and net of
accumulated amortization in the consolidated balance sheets. Intangible assets, consisting primarily of customer relationships, customer contracts, trademarks,
and tradenames are amortized over their estimated useful lives. In determining the useful life of an intangible asset, we consider our historical experience in
renewing or extending similar arrangements. Intangible assets are generally amortized over one to 15 years based on their pattern of economic benefit or on a
straight-line basis. We suspend amortization on assets that are held for sale.

Computer Software. We develop and purchase software for internal use. Software development costs incurred during the application development
stage are capitalized. Once the software has been installed and tested, and is ready for use, additional costs incurred in connection with the software are
expensed as incurred. We also develop software for external use. Our software as a service (SaaS) subscription revenue is generated from granting customers
the right to use our software products and were not material to our consolidated financial statements for 2022, 2021 and 2020. Costs related to the research and
development of software for external use are expensed as incurred until the technological feasibility of the product is established. After technological feasibility
is established, costs are capitalized until the product is available for sale. Capitalized computer software costs are amortized over the estimated useful life of the
software, usually between three and 10 years. Capitalized computer software costs are included in other assets, net, in the consolidated balance sheets.
Unamortized software at December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $38.7 million and $34.0 million. Depreciation and amortization expense includes $14.0 million,
$10.3 million, and $10.2 million of software amortization for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020.

Long-Lived Assets. Long-lived assets, which include property and equipment, finite-lived intangible assets, right-of-use assets, and unamortized
software costs, are evaluated for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of long-lived assets may not be
recoverable. We assess long-lived assets for potential impairment by comparing the carrying value of an asset, or group of related assets, to their estimated
undiscounted future cash flows. We suspend depreciation and amortization on assets that are held for sale.

Self-Insurance Liabilities. We are self-insured for certain teammate healthcare, workers’ compensation and automobile liability costs; however, we
maintain insurance for individual losses exceeding certain limits. Liabilities are estimated for healthcare costs using current and historical claims data.
Liabilities for workers’ compensation and automobile liability claims are estimated using historical claims data and loss development factors. If the underlying
facts and circumstances of existing claims change or historical trends are not indicative of future trends, then we may be required to adjust the liability and
related expense accordingly. Self-insurance liabilities are included in other current liabilities and other liabilities in the consolidated balance sheets and were
$25.6 million and $11.2 million in total at December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Revenue Recognition. Our revenue is primarily generated from sales contracts with customers. Revenue for sales of products, including equipment
and supplies, is recorded when control of the promised goods is transferred. Revenue for activity-based fees and other services is recognized over time as
activities are performed. Depending on the specific contractual provisions and nature of the performance obligation, revenue from services may be recognized
on a straight-line basis over the term of the service, on a proportional performance model, based on level of effort, or when final deliverables have been
provided.

In our Products & Healthcare Services segment, under most of our distribution and product sales arrangements, our performance obligations are
limited to delivery of products to a customer upon receipt of a purchase order. For these arrangements, we recognize revenue at the point in time when
shipment is completed, as control passes to the customer upon product receipt.
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Our contracts sometime allow for forms of variable consideration including rebates, discounts, performance guarantees, and implicit price
concessions. We estimate the amount of consideration to which we will be entitled in exchange for transferring the product or service to the customer under the
expected value method as part of determining the sales transaction price using contractual terms, historical experience, and other operating trends. The amount
accrued for rebates and discounts due to customers was $86.9 million and $118 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021.

In most cases, we record revenue gross, as we are the primary obligor. When we act as an agent in a sales arrangement and do not bear a significant
portion of inventory risks, primarily for our outsourced logistics business, we record revenue net of product cost. Sales taxes collected from customers and
remitted to governmental authorities are excluded from revenues.

Within our Patient Direct segment, revenues are recognized under fee-for-service arrangements for equipment we rent to patients and sales of
equipment, supplies and other items we sell to patients. Revenue that is generated from equipment that we rent to patients is primarily recognized over the
noncancelable rental period, typically one month, and commences on delivery of the equipment to the patients. Revenues are recorded at amounts estimated to
be received under reimbursement arrangements with large government and commercial payors (Payors), including private insurers, prepaid health plans,
Medicare, Medicaid and patients. Rental revenue, less estimated adjustments, is recognized as earned on a straight-line basis over the noncancellable lease
term. We recorded $447 million in revenue related to equipment we rent to patients for the year ended December 31, 2022. Equipment rental revenue was not
material in 2021 and 2020.

See Note 20 for disaggregation of revenue by segment and geography as we believe that best depicts how the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty
of our revenue and cash flows are affected by economic factors.

Cost of Goods Sold. Cost of goods sold includes the cost of the product (net of supplier incentives and cash discounts) and all costs incurred for
shipments of products from manufacturers to our distribution centers for all customer arrangements where we are the primary obligor, bear the risk of general
and physical inventory loss and carry all credit risk associated with sales. Cost of goods sold also includes direct and certain indirect labor, material and
overhead costs associated with our Global Products business. We have contractual arrangements with certain suppliers that provide incentives, including cash
discounts for prompt payment, operational efficiency and performance-based incentives. These incentives are recognized as a reduction in cost of goods sold as
targets become probable of achievement.

In situations where we act as an agent in a sales arrangement and do not bear a significant portion of these risks, primarily for our outsourced logistics
business, there is no cost of goods sold and all costs to provide the service to the customer are recorded in distribution, selling and administrative expenses.

Within our Patient Direct segment, patient equipment depreciation is classified in the Company’s consolidated statements of operations within cost of
goods sold as the equipment is rented to patients as part of the Company’s primary operations. Depreciation expense for patient equipment was $88.7 million
for the year ended December 31, 2022 and was not material for the years ended 2021 and 2020.

As a result of different practices of categorizing costs and different business models throughout our industry, our gross margins may not necessarily be
comparable to other companies in our industry.

Inventory valuation allowance adjustments, including for excess and obsolete inventory, are recorded as a charge to cost of goods sold.

Distribution, Selling and Administrative (DS&A) Expenses. DS&A expenses include shipping and handling costs, labor, depreciation other than for
patient equipment, amortization and other costs for selling and administrative functions.

Shipping and Handling. Shipping and handling costs are primarily included in DS&A expenses on the consolidated statements of operations and
include costs to store, to move, and to prepare products for shipment, as well as costs to deliver products to customers. Shipping and handling costs totaled
$581 million, $445 million, and $389 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020.

Share-Based Compensation. We account for share-based payments to teammates at fair value and recognize the related expense in DS&A expenses
over the service period for awards expected to vest. The fair value of nonvested performance shares is dependent upon our assessment of the probability of
achievement of financial targets for the performance period.

Derivative Financial Instruments. We are directly and indirectly affected by changes in foreign currency, which may adversely impact our financial
performance and are referred to as “market risks.” When deemed appropriate, we use derivatives as a risk management tool to mitigate the potential impact of
certain market risks. We use forward contracts, which are agreements to buy or sell a quantity at a predetermined future date and at a predetermined rate or
price. We do not enter into derivative financial instruments for trading purposes.
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All derivatives are carried at fair value in our consolidated balance sheets. The designation of a derivative instrument as a hedge and its ability to meet
the hedge accounting criteria determine how we record the change in fair value of the derivative instrument in our consolidated financial statements. A
derivative qualifies for hedge accounting if, at inception, we expect the derivative will be highly effective in offsetting the underlying hedged cash flows and
we fulfill the hedge documentation standards at the time we enter into the derivative contract. We designate a hedge as a cash flow hedge, fair value hedge, or a
net investment hedge based on the exposure we are hedging. For the effective portion of qualifying cash flow hedges, we record changes in fair value in other
comprehensive income (OCI). We release the derivative’s gain or loss from OCI to match the timing of the underlying hedged items’ effect on earnings. We
review the effectiveness of our hedging instruments quarterly, recognize current period hedge ineffectiveness immediately in earnings, and discontinue hedge
accounting for any hedge that we no longer consider to be highly effective. We recognize changes in fair value for derivatives not designated as hedges or those
not qualifying for hedge accounting in current period earnings. The cash flow impacts of the derivative instruments are primarily included in our consolidated
statements of cash flows as a component of operating or financing activities.

Income Taxes. We account for income taxes under the asset and liability method. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between the financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and
operating loss and tax credit carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. The effect on deferred tax assets and liabilities of a change in tax rates is
recognized in income in the period that includes the enactment date. Valuation allowances are provided if it is more likely than not that a deferred tax asset will
not be realized. When we have claimed tax benefits that may be challenged by a tax authority, an estimate of the effect of these uncertain tax positions is
recorded. It is our policy to provide for uncertain tax positions and the related interest and penalties based upon an assessment of whether a tax benefit is more
likely than not to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities. To the extent that the tax outcome of these uncertain tax positions changes, based on our
assessment, such changes in estimate may impact the income tax provision in the period in which such determination is made.

We earn a portion of our operating income in foreign jurisdictions outside the United States. We are permanently reinvested in our foreign
subsidiaries. Prior to September 30, 2022, we were not indefinitely reinvested in our subsidiary in Thailand. Due to our change of plans to reinvest the
unremitted earnings in Thailand, we have released all withholding tax liabilities incurred in prior years. Our policy election for global intangible low-taxed
income is that we will record such taxes as a current period expense once incurred and will follow the tax law ordering approach.

Fair Value Measurements. Fair value is determined based on assumptions that a market participant would use in pricing an asset or liability. The
assumptions used are in accordance with a three-tier hierarchy, defined by GAAP, that draws a distinction between market participant assumptions based on
(i) observable inputs such as quoted prices in active markets (Level 1), (ii) inputs other than quoted prices in active markets that are observable either directly
or indirectly (Level 2) and (iii) unobservable inputs that require the use of present value and other valuation techniques in the determination of fair value (Level
3).

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accounts payable, and accrued payroll and related liabilities reported in the
consolidated balance sheets approximate fair value due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The carrying amount of restricted cash also approximates
fair value due to its nature. The fair value of debt is estimated based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes for the identical liability when traded as an asset
in an active market (Level 1) or, if quoted market prices or dealer quotes are not available, on the borrowing rates currently available for loans with similar
terms, credit ratings, and average remaining maturities (Level 2). See Note 10 for the fair value of debt. The fair value of our derivative contracts are
determined based on the present value of expected future cash flows considering the risks involved, including non-performance risk, and using discount rates
appropriate for the respective maturities. Observable Level 2 inputs are used to determine the present value of expected future cash flows. See Note 13 for the
fair value of derivatives.

Our acquisitions may include contingent consideration as part of the purchase price. The fair value of contingent consideration is estimated as of the
acquisition date and at the end of each subsequent reporting period based on the present value of the contingent payments to be made using a weighted
probability of possible payments (Level 3). Subsequent changes in fair value are recorded as adjustments to acquisition-related and exit and realignment
charges within the consolidated statements of operations.

Acquisition-Related and Exit and Realignment Charges. We present costs incurred in connection with acquisitions in acquisition-related and exit and
realignment charges in our consolidated statements of operations. Acquisition-related charges consist primarily of transaction costs incurred to perform due
diligence and to analyze, negotiate and consummate an acquisition, costs to perform post-closing activities to establish the organizational structure, and costs to
transition the acquired company’s information technology and other operations and administrative functions from the former owner.
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Exit and realignment charges consist of costs associated with optimizing our operations which includes the consolidation of certain distribution
centers, warehouses, our client engagement center and IT restructuring charges. These charges also include costs associated with our strategic organizational
realignment activities, which include reorganization costs, certain professional fees, costs to streamline administrative functions and processes, divestiture
related costs, and other items. Costs associated with exit and realignment activities are recorded at their fair value when incurred. Liabilities are established at
the cease-use date for remaining contractual obligations discounted using a credit-adjusted risk-free rate of interest. We evaluate these assumptions quarterly
and adjust the liability accordingly. Severance benefits are recorded when payment is considered probable and reasonably estimable. The current portion of
contractual termination costs are included in other current liabilities in our consolidated balance sheets, and the non-current portion is included in other
liabilities, which were not material to our consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Income (Loss) Per Share. Basic and diluted income (loss) per share are calculated pursuant to the two-class method, under which unvested share-
based payment awards containing non-forfeitable rights to dividends are participating securities. Diluted income per share reflects the potential dilution that
could occur if restricted awards were exercised or converted into common stock.

Foreign Currency Translation. Our foreign subsidiaries generally consider their local currency to be their functional currency. Assets and liabilities
of these foreign subsidiaries are translated into U.S. dollars at period-end exchange rates and revenues, cost of goods sold and expenses are translated at
average exchange rates during the period. Cumulative currency translation adjustments are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) in
shareholders’ equity. Gains and losses on intercompany foreign currency transactions that are long-term in nature and which we do not intend to settle in the
foreseeable future are also recognized in other comprehensive income (loss) in shareholders’ equity. Realized gains and losses from foreign currency
transactions are recorded in other operating income, net in the consolidated statements of operations and were not material to our consolidated results of
operations in 2022, 2021, and 2020.

Discontinued Operations. The Movianto business represented a component that met accounting requirements to be classified as discontinued
operations through June 18, 2020 (the Divestiture Date). In accordance with GAAP, the financial position and results of operations of the Movianto business
are presented as discontinued operations and, as such, have been excluded from continuing operations for all periods presented. With the exception of Note 3,
the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements reflect the continuing operations of Owens & Minor, Inc. See Note 3 for additional information regarding
discontinued operations.

Business Combinations. We account for acquired businesses using the acquisition method of accounting, which requires that the assets acquired and
liabilities assumed be recorded at the date of acquisition at their respective fair values. Any excess of the purchase price over the estimated fair values of the net
assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. The results of operations of the businesses acquired by the Company are included as of the respective acquisition date.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements. During 2022, we adopted Accounting Standard Updates (ASU) issued by the Financial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB).

In October 2021, the FASB issued ASU No. 2021-08, Business Combinations (Topic 805): Accounting for Contract Assets and Contract Liabilities
from Contracts with Customers. ASU 2021-08 requires the company acquiring contract assets and contract liabilities obtained in a business combination to
recognize and measure them in accordance with ASC 606, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. At the acquisition date, the company acquiring the
business should record related revenue, as if it had originated the contract. Before the update such amounts were recognized by the acquiring company at fair
value. The amendments in this ASU are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early
adoption is permitted, including in interim periods, for any financial statements that have not yet been issued. We adopted ASU 2021-08 prospectively,
effective beginning January 1, 2022. Its adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

In November 2021, the FASB issued ASU 2021-10, Government Assistance (Topic 832): Disclosures by Business Entities about Government
Assistance, which requires certain annual disclosures about transactions with a government that are accounted for by applying a grant or contribution
accounting model by analogy. The amendments are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2021. We adopted ASU 2021-10 effective beginning
January 1, 2022. Its adoption did not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements.

Recently issued accounting pronouncements not yet adopted as of December 31, 2022:
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On June 16, 2016, the FASB issued ASU No. 2016-13 Financial Instruments - Credit Losses, Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments,
which changes the way entities measure credit losses for most financial assets and certain other instruments that are not measured at fair value through net
earnings. This standard will be effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022, including interim periods within those fiscal years. Early adoption
is permitted. The adoption of ASU No. 2016-13 will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial statements and related disclosures. Subsequent to
the issuance of ASU No. 2016-13, the FASB issued ASU 2018-19, Codification Improvements to Topic 326, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses and ASU
No. 2019-05, Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326) Targeted Transition Relief. These ASUs do not change the core principle of the guidance in
ASU No. 2016-13. Instead these amendments are intended to clarify and improve operability of certain topics included within the credit losses standard. These
ASUs will have the same effective date and transition requirements as ASU No. 2016-13.

Note 2—Significant Risks and Uncertainties

Many of our hospital customers in the U.S. are represented by group purchasing organizations (GPOs) that contract with us for services on behalf of
the GPO members. GPOs representing a significant portion of our business are Vizient, Premier, Inc. (Premier) and Health Trust Purchasing Group (HPG).
Members of these GPOs have incentives to purchase from their primary selected distributor; however, they operate independently and are free to negotiate
directly with distributors and manufacturers. For 2022, net revenue from hospitals under contract with these GPOs represented the following approximate
percentages of our consolidated net revenue: Vizient—35%; Premier—19%; and HPG—12%.

In 2022, 2021 and 2020, no sales of products of any individual suppliers exceeded 10% of our consolidated net revenue.

Note 3—Acquisitions and Discontinued Operations

Acquisitions. On March 29, 2022 (the Acquisition Date), we completed the acquisition of 100% of Apria, Inc. (Apria) pursuant to the Agreement and
Plan of Merger (Apria Acquisition) dated January 7, 2022, in exchange for approximately $1.7 billion, net of $144 million of cash acquired. The purchase was
funded with a combination of debt and cash on hand. At the time of the Apria Acquisition, each share of Apria’s common stock was converted into the right to
receive $37.50 in cash. Apria is a leading provider of integrated home healthcare equipment and related services in the United States. This business is reported
as part of the Patient Direct segment.

The following table presents the preliminary estimated fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed recognized as of the Acquisition Date.
The fair value and useful lives of tangible and intangible assets acquired have been estimated based on various valuation methods, including the income and
cost approach, using several significant unobservable inputs including, but not limited to projected cash flows and a discount rate. These inputs are considered
Level 3 inputs. The allocation of purchase price to assets and liabilities acquired is not yet complete, as valuations of tangible and intangible assets and
liabilities are still in process.

Preliminary Fair Value
Originally Estimated as of

Acquisition Date

Differences Between Prior
and the Current Periods
Preliminary Fair Value

Estimate

Preliminary Fair Value
Currently Estimated as of

Acquisition Date
Assets acquired:

Current assets $ 142,136 $ 32 $ 142,168 
Goodwill 1,267,079 (17,314) 1,249,765 
Intangible assets 295,466 19,834 315,300 
Other non-current assets 371,320 (17,083) 354,237 

Total assets $ 2,076,001 $ (14,531) $ 2,061,470 
Liabilities assumed:

Current liabilities $ 241,266 $ 7,036 $ 248,302 
Noncurrent liabilities 150,128 (21,567) 128,561 

Total liabilities 391,394 (14,531) 376,863 
Fair value of net assets acquired, net of cash $ 1,684,607 $ — $ 1,684,607 

 As previously reported in our first quarter 2022 Form 10-Q.

(1)

(1)
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Current assets acquired includes $91.3 million in fair value of receivables, which reflects the approximate amount contractually owed. We are
amortizing the preliminary fair value of acquired intangible assets, primarily customer relationships, including Payor and capitated relationships, and trade
names over their estimated weighted average useful lives of one to 15 years.

Goodwill of $1.2 billion, which we assigned to our Patient Direct segment, consists largely of expected opportunities to expand into new markets and
further develop a presence in the home healthcare business. Approximately $32 million of the goodwill is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

The following table provides unaudited pro forma results of net revenue and net (loss) income for the year ended December 31, 2022 and 2021 as if
Apria was acquired on January 1, 2021. The pro forma results below are not necessarily indicative of the results that would have been if the acquisition had
occurred on the dates indicated, nor are the pro forma results indicative of results which may occur in the future.

Year Ended December 31,
2022 2021

Net revenue $ 10,232,588 $ 10,930,590 
Net (loss) income $ (97,687) $ 286,466 

Pro forma net loss of $97.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 includes pro forma adjustments for interest expense of $20.8 million and
amortization of intangible assets of $10.5 million, which reflects the updated preliminary purchase price allocation. The pro forma net loss for the year ended
December 31, 2022 also includes $39.4 million in seller transaction expenses and stock compensation expense associated with $108 million owed to the
holders of Apria stock awards in connection with the Apria Acquisition. Revenue and net loss of Apria since the Acquisition Date included in the consolidated
statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2022 were $937 million and $3.3 million, respectively.

Discontinued Operations. On June 18, 2020, we completed the divestiture of our European logistics business, Movianto (the Divestiture), as well as
certain support functions in our Dublin office, to Walden Group SAS (the Buyer) and EHDH (as Buyer’s guarantor) for cash consideration of $133 million. We
concluded that the Movianto business met the criteria for discontinued operations as of December 31, 2019 and through the Divestiture Date, as the intention to
sell represented a strategic shift and the criteria for held-for-sale were met. Movianto was previously reported in the Global Solutions segment and would have
been reported within Products & Healthcare Services under our current segment structure.

Accordingly, the results of operations from the Movianto business were reported in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations as Loss
from discontinued operations, net of tax for the year ended December 31, 2020.

The following table summarizes the financial results of our discontinued operations:

Year ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020

Net revenue $ — $ — $ 226,759 
Cost of goods sold — — 53,923 
Gross margin — — 172,836 
Distribution, selling, and administrative expenses — — 157,512 
Loss on divestiture — — 65,472 
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges — — 4,825 
Other operating income, net — — (388)
Operating loss — — (54,585)
Interest expense, net — — 3,144 
Loss from discontinued operations before income taxes — — (57,729)
Income tax provision from discontinued operations — — 474 
Loss from discontinued operations, net of taxes $ — $ — $ (58,203)

We suspended depreciation and amortization on assets that are held-for-sale, including right-of-use assets recorded in accordance with ASU No. 2016-
02 Leases (Topic 842), for the year ended December 31, 2020.

All revenue and expense included in discontinued operations during the year ended December 31, 2020 related to activity through the Divestiture
Date. No revenue or expense have been recorded in discontinued operations related to the disposal group subsequent to the Divestiture Date.
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We had no assets and liabilities associated with the discontinued Movianto business reflected on the consolidated balance sheet as of December 31,
2022 and 2021.

The following table provides operating and investing cash flow information for our discontinued operations:

Year ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020

Operating activities:
Loss on divestiture $ — $ — $ 65,472 
Investing activities:
Capital expenditures $ — $ — $ (3,027)

Note 4—Accounts Receivable, Net

Allowances for losses on accounts receivable of $9.1 million and $18.0 million have been applied as reductions of accounts receivable at
December 31, 2022 and 2021.

Note 5—Merchandise Inventories

At December 31, 2022 and 2021 we had net inventory of $1.3 billion and $1.5 billion, of which $840 million and $835 million were valued under
LIFO. If LIFO inventories had been valued on a current cost or FIFO basis, they would have been greater by $231 million and $225 million as of December 31,
2022 and 2021. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, included in our inventory was $84.4 million and $99.5 million in raw materials, $73.7 million and
$73.8 million in work in process and the remainder was finished goods. For the year ended December 31, 2022, primarily due to demand declines and builds in
excess personal protective equipment (PPE), the Company increased its estimate of inventory valuation allowances. This change in estimate contributed to a
$92.3 million (approximately $69.6 million, net of tax) valuation adjustment, or an approximate $0.93 and $0.91 impact per basic and diluted common share.
At December 31, 2022 and 2021 we had inventory valuation allowances of $128 million and $25.4 million.
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Note 6—Property and Equipment, Net

Property and equipment, net, consists of the following:
December 31, 2022 2021

Land and land improvements $ 22,849 $ 22,994 
Buildings and leasehold improvements 197,228 171,268 
Machinery and equipment 470,071 431,836 
Patient service equipment 324,007 — 
Construction in progress 14,400 25,637 
Property and equipment, gross 1,028,555 651,735 
Accumulated depreciation and amortization (450,286) (334,500)
Property and equipment, net $ 578,269 $ 317,235 

Depreciation and amortization expense for property and equipment and assets under finance leases was $136 million, $40.5 million, and $41.5 million
for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021, and 2020.

Note 7—Goodwill and Intangible Assets, Net

In connection with our new segment structure, which began in the first quarter of 2022, goodwill is now reported as part of Products & Healthcare
Services or Patient Direct. There was no change to our underlying reporting units as part of that segment change and therefore no reallocation of goodwill. As
of October 1, 2022, we performed our annual impairment test and concluded that there were no impairments of goodwill. In December 2021, we closed on an
acquisition of a small kitting business, the impact of which was immaterial to our financial results.

The following table summarizes the changes in the carrying amount of goodwill through December 31, 2022:

Patient Direct
Products &

Healthcare Services Consolidated
Net carrying amount of goodwill, December 31, 2020 $ 283,905 $ 110,181 $ 394,086 
Currency translation adjustments — (6,717) (6,717)
Acquisition 2,816 2,816 
Net carrying amount of goodwill, December 31, 2021 283,905 106,280 390,185 
Currency translation adjustments — (2,713) (2,713)
Acquisition 1,249,765 (532) 1,249,233 
Net carrying amount of goodwill, December 31, 2022 $ 1,533,670 $ 103,035 $ 1,636,705 

Intangible assets at December 31, 2022 and 2021 were as follows:

 2022 2021

 
Customer

Relationships Tradenames
Other

Intangibles
Customer

Relationships Tradenames
Other

Intangibles

Gross intangible assets $ 447,107 $ 202,000 $ 73,181 $ 275,526 $ 90,000 $ 43,189 
Accumulated amortization (197,540) (50,094) (29,612) (146,168) (33,242) (19,560)
Net intangible assets $ 249,567 $ 151,906 $ 43,569 $ 129,358 $ 56,758 $ 23,629 
Weighted average useful life 13 years 10 years 6 years 10 years 11 years 8 years

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, $308 million and $45.7 million in net intangible assets were held in the Patient Direct segment and $137 million and
$164 million were held in the Products & Healthcare Services segment. Amortization expense for intangible assets was $78.8 million for 2022, $39.8 million
for 2021 and $41.5 million for 2020.

Based on the current carrying value of intangible assets subject to amortization, estimated amortization expense is $83.2 million for 2023, $65.3
million for 2024, $55.2 million for 2025, $53.7 million for 2026, and $46.9 million for 2027.
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Note 8—Leases

The components of lease expense were as follows:
Years ended December 31,

Classification 2022 2021 2020
Operating lease cost DS&A Expenses $ 81,520 $ 59,397 $ 53,675 
Finance lease cost:

Amortization of lease assets DS&A Expenses 2,755 1,098 963 
Interest on lease liabilities Interest expense, net 1,516 1,255 1,283 

Total finance lease cost 4,271 2,353 2,246 
Short-term lease cost DS&A Expenses, Cost of goods sold 4,129 871 1,081 
Variable lease cost DS&A Expenses, Cost of goods sold 35,431 17,491 15,611 
Total lease cost $ 125,351 $ 80,112 $ 72,613 

Variable lease cost consists primarily of taxes, insurance, and common area or other maintenance costs for our leased facilities and patient services
equipment which are paid as incurred.

Supplemental balance sheet information is as follows:
As of December 31,

Classification 2022 2021
Assets:
Operating lease assets Operating lease assets $ 280,665 $ 194,006 
Finance lease assets Property and equipment, net 10,194 8,896 

Total lease assets $ 290,859 $ 202,902 
Liabilities:
Current

Operating Other current liabilities $ 76,805 $ 41,817 
Finance Other current liabilities 2,531 2,037 

Noncurrent
Operating Operating lease liabilities, excluding current portion 215,469 162,241 
Finance Long-term debt, excluding current portion 11,877 11,314 
Total lease liabilities $ 306,682 $ 217,409 

The gross value recorded under finance leases was $21.5 million and $20.6 million with associated accumulated depreciation of $11.3 million and
$11.7 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. Operating lease assets include $88.6 million in right-of-use assets and $91.9 million of operating lease
liabilities associated with Apria as of December 31, 2022.
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Other information related to leases was as follows:
Years ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Supplemental cash flow information
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:

Operating cash flows from operating and finance leases $ 81,821 $ 59,192 $ 54,541
Financing cash flows from finance leases $ 2,850 $ 1,199 $ 879

Right-of-use assets obtained in exchange for new operating and finance lease liabilities $ 75,188 $ 96,988 $ 41,616

Weighted average remaining lease term (years)
Operating leases 4.3 4.9 5.2
Finance leases 5.2 6.4 7.9

Weighted average discount rate
Operating leases 6.9 % 8.8 % 11.8 %
Finance leases 9.9 % 10.8 % 12.3 %

Maturities of lease liabilities as of December 31, 2022 were as follows:

Operating Leases Finance Leases Total
2023 $ 100,499 $ 3,557 $ 104,056 
2024 88,461 3,505 91,966 
2025 66,821 3,452 70,273 
2026 46,418 2,578 48,996 
2027 28,806 2,229 31,035 
Thereafter 31,394 2,544 33,938 
Total lease payments 362,399 17,865 380,264 
Less: Interest (70,125) (3,457) (73,582)
Present value of lease liabilities $ 292,274 $ 14,408 $ 306,682 

(1) Operating lease payments exclude $40.2 million of legally binding lease payments for the Morgantown, West Virginia center of excellence for medical supplies and logistics lease signed, but not
yet commenced.
    

Note 9—Exit and Realignment Costs

We periodically incur exit and realignment and other charges associated with optimizing our operations which includes the consolidation of certain
distribution centers, warehouses, our client engagement center and IT restructuring charges. These charges also include costs associated with our strategic
organizational realignment which include reorganization costs, certain professional fees, costs to streamline administrative functions and processes, divestiture
related costs, and other items.

Exit and realignment charges by segment for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were as follows:
Year ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Products & Healthcare Services $ 6,414 $ 28,760 $ 25,622 
Patient Direct 483 2,349 310 
Total exit and realignment charges $ 6,897 $ 31,109 $ 25,932 

(1)
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The following table summarizes the activity related to exit and realignment cost accruals through December 31, 2022:        
Total

Accrued exit and realignment charges, December 31, 2019 $ 8,162 
Provision for exit and realignment activities:

Severance 5,623 
Information system restructuring costs 2,119 
Lease obligations 1,051 
Other 6,519 

Cash payments (20,328)
Accrued exit and realignment charges, December 31, 2020 3,146 
Provision for exit and realignment activities:

Severance 9,191 
Information system restructuring costs 4,752 
Lease obligations 440 
Other 5,564 

Cash payments (14,787)
Accrued exit and realignment charges, December 31, 2021 8,306 
Provision for exit and realignment activities:

Severance 2,018 
Other 4,147 

Cash payments (13,502)
Accrued exit and realignment charges, December 31, 2022 $ 969 

In addition to the exit and realignment accruals in the preceding table, we also incurred $0.7 million of costs that were expensed as incurred for the
year ended December 31, 2022, which related to an increase in reserves associated with certain retained assets of Fusion5. We also incurred $11.2 million of
costs that were expensed as incurred for the year ended December 31, 2021, which primarily includes $9.6 million of wind-down costs related to Fusion5. We
also incurred $10.6 million of costs that were expensed as incurred for the year ended December 31, 2020, including $4.9 million in impairment charges related
to our client engagement center right-of-use asset, $3.7 million in loss on the sale of certain disposed assets and $2.0 million in other asset charges.

Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges presented in our consolidated statements of operations includes acquisition-related charges of
$48.1 million, $3.0 million and $11.8 million for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020. Acquisition-related charges in 2022 and 2021 consisted
primarily of costs related to the Apria transaction. Acquisition-related charges in 2020 consisted primarily of transition costs for the Halyard acquisition.
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Note 10—Debt

Debt consists of the following:
 2022 2021

December 31,
Carrying
Amount

Estimated
Fair Value

Carrying
Amount

Estimated
Fair Value

4.375% Senior Notes, due December 2024 $ 245,510 $ 237,772 $ 245,086 $ 263,263 
Receivables Securitization Program 93,142 96,000 197,026 200,000 
Term Loan A 490,816 485,000 — — 
4.500% Senior Notes, due March 2029 492,762 396,625 491,656 515,225 
Term Loan B 576,587 597,733 — — 
6.625% Senior Notes, due April 2030 585,180 516,060 — — 
Finance leases and other 16,877 16,877 15,809 15,809 
Total debt 2,500,874 2,346,067 949,577 994,297 
Less current maturities (17,906) (17,906) (2,037) (2,037)
Long-term debt $ 2,482,968 $ 2,328,161 $ 947,540 $ 992,260 

We have $246 million, excluding deferred financing costs and third party fees, of 4.375% senior notes due in 2024 (the 2024 Notes), with interest
payable semi-annually. The 2024 Notes were sold at 99.6% of the principal amount with an effective yield of 4.422%. We have the option to redeem the 2024
Notes in part or in whole prior to maturity at a redemption price equal to the greater of 100% of the principal amount or the present value of the remaining
scheduled payments discounted at the applicable Benchmark Treasury Rate (as defined) plus 30 basis points.

On March 29, 2022, we entered into an amendment to our Receivables Financing Agreement. The amended Receivables Financing Agreement has a
maximum borrowing capacity of $450 million. The interest rate under the Receivables Financing Agreement is based on a spread over a benchmark SOFR rate
(as described in the Fourth Amendment to the Receivables Financing Agreement). Under the Receivables Financing Agreement, certain of our subsidiaries sell
substantially all of their accounts receivable balances to our wholly owned special purpose entity, O&M Funding LLC. The Receivables Financing Agreement
matures in March 2025.

At December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had borrowings of $96.0 million and $200 million outstanding under our Receivables Financing Agreement. At
December 31, 2022 and 2021, we had maximum revolving borrowing capacity of $354 million and $100 million available under our Receivable Financing
Agreement.

On March 29, 2022, we entered into an amendment to our revolving credit agreement, dated as of March 10, 2021 with an administrative agent and
collateral agent and a syndicate of financial institutions, as lenders (Revolving Credit Agreement). The amendment (i) increased the aggregate revolving credit
commitments under the Revolving Credit Agreement by $150 million, to an aggregate amount of $450 million and (ii) replaced the Eurocurrency Rate with the
Adjusted Term SOFR Rate (each as defined in the Revolving Credit Agreement). The Revolving Credit Agreement matures in March 2027.

At December 31, 2022, we had no borrowings and letters of credit of $27.9 million outstanding under our Revolving Credit Agreement. At December
31, 2021, we had no borrowings and letters of credit of $9.4 million outstanding under our Revolving Credit Agreement. At December 31, 2022 and 2021, we
had $422 million and $291 million available for borrowing under our Revolving Credit Agreement. We also had letters of credit and bank guarantees, which
were issued outside of the Revolving Credit Agreement for $2.3 million and $2.2 million as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, which supports certain leased
facilities as well as other normal business activities in the United States and Europe.

On March 29, 2022, we entered into a term loan credit agreement with an administrative agent and collateral agent and a syndicate of financial
institutions, as lenders (the Credit Agreement) that provides for two new credit facilities (i) a $500 million Term Loan A facility (the Term Loan A), and (ii) a
$600 million Term Loan B facility (the Term Loan B). The interest rate on the Term Loan A is based on either the Term SOFR or the Base Rate plus an
Applicable Rate which varies depending on the current Debt Ratings or Total Leverage Ratio, determined as to whichever shall result in more favorable pricing
to the Borrowers (each as defined in the Credit Agreement). The interest rate on the Term Loan B is based on either the Term SOFR or the Base Rate plus an
Applicable Rate. The Term Loan A will mature in March 2027 and the Term Loan B will mature in March 2029.

In March 2021, we issued $500 million, excluding deferred financing costs and third party fees, of 4.500% senior unsecured notes due in 2029 (the
2029 Unsecured Notes), with interest payable semi-annually (the Notes Offering). The 2029 Unsecured Notes were sold at 100% of the principal amount with
an effective yield of 4.500%. We may redeem all or part of
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the 2029 Unsecured Notes prior to March 31, 2024, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2029 Unsecured Notes redeemed, plus accrued and
unpaid interest, if any, to, but not including, the redemption date, plus a “make-whole” premium, as described in the Indenture dated March 10, 2021 (the
Indenture). On or after March 31, 2024, we may redeem all or part of the 2029 Unsecured Notes at the applicable redemption prices described in the Indenture,
plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but not including, the redemption date. We may also redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of the
2029 Unsecured Notes at any time prior to March 31, 2024, at a redemption price equal to 104.5% with an amount equal to or less than the net cash proceeds
from certain equity offerings, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date.

On March 29, 2022, we completed the sale of $600 million in aggregate principal amount of our 6.625% senior notes due in April 2030 (the 2030
Unsecured Notes), with interest payable semi-annually. The 2030 Unsecured Notes were sold at 100% of the principal amount with an effective yield of
6.625%. We may redeem all or part of the 2030 Unsecured Notes, prior to April 1, 2025, at a price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2030
Unsecured Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date, plus a “make-whole” premium, as described
in the Indenture dated March 29, 2022 (the New Indenture). From and after April 1, 2025, we may redeem all or part of the 2030 Unsecured Notes at the
applicable redemption prices described in the New Indenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date. We may also
redeem up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount of 2030 Unsecured Notes at any time prior to April 1, 2025, at a redemption price equal to 106.625% with
an amount equal to or less than the net cash proceeds from certain equity offerings, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption
date.

The 2029 Unsecured Notes and 2030 Unsecured Notes are effectively subordinated to any of our secured indebtedness, including indebtedness under
our credit agreements.

On March 29, 2022, we entered into a Security Agreement Supplement pursuant to which the Security and Pledge Agreement (the Security
Agreement), dated March 10, 2021 was supplemented to grant collateral on behalf of the holders of the 2024 Notes, and the parties secured under the credit
agreements (the Secured Parties) including first priority liens and security interests in (a) all present and future shares of capital stock owned by the Grantors
(as defined in the Security Agreement) in the Grantors’ present and future subsidiaries, subject to certain customary exceptions, and (b) all present and future
personal property and assets of the Grantors, subject to certain exceptions.

The Revolving Credit Agreement, the Credit Agreement, Receivables Financing Agreement, 2024 Notes, 2029 Unsecured Notes, and 2030 Unsecured
Notes contain cross-default provisions which could result in the acceleration of payments due in the event of default of any of the related agreements. The
terms of the applicable credit agreements also require us to maintain ratios for leverage and interest coverage, including on a pro forma basis in the event of an
acquisition or divestiture. We were in compliance with our debt covenants at December 31, 2022.

As of December 31, 2022, scheduled future principal payments of debt, excluding finance leases and other, were as follows:
Year  

2023 $ 15,375 
2024 273,855 
2025 136,375 
2026 43,500 
2027 402,875 
2028 6,000 
2029 1,059,500 
2030 600,000 

Of the $274 million due in 2024, $254 million is due in December 2024. Current maturities at December 31, 2022 include $9.4 million in principal
payments on our Term Loan A, $6.0 million in principal payments on our Term Loan B, and $2.5 million in current portion of finance leases.

Note 11—Share-Based Compensation

We maintain a share-based compensation plan (the Plan) that is administered by the Our People & Culture Committee of the Board of Directors. The
Plan allows us to award or grant to officers, directors and teammates incentive, non-qualified and deferred compensation stock options, stock appreciation
rights (SARs), performance stock units and performance shares (collectively Performance Stock Awards (PSAs)), restricted stock units and restricted stock
(collectively Restricted Stock Awards (RSAs)) and unrestricted stock. We use authorized and unissued common shares for grants of RSAs, SARs, PSAs or
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for stock option exercises. At December 31, 2022, approximately 5.1 million common shares were available for issuance under the Plan.

RSAs under the Plan generally vest over one, three or five years. PSAs under the Plan are issuable as restricted stock or common shares upon meeting
performance goals and generally have a total performance and vesting period of three years.

We recognize the fair value of stock-based compensation awards, which is based upon the market price of the underlying common stock at the grant
date, on a straight-line basis over the estimated requisite service period. RSAs are earned based on service conditions and PSAs are earned based on service
conditions, performance conditions, market conditions, or any combination of these. The fair value of PSAs as of the date of grant is estimated assuming that
performance goals will be achieved at target levels. If such goals are not probable of being met, or are probable of being met at different levels, recognized
compensation cost is adjusted to reflect the change in estimated fair value.

Total share-based compensation expense for December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $21.0 million, $25.0 million and $19.7 million with recognized
tax benefits of $5.5 million, $6.5 million and $5.1 million. Unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested RSAs, net of estimated forfeitures, was $27.8
million at December 31, 2022. This amount is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of 2.0 years, based on the maximum remaining
vesting period required under the awards. Unrecognized compensation cost related to nonvested PSAs as of December 31, 2022 was $4.2 million and will be
recognized primarily in 2023 and 2024 if the related performance targets are met.

The following table summarizes the activity and value of nonvested RSAs and PSAs for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020:

 2022 2021 2020

 
Number  of

Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant-date Fair
Value

Per Share
Number of

Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant-date Fair
Value

Per Share
Number of

Shares

Weighted
Average

Grant-date Fair
Value

Per Share

Nonvested awards at beginning of
year 4,325 $ 11.57 4,816 $ 7.64 4,515 $ 9.69 
Granted 2,745 19.10 2,758 14.10 2,289 7.29 
Vested (2,667) 8.11 (1,801) 9.33 (1,487) 11.94 
Forfeited (1,626) 11.25 (1,448) 6.10 (501) 7.69 
Nonvested awards at end of year 2,777 22.52 4,325 11.57 4,816 7.64 

The total fair value of RSAs and PSAs vesting during the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 was $21.6 million, $16.8 million and $17.8
million.

69



Note 12—Retirement Plans

Savings and Retirement Plans. We maintain a voluntary 401(k) savings and retirement plans covering substantially all full-time and certain part-time
teammates in the United States who have met eligibility requirements. We match a certain percentage of each teammates’ contribution. These plans also
provide for discretionary contributions by us for all eligible teammates, subject to certain limits, and discretionary profit-sharing contributions. We may
increase or decrease our contributions at our discretion, on a prospective basis. We incurred $14.0 million, $23.2 million and $21.6 million of expense related
to these plans in 2022, 2021 and 2020. We also maintain defined contribution plans in some countries outside of the United States in which we operate.
Expenses related to these plans were not material in 2022, 2021 and 2020.

U.S. Retirement Plans. We have a frozen noncontributory, unfunded retirement plan for certain retirees in the United States (U.S. Retirement Plan).

The following table sets forth the U.S. Retirement Plan’s financial status and the amounts recognized in our consolidated balance sheets:
December 31, 2022 2021
Change in benefit obligation
Benefit obligation, beginning of year $ 50,244 $ 57,384 
Interest cost 1,176 1,080 
Actuarial gain (8,359) (4,462)
Benefits paid (3,720) (3,758)
Benefit obligation, end of year $ 39,341 $ 50,244 
Change in plan assets
Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year $ — $ — 
Employer contribution 3,720 3,758 
Benefits paid (3,720) (3,758)
Fair value of plan assets, end of year $ — $ — 
Funded status, end of year $ (39,341) $ (50,244)
Amounts recognized in the consolidated balance sheets
Other current liabilities $ (3,604) $ (3,649)
Other liabilities (35,737) (46,595)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss 10,550 19,831 
Net amount recognized $ (28,791) $ (30,413)
Accumulated benefit obligation $ 39,341 $ 50,244 
Weighted average assumptions used to determine benefit obligation
Discount rate 4.87 % 2.43 %
Rate of increase in compensation levels N/A N/A

Plan benefit obligations of the U.S. Retirement Plan were measured as of December 31, 2022 and 2021. Plan benefit obligations are determined using
assumptions developed at the measurement date. The weighted average discount rate, which is used to calculate the present value of plan liabilities, is an
estimate of the interest rate at which the plan liabilities could be effectively settled at the measurement date. When estimating the discount rate, we review
yields available on high-quality, fixed-income debt instruments and use a yield curve model from which the discount rate is derived by applying the projected
benefit payments under the plan to points on a published yield curve.
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The components of net periodic benefit cost for the U.S. Retirement Plan were as follows:
Year ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Interest cost $ 1,176 $ 1,080 $ 1,420 
Recognized net actuarial loss 923 1,199 872 
Net periodic benefit cost $ 2,099 $ 2,279 $ 2,292 
Weighted average assumptions used to determine net periodic benefit cost
Discount rate 2.43 % 1.95 % 2.75 %
Rate of increase in future compensation levels N/A N/A N/A

Amounts recognized for the U.S. Retirement Plan as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss as of the end of the year that have not
been recognized as a component of the net periodic benefit cost are presented in the following table. We expect to recognize approximately $0.4 million of the
net actuarial loss reported in the following table as of December 31, 2022, as a component of net periodic benefit cost during 2023.

Year ended December 31, 2022 2021
Net actuarial loss $ (10,550) $ (19,831)
Deferred tax benefit 4,964 9,571 
Amounts included in accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax $ (5,586) $ (10,260)

As of December 31, 2022, the expected benefit payments required for each of the next five years and the five-year period thereafter for the U.S.
Retirement Plan were as follows:
Year  
2023 $ 3,561 
2024 3,349 
2025 3,142 
2026 2,924 
2027 2,728 
2028-2032 10,697 

International Retirement Plans. Certain of our foreign subsidiaries have defined benefit pension plans covering substantially all of their respective
teammates. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the accumulated benefit obligation under these plans was $11.8 million and $12.3 million. We recorded $3.6
million, $3.6 million and $2.3 million in net periodic benefit cost in other expense (income), net for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020.

Note 13—Derivatives

We enter into foreign currency contracts to manage our foreign exchange exposure related to certain balance sheet items that do not meet the
requirements for hedge accounting. These derivative instruments are adjusted to fair value at the end of each period through earnings. The gain or loss recorded
on these instruments is substantially offset by the remeasurement adjustment on the foreign currency denominated asset or liability.

We pay interest on our Credit Agreement which fluctuates based on changes in our benchmark interest rates. In order to mitigate the risk of increases
in benchmark rates, we entered into an interest rate swap agreement whereby we agree to exchange with the counterparty, at specified intervals, the difference
between fixed and variable amounts calculated by reference to the notional amount. The interest rate swaps were designated as cash flow hedges. Cash flows
related to the interest rate swap agreement are included in interest expense.

We determine the fair value of our foreign currency derivatives and interest rate swaps based on observable market-based inputs or unobservable
inputs that are corroborated by market data. We do not view the fair value of our derivatives in isolation, but rather in relation to the fair values or cash flows of
the underlying exposure. All derivatives are carried at fair value in our consolidated balance sheets. We consider the risk of counterparty default to be minimal.
We report cash flows from our hedging instruments in the same cash flow statement category as the hedged items.

The following table summarizes the terms and fair value of our outstanding derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2022:
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Derivative Assets Derivative Liabilities
Notional Amount Maturity Date Classification Fair Value Classification Fair Value

Cash flow hedges
Interest rate swaps $ 400,000 March 2027 Other assets, net $ 15,461 Other liabilities $ — 

Economic (non-designated) hedges

Foreign currency contracts $ 58,321 January 2023 Other current
assets $ 440 Other current

liabilities $ 42 

The following table summarizes the terms and fair value of our outstanding derivative financial instruments as of December 31, 2021:
Derivative Assets Derivative Liabilities

Notional
Amount Maturity Date Classification Fair Value Classification Fair Value

Cash flow hedges

Foreign currency contracts $ 9,700 January 2022 Other current
assets $ 81 Other current

liabilities $ — 

In March 2021, we terminated $300 million in notional value of interest rate swaps concurrent with the debt financing transaction. The balance of the
fair value adjustments of $25.1 million, which related to these terminated interest rate swaps, within accumulated other comprehensive loss was reclassified to
loss on extinguishment of debt within our consolidated statements of operations for the year ended December 31, 2021.

The following table summarizes the effect of cash flow hedge accounting on our consolidated statements of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2022:

Amount of Gain
Recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income
(Loss)

Location of Loss Reclassified
from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss into
Income

Total Amount of Expense Line Items
Presented in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations in Which
the Effects are Recorded

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Reclassified from
Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss into
Income

Interest rate swaps $ 14,814 Interest expense, net $ (128,891) $ (647)

The amount of ineffectiveness associated with these contracts was immaterial for the periods presented.

The following table summarizes the effect of cash flow hedge accounting on our consolidated statements of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2021:

Amount of Loss
Recognized in Other
Comprehensive Income

Location of Loss Reclassified
from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss into
Income

Total Amount of Expense Line Items
Presented in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations in Which
the Effects are Recorded

Amount of Gain/(Loss)
Reclassified from
Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss into
Income

Interest rate swaps $ 2,426 
Loss on extinguishment of

debt $ (40,433) $ (25,518)

The amount of ineffectiveness associated with these contracts was immaterial for the periods presented.
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The following table summarizes the effect of cash flow hedge accounting on our consolidated statements of operations for the year ended
December 31, 2020:

Amount of Loss
Recognized in Other
Comprehensive Loss

Location of Loss Reclassified
from Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Loss into
Income

Total Amount of Expense Line Items
Presented in the Consolidated
Statement of Operations in Which the
Effects are Recorded

Amount of Gain/(Loss)
Reclassified from Accumulated
Other Comprehensive Loss into
Income

Interest rate swaps $ (19,741) Interest expense, net $ (83,398) $ (9,232)

The amount of ineffectiveness associated with these contracts was immaterial for the periods presented.

For the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 we recognized a loss of $0.9 million, $2.3 million and $0.7 million, associated with our
economic (non-designated) foreign currency contracts.

We recorded the change in fair value of derivative instruments and the remeasurement adjustment of the foreign currency denominated asset or
liability in other operating (income) expense, net for our foreign exchange contracts.

Note 14—Income Taxes

The components of income from continuing operations before income taxes consist of the following:

Year ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Income from continuing operations before income taxes:

U.S. $ (17,650) $ 231,424 $ 80,632 
Foreign 28,541 45,330 29,276 

Income from continuing operations before income taxes $ 10,891 $ 276,754 $ 109,908 

The income tax provision (benefit) consists of the following:

Year ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Current tax provision (benefit):

Federal $ 1,090 $ 54,087 $ (4,430)
State 5,125 15,961 6,527 
Foreign 8,648 14,853 4,172 

Total current tax provision 14,863 84,901 6,269 
Deferred tax provision (benefit):

Federal (8,671) (22,046) 16,512 
State (5,395) (4,175) (1,132)
Foreign (12,295) (3,515) 185 

Total deferred tax provision (benefit) (26,361) (29,736) 15,565 
Total income tax (benefit) provision $ (11,498) $ 55,165 $ 21,834 
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A reconciliation of the federal statutory rate to our effective income tax rate is shown below:
Year ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020
Federal statutory rate 21.0 % 21.0 % 21.0 %
Increases (decreases) in the rate resulting from:

Net capital loss on divestiture — % (1.0)% (24.8)%
Tax reform — % (1.2)% (11.4)%
Unrecognized tax benefits 10.2 % 0.1 % 5.0 %
State income taxes, net of federal income tax impact (7.1)% 3.1 % 3.2 %
Research and development credit (29.9)% (0.8)% (2.9)%
Foreign income taxes 0.5 % 0.3 % 0.7 %
Valuation allowance — % 1.1 % 27.1 %
Restricted stock vestings (57.3)% (2.1)% 1.0 %
Nondeductible compensation 28.9 % 1.0 % — %
Foreign repatriation change (Thailand) (96.3)% — % — %
Non-deductible transaction costs 19.5 % — % — %
Foreign derived intangible income (FDII) — % (3.2)% — %
Global intangible low-taxed income 5.0 % — % — %
Other (0.1)% 1.6 % 1.0 %
Effective income tax rate (105.6)% 19.9 % 19.9 %
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The tax effects of temporary differences that give rise to significant portions of the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are presented below:
December 31, 2022 2021
Deferred tax assets:

Employee benefit plans $ 27,923 $ 40,121 
Accrued liabilities not currently deductible 15,640 24,659 
Finance charges 2,143 2,019 
Lease liabilities 80,300 57,056 
Allowance for losses on accounts receivable 6,703 3,370 
Net operating loss carryforwards 55,992 4,985 
Capital loss carryover 30,034 30,323 
Interest limitation 19,890 206 
R&D Capitalized Costs 14,017 — 
Other 7,982 4,694 

Total deferred tax assets 260,624 167,433 
Less: valuation allowances (35,253) (34,706)

Net deferred tax assets 225,371 132,727 
Deferred tax liabilities:

Merchandise inventories 18,904 32,261 
Goodwill 4,151 2,759 
Property and equipment 86,451 32,607 
Right-of-use assets 75,623 52,755 
Computer software 5,532 8,068 
Derivatives 4,020 — 
Insurance (20) 1,040 
Intangible assets 81,068 21,953 
Withholding tax liabilities — 7,072 
Other 826 101 

Total deferred tax liabilities 276,555 158,616 
Net deferred tax liability $ (51,184) $ (25,889)

The valuation allowances relate to deferred tax assets for U.S. federal and state capital loss carryforwards and net operating loss carryforwards in
various state jurisdictions. The U.S. capital loss carryforward, which has a full valuation allowance, has an expiration date of five years. As of December 31,
2022, federal net operating losses of approximately $190.6 million are available to offset future federal taxable income. The entire $190.6 million of net
operating losses have an unlimited carryforward period and will not expire. The capital loss and net operating loss carryforwards in various state jurisdictions
have various expiration dates ranging from five years to an unlimited carryforward period. Based on management’s judgment using available evidence about
historical and expected future taxable earnings, management believes it is more likely than not that we will realize the benefit of the existing deferred tax
assets, net of valuation allowances, at December 31, 2022.

Cash payments for income taxes, including interest, for 2022, 2021 and 2020 were $38.1 million, $102 million and $15.4 million. Cash tax refunds
received for 2022, 2021 and 2020 were $4.2 million, $2.5 million and $32.8 million.

75



A summary of the changes in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits from the beginning to the end of the reporting period is as follows:
2022 2021

Unrecognized tax benefits at January 1, $ 21,385 $ 20,770 
Increases for positions taken during current period 1,016 858 
Increases for positions taken during prior periods 325 2,422 
Lapse of statute of limitations (227) (2,665)
Unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, $ 22,499 $ 21,385 

Included in the liability for unrecognized tax benefits at December 31, 2022 and 2021, were $2.7 million of tax positions for which the ultimate
deductibility is highly certain but for which there is uncertainty about the timing of such deductibility. These tax positions are temporary differences which do
not impact the annual effective tax rate under deferred tax accounting. Any change in the deductibility period of these tax positions would impact the timing of
cash payments to taxing jurisdictions. Unrecognized tax benefits of $19.8 million and $18.7 million at December 31, 2022 and 2021 would impact our effective
tax rate if recognized and the remaining would not impact our effective tax rate.

We recognize accrued interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits. Accrued interest at December 31, 2022 and 2021 was $3.9 million
and $2.9 million. The amounts recognized in interest expense for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 were $1.0 million, $0.3 million and
$1.3 million. There were no penalties accrued at December 31, 2022, 2021 and 2020 or recognized in 2022, 2021 and 2020.

On August 26, 2020, we received a Notice of Proposed Adjustment (NOPA) from the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) regarding our 2015 and 2016
consolidated income tax returns. On June 30, 2021, we received a NOPA from the IRS regarding our 2017 and 2018 consolidated income tax returns. Within
the NOPAs, the IRS has asserted that our taxable income for the aforementioned years should be higher based on their assessment of the appropriate amount of
taxable income that we should report in the United States in connection with our sourcing of products by our foreign subsidiaries for sale in the United States
by our domestic subsidiaries. Our amount of taxable income in the United States is based on our transfer pricing methodology, which has been consistently
applied through the current date. We strongly disagree with the IRS position and will pursue all available administrative and judicial remedies, including those
available under the U.S. - Ireland Income Tax Treaty to alleviate double taxation. We regularly assess the likelihood of adverse outcomes resulting from
examinations such as this to determine the adequacy of our tax reserves. We believe that we have adequately reserved for this matter and that the final
adjudication of this matter will not have a material impact on our consolidated financial position, results of operations or cash flows. However, the ultimate
outcome of disputes of this nature is uncertain, and if the IRS were to prevail on its assertions, the additional tax, interest, and any potential penalties could
have a material adverse impact on our financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

We file income tax returns in the U.S. federal and various state and foreign jurisdictions. Our U.S. federal income tax returns for the years 2015
through 2021 are subject to examination. Our income tax returns for U.S. state and local jurisdictions are generally open for the years 2019 through 2021;
however, certain returns may be subject to examination for differing periods. The former owners are contractually obligated to indemnify us for all income tax
liabilities incurred by Byram entities prior to its acquisition on August 1, 2017, and for all income tax liabilities incurred by the Halyard foreign entities located
in Thailand, Mexico, and Honduras prior to its acquisition on April 30, 2018.
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Note 15—Net Income per Common Share

The following table summarizes the calculation of net income per share attributable to common shareholders for the years ended December 31, 2022,
2021 and 2020:

Year ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020

Income from continuing operations, net of tax $ 22,389 $ 221,589 $ 88,074 
Loss from discontinued operations, net of tax — — (58,203)
Net income $ 22,389 $ 221,589 $ 29,871 

Weighted average shares outstanding - basic 74,496 72,744 63,368 
Dilutive shares 1,721 2,742 144 
Weighted average shares outstanding - diluted 76,217 75,486 63,512 

Basic income (loss) per common share:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.30 $ 3.05 $ 1.39 
Loss from discontinued operations — — (0.92)
Net income $ 0.30 $ 3.05 $ 0.47 

Diluted income (loss) per common share:
Income from continuing operations $ 0.29 $ 2.94 $ 1.39 
Loss from discontinued operations — — (0.92)
Net income $ 0.29 $ 2.94 $ 0.47 

Note 16—Shareholders’ Equity

In May 2020, we entered into an equity distribution agreement, pursuant to which we may offer and sell, from time to time, shares of our common
stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $50.0 million. We intend to use the net proceeds from the sale of our securities offered by this program for the
repayment of indebtedness and/or for general corporate and working capital purposes. As of December 31, 2022, no shares were issued and $50.0 million of
common stock remained available under the at-the-market equity financing program.

On October 6, 2020, we completed a follow-on equity offering wherein we sold an aggregate of 8,475,000 shares of our common stock at an offering
price of $20.50, resulting in net proceeds to us of approximately $165 million, after deducting expenses relating to the follow-on equity offering, including the
underwriters’ discounts and commissions. Pursuant to the underwriting agreement, we granted the underwriters an option to purchase up to an additional
1,271,250 shares of our common stock, which the underwriters exercised in full. Inclusive of this exercised option, net proceeds to us were approximately
$190 million, after deducting expenses relating to the follow-on equity offering, including the underwriters’ discounts and commissions. We used the proceeds
from the follow-on equity offering to repay the remaining $109 million outstanding balance of Term Loan A-1 at par on October 8, 2020, to repay
$51.7 million of our Term Loan A-2 at par on October 15, 2020, and to repay $30.0 million of borrowings under the revolving credit facility.

77



Note 17—Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

The following tables show the changes in accumulated other comprehensive loss by component for the years ended December 31, 2022, 2021 and
2020:

 Retirement Plans

Currency
Translation

Adjustments Derivatives Total

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, December 31, 2021 $ (14,597) $ (25,994) $ — $ (40,591)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 8,359 (14,101) 14,814 9,072 
Income tax (1,646) — (3,851) (5,497)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications, net of tax 6,713 (14,101) 10,963 3,575 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss 923 — 647 1,570 
Income tax (240) — (169) (409)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax 683 — 478 1,161 
Other comprehensive income (loss) 7,396 (14,101) 11,441 4,736 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, December 31, 2022 $ (7,201) $ (40,095) $ 11,441 $ (35,855)

 Retirement Plans

Currency
Translation

Adjustments Derivatives Total

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, December 31, 2020 $ (18,447) $ (18) $ (20,044) $ (38,509)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications 4,462 (25,976) 2,426 (19,088)
Income tax (1,428) — (611) (2,039)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications, net of tax 3,034 (25,976) 1,815 (21,127)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss 1,199 — 25,518 26,717 
Income tax (383) — (7,289) (7,672)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax 816 — 18,229 19,045 
Other comprehensive income (loss) 3,850 (25,976) 20,044 (2,082)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, December 31, 2021 $ (14,597) $ (25,994) $ — $ (40,591)

Retirement Plans

Currency
Translation

Adjustments Derivatives Total

Accumulated other comprehensive loss, December 31, 2019 $ (14,691) $ (25,301) $ (12,715) $ (52,707)
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications (6,632) 9,703 (19,741) (16,670)
Income tax 1,945 — 5,789 7,734 
Other comprehensive income (loss) before reclassifications, net of tax (4,687) 9,703 (13,952) (8,936)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss 1,297 15,580 9,232 26,109 
Income tax (366) — (2,609) (2,975)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other comprehensive loss, net of tax 931 15,580 6,623 23,134 
Other comprehensive income (loss) (3,756) 25,283 (7,329) 14,198 
Accumulated other comprehensive loss, December 31, 2020 $ (18,447) $ (18) $ (20,044) $ (38,509)

We include amounts reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive loss related to defined benefit pension plans as a component of net periodic
pension cost recorded in other expense (income), net.
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Note 18—Commitments and Contingencies

We have a contractual commitment to outsource information technology operations, including the management and operation of our information
technology systems and distributed services processing, as well as application support, development and enhancement services. This agreement expires in July
2025, with two optional, consecutive one-year extensions. The commitment is cancellable with 90 days' notice and payment of a termination fee based upon the
remaining period left under the agreement.

We pay scheduled fees under the agreement, which can vary based on changes in the level of support required. Assuming no early termination of the
contract, our estimated remaining annual obligations under this agreement are $32.6 million in 2023, $32.1 million in 2024, and $15.9 million in 2025.

Note 19—Legal Proceedings

We are party to various legal claims that are ordinary and incidental to our business, including ones related to commercial disputes, employment,
workers’ compensation, product liability, regulatory and other matters. We maintain insurance coverage for employment, product liability, workers’
compensation and other personal injury litigation matters, subject to policy limits, applicable deductibles and insurer solvency. We establish reserves from time
to time based upon periodic assessment of the potential outcomes of pending matters.

Based on current knowledge and the advice of counsel, we believe that the accrual as of December 31, 2022 for currently pending matters considered
probable of loss, which is not material, is sufficient. In addition, we believe that other currently pending matters are not reasonably possible to result in a
material loss, as payment of the amounts claimed is remote, the claims are immaterial, individually and in the aggregate, or the claims are expected to be
adequately covered by insurance, subject to policy limits, applicable deductibles, exclusions, and insurer solvency.

Note 20—Segment Information

We periodically evaluate our application of accounting guidance for reportable segments and disclose information about reportable segments based on
the way management organizes the enterprise for making operating decisions and assessing performance. We report our business under two segments: Products
& Healthcare Services and Patient Direct. The Products & Healthcare Services segment includes our United States distribution business (Medical Distribution),
outsourced logistics and value-added services business, and our Global Products business which manufactures and sources medical surgical products through
our production and kitting operations. The Patient Direct segment includes our home healthcare businesses (Byram and Apria).

We evaluate the performance of our segments based on their operating income excluding intangible amortization, acquisition-related, exit and
realignment charges, along with other adjustments, that, either as a result of their nature or size, would not be expected to occur as part of our normal business
operations on a regular basis. Segment assets exclude inter-segment account balances as we believe their inclusion would be misleading and not meaningful.
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The following tables present financial information by segment:
Year ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020

Net revenue:
Products & Healthcare Services $ 7,898,397 $ 8,825,646 $ 7,662,429 
Patient Direct 2,057,078 959,669 817,748 

Consolidated net revenue $ 9,955,475 $ 9,785,315 $ 8,480,177 

Operating income:
Products & Healthcare Services $ 175,309 $ 384,390 $ 215,698 
Patient Direct 193,748 57,966 67,662 
Intangible amortization (78,847) (39,807) (41,490)
Acquisition-related and exit and realignment charges (55,022) (34,076) (37,752)
Inventory valuation adjustment (92,275) — — 

Consolidated operating income $ 142,913 $ 368,473 $ 204,118 

Depreciation and amortization:
Products & Healthcare Services $ 77,539 $ 75,548 $ 77,131 
Patient Direct 151,128 15,073 16,205 

Consolidated depreciation and amortization $ 228,667 $ 90,621 $ 93,336 

Capital expenditures:
Products & Healthcare Services $ 49,824 $ 48,282 $ 55,110 
Patient Direct 116,758 1,408 1,056 

Discontinued operations — — 3,027 
Consolidated capital expenditures $ 166,582 $ 49,690 $ 59,193 

Relates to an inventory valuation adjustment in our Products & Healthcare Services segment, primarily associated with PPE inventory built up and a subsequent decline in demand as a
result of the COVID-19 pandemic.

December 31, 2022 2021

Total assets:
Products & Healthcare Services $ 2,809,600 $ 3,012,303 
Patient Direct 2,507,216 468,536 

Segment assets 5,316,816 3,480,839 
Cash and cash equivalents 69,467 55,712 

Consolidated total assets $ 5,386,283 $ 3,536,551 

The following tables present information by geographic area. Net revenues were attributed to geographic areas based on the locations from which we
ship products or provide services.

Year ended December 31, 2022 2021 2020

Net revenue:
United States $ 9,526,037 $ 9,250,331 $ 8,130,411 
International 429,438 534,984 349,766 

Consolidated net revenue $ 9,955,475 $ 9,785,315 $ 8,480,177 

(1)

(1) 
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December 31, 2022 2021

Long-lived assets:
United States $ 1,226,108 $ 641,630 
International 116,524 113,363 

Consolidated long-lived assets $ 1,342,632 $ 754,993 
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Shareholders and Board of Directors
Owens & Minor, Inc.:

Opinion on the Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Owens & Minor, Inc. and subsidiaries (the Company) as of December 31, 2022 and 2021,
the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income, changes in shareholders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the years in the three-year
period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes (collectively, the consolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, and the results of its operations and
its cash flows for each of the years in the three-year period ended December 31, 2022, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Control – Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, and our report dated February 28, 2023 expressed an unqualified opinion on the
effectiveness of the Company’s internal control over financial reporting.

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated
financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respect to the
Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the
PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing
procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that
respond to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements. Our audits also included evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
    
Critical Audit Matters

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that were
communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are material to the consolidated
financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or complex judgments. The communication of critical audit matters does not alter
in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing
separate opinions on the critical audit matters or on the accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Evaluation of fair value of acquired intangible assets

As discussed in Note 3 to the consolidated financial statements, on March 29, 2022 the Company completed the acquisition of 100% of Apria, Inc.,
which was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting. The Company recorded intangible assets with an acquisition-date fair value of
$315 million, which included certain trade names and payor and capitated relationships intangible assets. The fair value of intangible assets acquired
have been estimated based on various valuation methods, including the income approach.

We identified the evaluation of the acquisition-date fair values of certain trade names and payor and capitated relationships intangible assets as a
critical audit matter. A higher degree of auditor judgment was required to evaluate certain projected revenues used in the valuation models to
determine the fair value of these intangible assets.
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The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of certain internal controls related to the Company’s acquisition-date valuation process, including controls related to the development of
the projected revenues. We performed sensitivity analyses over the projected revenues to assess the impact of changes in those assumptions on the
Company’s determination of fair value. We assessed management’s projected revenues by comparing them to historical revenue trends. In addition, we
involved valuation professionals with specialized skills and knowledge, who assisted in evaluating the projected revenues by comparing them to the
projected revenues of a set of comparable companies and other market data.

Estimates of variable consideration on equipment and supplies sales and estimated adjustments on equipment rental revenues

As discussed in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, within the Company’s Patient Direct segment, revenues are recognized under fee-for-
service arrangements for equipment rented to patients and sales of equipment, supplies and other items sold to patients. The Company’s Patient Direct
segment net revenue was $2,057 million for the year ended December 31, 2022. Revenues are recorded at amounts estimated to be received under
reimbursement arrangements with third-party payors, including private insurers, prepaid health plans, Medicare, Medicaid and patients. The Company
determines the transaction price based on contractually agreed-upon amounts or rates, adjusted for estimates of variable consideration on equipment
and supplies sales and estimated adjustments to record revenue at an amount probable of being collected for equipment rental revenues. The Company
uses contractual agreements, historical experience, and other operating trends to determine the estimates of variable consideration on equipment and
supplies sales and estimated adjustments on equipment rental revenues.

We identified the evaluation of the estimates of variable consideration on equipment and supplies sales and estimated adjustments on equipment rental
revenues as a critical audit matter. A higher degree of auditor judgment was required to evaluate the relevance and reliability of the historical
experience and other operating trends.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and tested the operating
effectiveness of certain internal controls over the Company’s estimate of variable consideration on certain equipment and supplies sales. We assessed
the relevance and reliability of the Company’s historical experience on net revenues recorded during the current year by selecting certain historical
payments and comparing them to underlying support. We assessed management’s ability to estimate by comparing previous estimates to actual results
and current estimates. We also compared current operating trends to the current year estimates.

/s/ KPMG LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 1987.

Richmond, Virginia
February 28, 2023
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Index to Exhibits
2.1 Purchase Agreement, dated as of October 31, 2017, by and among Halyard Health, Inc., the other sellers party thereto and Owens & Minor,

Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K/A, Exhibit 2.1, dated November 1, 2017) **

2.2 Amended and Restated Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2018, by and among Halyard Health, Inc., the other sellers party thereto
and Owens & Minor, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 2.1, dated May 1, 2018)

2.3 Purchase Agreement, dated as of April 6, 2020 by and among EHDH Holding Group and Owens & Minor, Inc. (incorporated herein by
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K/A Exhibit 2.1, dated January 16, 2020)**

2.4 Agreement and Plan of Merger, dated as of January 7, 2022, by and among the Company, Apria and Merger Sub (incorporated herein by
reference to the Company's Current Report on For 8-K, Exhibit 2.01, dated January 10, 2022)

3.1 Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation of Owens & Minor, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-
K, Exhibit 3.1, dated July 29, 2008)

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Company effective October 28, 2022 (incorporated herein by reference to the our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, Exhibit 3.1, dated November 2, 2022)

4.1 Indenture, dated September 16, 2014, by and among Owens & Minor, Inc., Owens and Minor Distribution, Inc., Owens & Minor Medical,
Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 4.1, dated
September 17, 2014)

4.2 First Supplemental Indenture, dated September 16, 2014, by and among Owens & Minor, Inc., Owens and Minor Distribution, Inc.,
Owens & Minor Medical, Inc. and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on
Form 8-K, Exhibit 4.2, dated September 17, 2014)

4.3 Form of Global Note for the 3.875% Senior Notes due 2021 (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit A
of Exhibit 4.2, dated September 17, 2014)

4.4 Form of Global Note for the 4.375% Senior Notes due 2024 (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit B
of Exhibit 4.2, dated September 17, 2014)

4.5 Third Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 30, 2018, by and among Owens & Minor, Inc., the guarantors signatory thereto and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee. (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 4.1, dated May 4, 2018)

4.6 Fourth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of February 12, 2019, among Owens & Minor, Inc., the guarantors signatory thereto and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee. (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 4.1, dated February 19, 2019)

4.7 Indenture, dated March 10, 2021, among Owens & Minor, Inc., the guarantors named therein and Regions Bank, as Trustee (incorporated
herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 4.1, dated March 11, 2021)

4.8 Form of Global Note for the 4.500% Senior Notes due 2029 (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1 hereto) (incorporated herein by reference
to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 4.2, dated March 11, 2021)

4.9 Sixth Supplemental Indenture, dated as of March 10, 2021, by and among Owens & Minor, Inc., the guarantors signatory thereto and U.S.
Bank National Association, as trustee (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 4.3, dated
March 11, 2021).

4.10 Indenture dated March 29, 2022 by and among the Company, the guarantors named therein and Regions Bank, as trustee (incorporated
herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 4.1, dated March 29, 2022)

4.11 Form of Global Note for the 6.625% Senior Notes due 2030 (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-
K, Exhibit 4.2, dated March 29, 2022)
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4.12 Seventh Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 29, 2022, by and among the Company, the guarantors named therein and U.S. Bank
National Association, as trustee (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 4.3, dated March
29, 2022)

4.13 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 29, 2022, by and among the Company, the guarantors named therein and Regions Bank, as
trustee, to the Indenture dated as of March 10, 2021 (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
Exhibit 4.4, dated March 29, 2022)

4.14 First Supplemental Indenture dated as of March 29, 2022, by and among the Company, the guarantors named therein and Regions Bank, as
trustee, to the Indenture dated of March 29, 2022 (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit
4.5, dated March 29, 2022)

4.15 Description of Securities - filed herewith

10.1 Form of Director Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2015 Plan (incorporated herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
Exhibit 10.3, for the quarter ended March 31, 2016)*

10.2 Form of Owens & Minor, Inc. Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2018 Stock Incentive Plan effective February 28, 2019 (incorporated
herein by reference to our Current report on 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated March 1, 2019)*

10.3 Owens & Minor, Inc. Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2005 (incorporated herein by
reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.3, for the quarter ended September 30, 2008)*

10.4 Form of Owens & Minor, Inc. Executive Severance Agreement effective January 1, 2011 (incorporated herein by reference to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.10, for the year ended December 31, 2010)*

10.5 Form of Owens & Minor, Inc. Executive Change in Control Severance Agreement between Owens & Minor, Inc. and Edward A. Pesicka
effective March 4, 2019 (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated February 25, 2019)*

10.6 Form of Owens & Minor, Inc. Executive Change in Control Severance Agreement effective October 25, 2018 (incorporated herein by
reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.7, for the year ended December 31, 2018)*

10.7 Owens & Minor, Inc. Supplemental Executive Retirement Plan, as amended and restated effective January 1, 2005 (“SERP”) (incorporated
herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.1, for the quarter ended September 30, 2008)*

10.8 Resolutions of the Board of Directors of the Company amending the SERP (incorporated herein by reference to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.12, for the year ended December 31, 2011)*

10.9 Amendment effective March 1, 2016 of the Company’s SERP (incorporated herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
Exhibit 10.6, for the quarter ended March 31, 2016)*

10.10 Amendment effective March 1, 2016 of Exhibit II of the Company’s SERP (incorporated herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.7, for the quarter ended March 31, 2016)*

10.11 Owens & Minor, Inc. Amended and Restated Management Equity Ownership Program and Stock Ownership Rewards Program
(incorporated herein by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.15, for the year ended December 31, 2009)*

10.12 Amendment to MEOP effective January 1, 2014 (incorporated herein by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.10, for
the year ended December 31, 2013)*

10.13 Owens & Minor, Inc. Executive Deferred Compensation and Retirement Plan effective January 1, 2013 (incorporated herein by reference to
our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.1, for the quarter ended March 31, 2013)*

10.14 Form of Owens & Minor, Inc. Restricted Stock Agreement under the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to our
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.2, for the quarter ended March 31, 2016)*
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10.15 Form of Owens & Minor, Inc. Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Company’s 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.1, for the quarter ended March 31, 2016)*

10.16 Form of Owens & Minor Director Restricted Stock Agreement under the Company’s 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated May 9, 2018)*

10.17 Form of Owens & Minor Restricted Stock Agreement under the Company’s 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to
our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.2, dated May 9, 2018)*

10.18 Form of Owens & Minor Restricted Stock Unit Agreement under the Company’s 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.3, dated May 9, 2018)*

10.19 Form of 2016 Performance Share Award Agreement under the 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to our Quarterly
Report on Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.4, for the quarter ended March 31, 2016)*

10.20 Form of Owens & Minor, Inc. 2019 Performance Share Award Agreement under the 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to our Current report on 8-K, Exhibit 10.2, dated March 1, 2019)*

10.21 Form of Owens & Minor, Inc. 2020 Performance Share Award Agreement under the 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to our Current report on 8-K, Exhibit 10.2, dated May 1, 2020)*

10.22 Owens & Minor, Inc. Officer Severance Policy dated May 7, 2018 (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K,
Exhibit 10.4, dated May 9, 2018)*

10.23 Policy on Recoupment of Executive Incentive Compensation (incorporated herein by reference to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Exhibit
10.36, for the year ended December 31, 2009)*

10.24 Owens & Minor, Inc. 2015 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to our Registration Statement on Form S-8, Registration
Number 333-203826)*

10.25 Owens & Minor, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to our Registration Statement on Form S-8, Registration
number 333-224787)*

10.26 Credit Agreement dated as of June 5, 2012 by and among Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc. and Owens & Minor Medical, Inc. (as
Borrowers), Owens & Minor, Inc. and certain of its domestic subsidiaries (as Guarantors), Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (as Administrative
Agent), JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (as Syndication Agent) and a syndicate of banks as specified on the signature pages thereof
(incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated June 8, 2012)

10.27 First Amendment dated as of September 17, 2014 by and among Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc. and Owens & Minor Medical, Inc. ( as
Borrowers), Owens & Minor, Inc. and certain of its domestic subsidiaries (as Guarantors) and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. ( as Administrative
Agent), to the Credit Agreement dated as of June 5, 2012 by and among the Borrowers, the Guarantors, a syndicate of financial institutions
party thereto, the Administrative Agent, and the other agents party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form
8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated September 18, 2014)

10.28 Interest Purchase Agreement, dated as of May 2, 2017, by and among Owens & Minor, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC, Barista Acquisition
II, LLC , Mediq B.V. , Mediq International B.V. and Mediq USA Holdings (incorporated herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.1, for the quarter ended March 31, 2017)

10.29 Owens & Minor, Inc. 2017 Teammate Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s Definitive Proxy
Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 22, 2017 (File No. 001-09810))*

10.30 Credit Agreement, dated as of July 27, 2017, by and among Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc., Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., Barista
Acquisition I, LLC, and Barista Acquisition II, LLC,  (the “Borrowers”), Owens & Minor, Inc. and certain of its domestic subsidiaries
(together, the “Guarantors), Merrill Lynch, Pierce, Fenner & Smith Incorporated, and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (the “Administrative Agent”),
a syndicate of financial institutions party thereto,  and the other agents party thereto (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report
on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated July 28, 2017)
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10.31 Restated Guaranty Agreement, dated as of the February 12, 2019, by and among Owens  & Minor, Inc., the other Guarantors party thereto
and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent for the Pro Rata Facilities and the Term B Facility (incorporated herein by reference to
our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated February 19, 2019)

10.32 Security and Pledge Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2018, by and among Owens & Minor, Inc., O&M Halyard, Inc., Owens & Minor
Distribution, Inc., Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC and Barista Acquisition II, LLC, Bank of America, N.A., U.S.
Bank National Association, and the other secured parties thereto. (incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K,
Exhibit 10.2, dated May 4, 2018)

10.33 First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of March 29, 2018, by and among Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc., Owens  & Minor
Medical, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC, and Barista Acquisition II, LLC, as Borrowers, Owens  & Minor, Inc. and certain of its domestic
subsidiaries, as Guarantors, the banks party thereto and Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent for the banks party thereto
(incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K/A, Exhibit 10.1, dated April 18, 2018)

10.34 Second Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of April 30, 2018, by and among O&M Halyard, Inc., Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc.,
Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC and Barista Acquisition II, LLC, Owens & Minor, Inc. and each other domestic
subsidiary of the Company party thereto from time to time, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for certain of the credit
facilities, Bank of America, N.A., as collateral agent and administrative agent for the term B facility, and the other agents party thereto.
(incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated May 4, 2018)

10.35 Third Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of May 9, 2018, by and among O&M Halyard, Inc., Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc.,
Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC and Barista Acquisition II, LLC, Owens & Minor, Inc. and each other domestic
subsidiary of the Company party thereto from time to time, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., as administrative agent for certain of the credit
facilities, Bank of America, N.A., as collateral agent and administrative agent for the term B facility, and the other agents party thereto.
(incorporated herein by reference to our Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.9, dated May 10, 2018)

10.36 Fourth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 12, 2019, by and among O&M Halyard, Inc., Owens & Minor Distribution,
Inc., Owens  & Minor Medical, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC and Barista Acquisition II, LLC, Owens  & Minor, Inc. and each other
domestic subsidiary of the Company party thereto from time to time, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent for certain of the credit
facilities and as collateral agent and administrative agent for the term B facility, and the other agents party thereto. (incorporated herein by
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated February 19, 2019)

10.37 Amendment to the Owens & Minor, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (Incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K,
Exhibit 10.1, dated May 10, 2019*

10.38 Owens & Minor, Inc. Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan, as Amended and Restated Effective May 10, 2019 ((Incorporated herein by
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.2, dated May 10, 2019*

10.39 Fifth Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of February 13, 2020, by and among O&M Halyard, Inc., Owens & Minor Distribution,
Inc., Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., Barista Acquisition I, LLC and Barista Acquisition II, LLC, Owens & Minor, Inc. and each other
domestic subsidiary of the Company party thereto from time to time, Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent for certain of the credit
facilities and as collateral agent and administrative agent for the term B facility, and the other agents party thereto. (Incorporated herein by
reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated February 18, 2020)

10.40 Receivables Financing Agreement, dated as of February 19, 2020, by and among Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., as the initial servicer, O&M
Funding LLC, as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto, PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent, and PNC
Capital Markets LLC, as structuring agent. (Incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated
February 19, 2020)

10.41 Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of February 19, 2020, by and among Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc., as the originator, Owens &
Minor Medical, Inc., as servicer, and O&M Funding LLC, as buyer. (Incorporated herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K,
Exhibit 10.2, dated February 19, 2020)

10.42 Performance Guaranty of Owens & Minor, Inc., dated as of February 19, 2020 in favor of PNC Bank, National Association. (Incorporated
herein by reference to our Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.3, dated February 19, 2020)

10.43 Amendment No. 2 to the Owens & Minor, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Company’s
Definitive Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A filed March 19, 2020. (File No. 001-09810))*

87

https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-19-044233.html?hash=56e1444a074db2b66d89d9ffc4884bc14892e533ea12a952a9ebde0de6962aa0&dest=d698833dex102_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-19-044233.html?hash=56e1444a074db2b66d89d9ffc4884bc14892e533ea12a952a9ebde0de6962aa0&dest=d698833dex102_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-19-044233.html?hash=56e1444a074db2b66d89d9ffc4884bc14892e533ea12a952a9ebde0de6962aa0&dest=d698833dex102_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000066.html?hash=efb9b555b8e5bafe847f3ab04c65e4bead919d06153cc477cca72633e81c618a&dest=ex102418creditagmt_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000066.html?hash=efb9b555b8e5bafe847f3ab04c65e4bead919d06153cc477cca72633e81c618a&dest=ex102418creditagmt_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000066.html?hash=efb9b555b8e5bafe847f3ab04c65e4bead919d06153cc477cca72633e81c618a&dest=ex102418creditagmt_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000066.html?hash=efb9b555b8e5bafe847f3ab04c65e4bead919d06153cc477cca72633e81c618a&dest=ex102418creditagmt_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-18-120172.html?hash=3d308045a10d71838c7d9e021cac865905d9546083c639573b9c3222d5f858b2&dest=d575719dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-18-120172.html?hash=3d308045a10d71838c7d9e021cac865905d9546083c639573b9c3222d5f858b2&dest=d575719dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-18-120172.html?hash=3d308045a10d71838c7d9e021cac865905d9546083c639573b9c3222d5f858b2&dest=d575719dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-18-120172.html?hash=3d308045a10d71838c7d9e021cac865905d9546083c639573b9c3222d5f858b2&dest=d575719dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000066.html?hash=efb9b555b8e5bafe847f3ab04c65e4bead919d06153cc477cca72633e81c618a&dest=ex101combined_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000066.html?hash=efb9b555b8e5bafe847f3ab04c65e4bead919d06153cc477cca72633e81c618a&dest=ex101combined_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000066.html?hash=efb9b555b8e5bafe847f3ab04c65e4bead919d06153cc477cca72633e81c618a&dest=ex101combined_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000066.html?hash=efb9b555b8e5bafe847f3ab04c65e4bead919d06153cc477cca72633e81c618a&dest=ex101combined_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000066.html?hash=efb9b555b8e5bafe847f3ab04c65e4bead919d06153cc477cca72633e81c618a&dest=ex101combined_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000077.html?hash=90ac7bfa8fdd4e9cc0c145148d97ec360365c1c3ff871b0a10ea0e56a9f29cc0&dest=ex109-char1x1591478v4xthir_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000077.html?hash=90ac7bfa8fdd4e9cc0c145148d97ec360365c1c3ff871b0a10ea0e56a9f29cc0&dest=ex109-char1x1591478v4xthir_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000077.html?hash=90ac7bfa8fdd4e9cc0c145148d97ec360365c1c3ff871b0a10ea0e56a9f29cc0&dest=ex109-char1x1591478v4xthir_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000077.html?hash=90ac7bfa8fdd4e9cc0c145148d97ec360365c1c3ff871b0a10ea0e56a9f29cc0&dest=ex109-char1x1591478v4xthir_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-18-000077.html?hash=90ac7bfa8fdd4e9cc0c145148d97ec360365c1c3ff871b0a10ea0e56a9f29cc0&dest=ex109-char1x1591478v4xthir_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-19-044233.html?hash=56e1444a074db2b66d89d9ffc4884bc14892e533ea12a952a9ebde0de6962aa0&dest=d698833dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-19-044233.html?hash=56e1444a074db2b66d89d9ffc4884bc14892e533ea12a952a9ebde0de6962aa0&dest=d698833dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-19-044233.html?hash=56e1444a074db2b66d89d9ffc4884bc14892e533ea12a952a9ebde0de6962aa0&dest=d698833dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-19-044233.html?hash=56e1444a074db2b66d89d9ffc4884bc14892e533ea12a952a9ebde0de6962aa0&dest=d698833dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-19-044233.html?hash=56e1444a074db2b66d89d9ffc4884bc14892e533ea12a952a9ebde0de6962aa0&dest=d698833dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-19-090426.html?hash=2ec7466885c0b28a5a7b84543f3fc53e5585e82da29c4b5a0a16a4f6cac74340&dest=d676429ddef14a_htm_toc676429_39
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-19-090426.html?hash=2ec7466885c0b28a5a7b84543f3fc53e5585e82da29c4b5a0a16a4f6cac74340&dest=d676429ddef14a_htm_toc676429_39
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-19-000077.html?hash=4038e0326ed1e024f3dc61581fc7ed8a66ca213ff81a63311ed680469d9f3b18&dest=deferredcompplan_exhibit102_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0000075252-19-000077.html?hash=4038e0326ed1e024f3dc61581fc7ed8a66ca213ff81a63311ed680469d9f3b18&dest=deferredcompplan_exhibit102_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-039369.html?hash=14d3b055ef8ea90e32b77b60e9e13f500022e0849cbfe01e45480198051f0a75&dest=d886662dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-039369.html?hash=14d3b055ef8ea90e32b77b60e9e13f500022e0849cbfe01e45480198051f0a75&dest=d886662dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-039369.html?hash=14d3b055ef8ea90e32b77b60e9e13f500022e0849cbfe01e45480198051f0a75&dest=d886662dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-039369.html?hash=14d3b055ef8ea90e32b77b60e9e13f500022e0849cbfe01e45480198051f0a75&dest=d886662dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-039369.html?hash=14d3b055ef8ea90e32b77b60e9e13f500022e0849cbfe01e45480198051f0a75&dest=d886662dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-042097.html?hash=f2734c1deb6afb18b4170e6bb772dadd687b78db40eb0dde3b498dc5ae95403c&dest=d890116dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-042097.html?hash=f2734c1deb6afb18b4170e6bb772dadd687b78db40eb0dde3b498dc5ae95403c&dest=d890116dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-042097.html?hash=f2734c1deb6afb18b4170e6bb772dadd687b78db40eb0dde3b498dc5ae95403c&dest=d890116dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-042097.html?hash=f2734c1deb6afb18b4170e6bb772dadd687b78db40eb0dde3b498dc5ae95403c&dest=d890116dex101_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-042097.html?hash=f2734c1deb6afb18b4170e6bb772dadd687b78db40eb0dde3b498dc5ae95403c&dest=d890116dex102_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-042097.html?hash=f2734c1deb6afb18b4170e6bb772dadd687b78db40eb0dde3b498dc5ae95403c&dest=d890116dex102_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-042097.html?hash=f2734c1deb6afb18b4170e6bb772dadd687b78db40eb0dde3b498dc5ae95403c&dest=d890116dex102_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-042097.html?hash=f2734c1deb6afb18b4170e6bb772dadd687b78db40eb0dde3b498dc5ae95403c&dest=d890116dex103_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-042097.html?hash=f2734c1deb6afb18b4170e6bb772dadd687b78db40eb0dde3b498dc5ae95403c&dest=d890116dex103_htm
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-078946.html?hash=6e139a88363ff3e1d75ab62f1a7b6f970c0809534f93b9c64eae3ca9da03f1e4&dest=d867891ddef14a_htm_toc867891_31
https://content.edgar-online.com/ExternalLink/EDGAR/0001193125-20-078946.html?hash=6e139a88363ff3e1d75ab62f1a7b6f970c0809534f93b9c64eae3ca9da03f1e4&dest=d867891ddef14a_htm_toc867891_31


10.44 First Amendment to the Receivables Financing Agreement, dated as of May 19, 2020, by and among Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., as the
initial servicer, O&M Funding LLC, as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto, PNC Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent, and PNC Capital Markets LLC, as structuring agent (incorporated herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q, Exhibit 10.1, for the quarter ended June 30, 2020)

10.45 Second Amendment to the Receivables Financing Agreement, dated as of July 1, 2020, by and among Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., as the
initial servicer, O&M Funding LLC, as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto, PNC Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent, and PNC Capital Markets LLC, as structuring agent (incorporated herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q, Exhibit 10.2, for the quarter ended June 30, 2020)

10.46 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated
February 26, 2021)*

10.47 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit
10.2, dated February 26, 2021)*

10.48 Form of 2021 Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
Exhibit 10.3, dated February 26, 2021)*

10.49 Credit Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2021, by and among Owens & Minor, Inc, and certain subsidiaries of Owens & Minor, Inc, as
borrowers, Bank of America, N.A., as an administrative agent and collateral agent, and a syndicate of financial institutions, as lenders
(incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated March 11, 2021)

10.50 Third Amendment to Receivables Financing Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2021, by and among Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., as the
initial servicer, O&M Funding LLC, as borrower, the lenders from time to time party thereto, PNC Bank, National Association, as
administrative agent, and PNC Capital Markets LLC, as structuring agent (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report
on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.2, dated March 11, 2021)

10.51 Amendment to Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of March 10, 2021, by and among Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc., as the
originator, Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., as servicer, and O&M Funding LLC, as buyer (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s
Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.3, dated March 11, 2021).

10.52 Owens & Minor, Inc. 2021 Teammate Stock Purchase Plan (incorporated by reference to Appendix C to the Company’s definitive Proxy
Statement filed March 19, 2020 (File No. 001-09810))*

10.53 Agreement of Resignation, Appointment, and Acceptance, dated as September 10, 2021, by and among Owens & Minor, Inc., U.S. Bank
National Association, as Prior Trustee, and Regions Bank, as Successor Trustee(incorporated herein by reference to our Form 10-Q, Exhibit
10.1, dated November 3, 2021)

10.54 Form of Owens & Minor, Inc. Restricted Stock Agreement under the Company's 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by
reference to our Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.2, dated November 3, 2021)*

10.55 Form of Owens & Minor, Inc. Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement under the Company's 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein
by reference to our Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.3, dated November 3, 2021)*

10.56 Amendment No. 1 to Credit Agreement, among Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc., Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., Barista Acquisition I,
LLC, Barista Acquisition II, LLC, O&M Halyard, Inc., Byram Healthcare Centers, Inc., Owens & Minor, Inc., and Bank Of America
(incorporated herein by reference to our Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.56, dated February 23, 2022)

10.57 Executive Separation Agreement and General Release, dated as of January 9, 2022, by and between Christopher Lowery and Owens &
Minor Medical, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to our Form 10-K, Exhibit 10.57, dated February 23, 2022)*,**

10.58 Form of Restricted Stock Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated
March 1, 2022)**

10.59 Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit
10.2, dated March 1, 2022)**
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10.60 Form of 2022 Performance Stock Unit Award Agreement (incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K,
Exhibit 10.3, dated March 1, 2022)**

10.61
Credit Agreement dated as of March 29, 2022, by and among the Company, certain subsidiaries of the Company party thereto, as borrowers,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as an administrative agent and collateral agent, and a syndicate of financial institutions, as lenders
(incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.1, dated March 29, 2022)**

10.62
Fourth Amendment to Receivables Financing Agreement, dated as of March 29, 2022, by and among O&M Funding LLC, as borrower,
Owens & Minor Medical, Inc., as initial servicer, the lenders party thereto, and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent
(incorporated herein by reference to the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K, Exhibit 10.2, dated March 29, 2022)**

10.63
Joinder to Credit Agreement, Amendment No. 2 to Credit Agreement, Amendment No. 1 to Security Agreement and Amendment No. 1 to
Guaranty, dated as of March 29, 2022, by and among the Company and certain subsidiaries of the Company, as borrowers, the guarantors
and lenders thereto and Bank of America, N.A., as administrative agent and collateral agent, L/C issuer and swing line lender (incorporated
herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.6, for the quarter ended March 31, 2022)

10.64 Amendment No. 3 to the Owens & Minor, Inc. 2018 Stock Incentive Plan (incorporated herein by reference to our Quarterly Report on Form
10-Q, Exhibit 10.6, for the quarter ended March 31, 2022)**

10.65 Executive Separation Agreement and General Release, dated as of October 12, 2022, by and between Jeffrey T. Jochims and Owens &
Minor, Inc. (incorporated herein by reference to our Form 10-Q, Exhibit 10.2, dated November 2, 2022) **

11.1 Calculation of Net Income (Loss) per Common Share. Information related to this item is in Part II, Item 8, Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, Note 15-Net Income (Loss) per Common Share

21.1 Subsidiaries of Registrant

22.1 List of Guarantor Subsidiaries

22.2 List of Subsidiaries Pledged as Collateral

23.1 Consent of KPMG LLP, independent registered public accounting firm

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to Rule 13(a)-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Rule 13(a)-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

32.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

32.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act
of 2002

101.INS Inline XBRL Instance Document

101.SCH Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document

101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document

101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Definition Linkbase Document

101.LAB Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document

101.PRE Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document

104 Cover Page Interactive Data File (formatted as Inline XBRL and contained in Exhibit 101)
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*  Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement.

** Certain exhibits and schedules to these agreements have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. We hereby undertake to

furnish copies of such omitted materials supplementally upon request by the SEC.

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 28th day of February, 2023.

 

OWENS & MINOR, INC.

/s/ Edward A. Pesicka
Edward A. Pesicka

President, Chief Executive Officer & Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacities indicated on the 28th day of February, 2023:
 

/s/ Edward A. Pesicka /s/ Robert J. Henkel
Edward A. Pesicka   Robert J. Henkel

President, Chief Executive Officer & Director   Director

/s/ Alexander J. Bruni /s/ Rita F. Johnson-Mills
Alexander J. Bruni   Rita F. Johnson-Mills

Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer   Director

/s/ Michael W. Lowry /s/ Stephen W. Klemash
Michael W. Lowry   Stephen W. Klemash

Senior Vice President, Corporate Controller & Chief Accounting Officer   Director

/s/ Mark A. Beck /s/ Teresa L. Kline
Mark A. Beck   Teresa L. Kline

Chair of the Board of Directors Director

/s/ Gwendolyn M. Bingham /s/ Carissa L. Rollins
Gwendolyn M. Bingham Carissa L. Rollins

Director Director

/s/ Kenneth Gardner-Smith
Kenneth Gardner-Smith

Director
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DESCRIPTION OF THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES REGISTERED
PURSUANT TO SECTION 12 OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

The following is a brief description of the common stock, $2.00 par value per share (the “Common Stock”), of Owens & Minor, Inc. (the “Company,”
“we,” “us,” and “our”), which is the only security of the Company registered pursuant to Section 12 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange
Act”). The following description is qualified in its entirety by reference to our amended and restated articles of incorporation and our amended and restated
bylaws. Because this is a summary description, it does not contain all of the information that may be important to you. For a more detailed description of our
common stock, you should refer to the provisions of our amended and restated articles of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws, as amended,
each of which is an exhibit to the Form 10-K to which this description is an exhibit, as well as the applicable provisions of the Virginia Stock Corporation Act
(the “VSCA”).

Authorized Capital Stock

Our authorized capital stock consists of 200,000,000 shares of common stock, par value $2.00 per share, and 10,000,000 shares of cumulative preferred
stock, par value $100.00 per share.

Common Stock

Dividends

Subject to the rights of any series of preferred stock that we may issue, the holders of common stock may receive dividends when, as and if declared by
our board of directors, out of our assets legally available therefor.

Fully Paid

All outstanding shares of common stock are fully paid and non-assessable.

Voting Rights

Holders of shares of our common stock are entitled to one vote for each share held of record on all matters on which shareholders are entitled to vote
generally, including the election or removal of directors. In uncontested elections, directors are elected by a majority of the votes cast in the election for such
director nominee. The holders of our common stock do not have cumulative voting rights in the election of directors. The affirmative vote of more than two-
thirds of the outstanding shares of common stock is required for certain amendments to our amended and restated articles of incorporation and the approval of
mergers, statutory share exchanges, certain sales or other dispositions of assets outside the usual and regular course of business, conversions, domestications
and dissolutions. All other matters to be voted on by shareholders must be approved by a majority of the votes cast on the matter.

Liquidation Rights

Upon our dissolution, liquidation or winding up and after payment in full of all amounts required to be paid to creditors and to the holders of shares of
our preferred stock having liquidation preferences, if any, the holders of shares of our common stock will be entitled to receive pro rata our remaining assets
available for distribution.

Other Rights

We will notify shareholders of any shareholders’ meetings according to applicable law. Holders of shares of our common stock do not have preemptive,
subscription, redemption or conversion rights. Shares of our common stock will not be subject to further calls or assessment by us. There will be no redemption
or sinking fund provisions applicable to shares of our common stock. The rights, powers, preferences and privileges of holders of shares of our common stock
will be subject to those of the holders of any shares of our preferred stock that we may authorize and issue in the future.

Transfer Agent

The transfer agent and registrar for shares of our common stock is Computershare, Inc.



Listing

Our common stock is listed on the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) under the symbol “OMI.”

Preferred Stock

Our amended and restated articles of incorporation authorize our board of directors to establish one or more series of shares of preferred stock (including
shares of convertible preferred stock). Unless required by law or by the NYSE, the authorized shares of preferred stock will be available for issuance without
further action by our shareholders. Our board of directors is able to determine, with respect to any series of shares of preferred stock, the powers (including
voting powers), preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, including:

• the rate of dividend, the time of payment and the dates from which any dividends shall be cumulative and the extent of participation rights, if
any;

• any right to vote with holders of shares of any other series or class and any right to vote as a class either generally or as a condition to specified
corporate action, subject to certain limitations;

• the price at which and the terms and conditions upon which shares may be redeemed;

• the amount payable upon shares in the event of involuntary or voluntary liquidation;

• sinking fund provisions of the redemption or purchase of shares, if any; and

• the terms and conditions upon which shares may be converted, if the shares of any series are issued with the privilege of conversion.

Virginia Stock Corporation Act and our Articles of Incorporation and Bylaws

General

We are a Virginia corporation subject to the VSCA. Provisions of the VSCA, in addition to provisions in our amended and restated articles of
incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws, address corporate governance issues, including the rights of shareholders. Certain of these provisions may
make it more difficult or discourage a takeover of our business or removal of our incumbent directors or officers. This anti-takeover effect may, in some
circumstances, reduce the control premium that might otherwise be reflected in the value of our common stock.

Certain key provisions of the VSCA, our amended and restated articles of incorporation and our amended and restated bylaws are summarized below.
This summary is necessarily general and is not intended to be a complete description of all features and consequences of those provisions, and is qualified in its
entirety by reference to our amended and restated articles of incorporation, our amended and restated bylaws and the VSCA.

Certain Provisions of Our Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation and Amended and Restated Bylaws

Election and Removal of Directors; Vacancies. Each of our directors is elected by the vote of a majority of the votes cast at any meeting of shareholders
for the election of directors at which a quorum is present, provided that if the number of director nominees at such meeting exceeds the number of directors to
be elected, the directors are elected by a plurality of the votes cast. Under our amended and restated bylaws, a majority of the votes cast means that the number
of shares voted “for” a director must exceed the number of shares voted “against” that director.

Our directors are elected for one-year terms and can be removed, with or without cause, if the number of votes cast for removal at a shareholder meeting
called for that purpose at which a quorum is present constitutes a majority of the votes entitled to be cast at an election of directors. Our amended and restated
bylaws provide that the number



of directors will from time to time be fixed by resolution adopted by the affirmative vote of a majority of our directors then in office.

Vacancies in the board may be filled by the board. Subject to the rights of any preferred stock, any vacancy on our board of directors resulting from any
death, resignation, retirement, disqualification, removal from office or newly created directorship resulting from an increase in the authorized number of
directors or otherwise may be filled by majority vote of the remaining directors then in office, even if less than a quorum.

Special Meetings of Shareholders. Special meetings of shareholders may be called at any time and from time to time only by the chair of our board of
directors, our chief executive officer or by a majority of the board of directors.

Advance Notice Requirements for Shareholder Director Nominations and Shareholder Business. Our amended and restated bylaws require that advance
notice of shareholder director nominations and shareholder business for annual meetings of shareholders be made in writing and given to our corporate
secretary, together with certain specified information, not earlier than the close of business on the 150  day nor later than the close of business on the 120  day
before the anniversary of the immediately preceding annual meeting of shareholders, subject to other timing requirements as specified in our amended and
restated bylaws, including in the case of a change in the date of the annual meeting of shareholders.

Director nominations and shareholder business that are given late or that do not include all required information may be rejected. This could prevent
shareholders from bringing certain matters before an annual or special meeting, including making nominations for directors.

Proxy Access. Our amended and restated bylaws permit a shareholder, or a group of up to 20 shareholders, owning 3% or more of our outstanding
common stock continuously for at least three years, to nominate and include in our annual meeting proxy materials director candidates to occupy up to two or
20% of the number of directors in office (whichever is greater), provided that such shareholder or group of shareholders satisfies the requirements set forth in
our amended and restated bylaws.

Authorized but Unissued Capital Stock. Our amended and restated articles of incorporation currently authorize more capital stock than we have issued.
The listing requirements of the NYSE, which will apply so long as our common stock remains listed on the NYSE, require shareholder approval of certain
issuances equal to or exceeding 20% of then-outstanding voting power or then-outstanding number of shares of common stock. These additional shares may be
used for a variety of corporate purposes, including future public offerings, to raise additional capital or to facilitate acquisitions.

One of the effects of the existence of unissued and unreserved common stock or preferred stock may be to enable our board of directors to issue shares to
persons friendly to current management, which issuance could render more difficult or discourage an attempt to obtain control of our company by means of a
merger, tender offer, proxy contest or otherwise, and thereby protect the continuity of our management and possibly deprive shareholders of opportunities to
sell their shares of common stock at prices higher than prevailing market prices.

Certain Provisions of Virginia Law

Directors’ Duties. The standards of conduct for directors of Virginia corporations are listed in Section 13.1-690 of the VSCA. Directors must discharge
their duties in accordance with their good faith business judgment of the best interests of the corporation. Directors may rely on the advice or acts of others,
including officers, employees, attorneys, accountants and board committees if they have a good faith belief in their competence. Directors’ actions are not
subject to a reasonableness or prudent person standard. Virginia’s federal and state courts have focused on the process involved with directors’ decision-making
and are generally supportive of directors if they have based their decision on an informed process. These elements of Virginia law could make it more difficult
to take over a Virginia corporation than corporations in other states.

Control Share Acquisitions Statute. Virginia law contains provisions relating to “control share acquisitions,” which are transactions causing the voting
power of any person acquiring beneficial ownership of shares of a Virginia public corporation to meet or exceed certain threshold percentages (20%, 33 1/3%
or 50%) of the total votes entitled to be cast for the election of directors. Under Virginia law, shares acquired in a control share acquisition have no

th th



voting rights unless granted by a majority vote of all outstanding shares entitled to vote in the election of directors other than those held by the acquiring person
or held by any officer or employee director of the corporation, unless at the time of any control share acquisition, the articles of incorporation or bylaws of the
corporation provide that this statute does not apply to acquisitions of its shares. An acquiring person that owns 5% or more of the corporation’s voting stock
may require that a special meeting of the shareholders be held, within 50 days of the acquiring person’s request, to consider the grant of voting rights to the
shares acquired or to be acquired in the control share acquisition. If voting rights are not granted and the corporation’s articles of incorporation or bylaws
permit, the acquiring person’s shares may be redeemed by the corporation, at the corporation’s option, at a price per share equal to the acquiring person’s cost.
Unless otherwise provided in the corporation’s articles of incorporation or bylaws, the Virginia law grants appraisal rights to any shareholder who objects to a
control share acquisition that is approved by a vote of disinterested shareholders and that gives the acquiring person control of a majority of the corporation’s
voting shares. As permitted by Virginia law, we have opted out of the Virginia anti-takeover law regulating control share acquisitions.

Affiliated Transactions Statute. Virginia law also contains provisions governing “affiliated transactions.” An affiliated transaction is generally defined as
a merger, a share exchange, a material disposition of corporate assets not in the ordinary course of business, any dissolution of the corporation proposed by or
on behalf of a holder of more than 10% of any class of the corporation’s outstanding voting shares (a “10% holder”) or any reclassification, including reverse
stock splits, recapitalization or merger of the corporation with its subsidiaries, that increases the percentage of voting shares owned beneficially by a 10%
holder by more than 5%. In general, these provisions prohibit a Virginia corporation from engaging in affiliated transactions with any 10% holder for a period
of three years following the date that such person became a 10% holder unless (1) a majority of disinterested directors of the corporation and the holders of
two-thirds of the voting shares, other than the shares beneficially owned by the 10% holder, approve the affiliated transaction or (2) before the date the person
became a 10% holder, the board of directors approved the transaction that resulted in the shareholder becoming a 10% holder. A disinterested director is a
director who was a director on the date on which a 10% holder became a 10% holder or was recommended for election or elected by a majority of the
disinterested directors then on the board. After three years, an affiliated transaction must be (i) approved by either the holders of two-thirds of the voting shares,
other than the shares beneficially owned by the 10% holder, or a majority of disinterested directors or (ii) satisfy certain fair price requirements in the statute.
Virginia law permits corporations to opt out of the affiliated transactions provisions. We have not opted out of the Virginia anti-takeover law regulating
affiliated transactions.

Shareholder Action by Unanimous Consent. Virginia law provides that, unless provided otherwise in a Virginia corporation’s articles of incorporation,
any action that could be taken by shareholders at a meeting may be taken, instead, without a meeting and without notice if a consent in writing is signed by all
the shareholders entitled to vote on the action. Our amended and restated articles of incorporation do not include a provision that permits shareholders to take
action without a meeting other than by unanimous written consent.

Limitations on Liability and Indemnification of Officers and Directors

Virginia law permits, and our amended and restated articles of incorporation provide for, the indemnification of our directors and officers with respect to
certain liabilities and expenses imposed upon them in connection with any civil, criminal or other proceeding by reason of having been a director or officer of
the Company. This indemnification does not apply in the case of willful misconduct or a knowing violation of the criminal law. Insofar as indemnification for
liabilities arising under the Securities Act of 1933 (the “Securities Act”) may be permitted to directors, officers or persons controlling us pursuant to the
foregoing provisions, we have been informed that, in the opinion of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission, indemnification for liabilities under the
Securities Act is against public policy and is unenforceable.



Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of Registrant

Subsidiary
State of
Incorporation/Organization Country Assumed Name

American Contract Systems, Inc. Minnesota USA
AVID Medical, Inc. Delaware USA
Barista Acquisition I, LLC Virginia USA
Barista Acquisition II, LLC Virginia USA
Byram Healthcare Centers, Inc. New Jersey USA
Byram Holdings I, Inc. New Jersey USA
Clinical Care Services, L.L.C. Utah USA
Diabetes Specialty Center, L.L.C. Utah USA
Fusion 5 Inc. Delaware USA
Halyard North Carolina, LLC North Carolina USA
Key Diabetes Supply Co. Michigan USA AOM Healthcare Solutions
Medical Action Industries Inc. Delaware USA
O&M Byram Holdings, GP Delaware USA
O&M Funding LLC Delaware USA
O&M Halyard, Inc. Virginia USA
O&M IT Holdings, Inc. Virginia USA
O&M IT Holdings II, Inc. Virginia USA
O&M Worldwide, LLC Virginia USA
Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc. Virginia USA OM Healthcare Logistics
Owens & Minor Global Resources, LLC Virginia USA
Owens & Minor International Logistics, Inc. Virginia USA
Owens & Minor Medical, Inc. Virginia USA
Owens & Minor, Inc. Virginia USA
Owens & Minor, Inc. Executive Deferred
Compensation Trust Virginia USA
Arabian Medical Products Manufacturing Company
(19%) N/A Saudi Arabia
ArcRoyal Holdings Unlimited Company N/A Ireland
ArcRoyal Unlimited Company N/A Ireland
Halyard Malaysia SND BHD N/A Malaysia
La Ada de Acuna, S. de R.L. de C.V. N/A Mexico
Mira MEDsource (Shanghai) Co., LTD N/A Shanghai
Mira MEDsource Holding Company Limited N/A Hong Kong
O and M Halyard South Africa Pty Ltd N/A South Africa
O&M Brasil Consultoria Ltda N/A Brazil
O&M Halyard Australia PTY LTD N/A Australia
O&M Halyard Belgium N/A Belgium
O&M Halyard Canada Inc. N/A Canada
O&M Halyard France N/A France
O&M Halyard Germany GmbH N/A Germany
O&M Halyard Health India Private Limited N/A India
O&M Halyard Honduras S.A. de C.V. N/A Honduras
O&M Halyard Ireland Limited N/A Ireland



O&M Halyard Japan GK N/A Japan
O&M Halyard Korea N/A Republic of Korea
O&M Halyard Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. N/A Mexico
O&M Halyard Netherlands B.V. N/A Netherlands
O&M Halyard Singapore PTE Ltd N/A Singapore
O&M Halyard UK Limited N/A United Kingdom
O&M Healthcare Italia S.R.L. N/A Italy
O&M International Healthcare C.V. N/A Netherlands
O&M-Bermuda Insurance Co. Ltd. N/A Bermuda
Owens & Minor Global Services Unlimited Company N/A Ireland
Owens & Minor Ireland Unlimited Company N/A Ireland
Safeskin Medical & Scientific (Thailand) Ltd. N/A Thailand
Apria, Inc. Delaware USA
Apria Healthcare Group LLC Delaware USA
Apria Healthcare LLC Delaware USA
Apria Holdco LLC Delaware USA
CPAP Sleep Stores, LLC Delaware USA
DMEHUB LLC Delaware USA
Healthy Living Home Medical LLC Delaware USA
Lofta, Inc. California USA



Exhibit 22.1
Owens & Minor, Inc.

List of Guarantor Subsidiaries

The following table lists the guarantors, issuers, or co-issuers of Owens & Minor, Inc.'s 2024 Notes as of December 31, 2022:

Entity:
Owens & Minor, Inc.
Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc.
Owens & Minor Medical, Inc.
Barista Acquisition I, LLC
Barista Acquisition II, LLC
O&M Halyard, Inc.
O&M Byram Holding, GP
Byram Holdings I, Inc.
Byram Healthcare Centers, Inc.
Owens & Minor International Logistics, Inc.
AVID Medical, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Clinical Care Services, L.L.C., a Utah limited liability company
Diabetes Specialty Center, L.L.C., a Utah limited liability company
Fusion 5 Inc., a Delaware corporation
Halyard North Carolina, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company
Key Diabetes Supply Co., a Michigan corporation
Medical Action Industries, Inc., a Delaware corporation
O&M Worldwide, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
Owens & Minor Global Resources, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
Apria, Inc.
Apria Healthcare Group LLC
Apria Healthcare LLC
Apria Holdco LLC
CPAP Sleep Stores, LLC
DMEHUB LLC
Healthy Living Home Medical LLC
Lofta, Inc.
American Contract Systems, Inc.



Exhibit 22.2
Owens & Minor, Inc.

List of Subsidiaries Pledged as Collateral

The following table lists the pledged subsidiaries of Owens & Minor, Inc.’s 2024 Notes that constitute collateral (together, "the Collateral
Group") as of December 31, 2022:

Entity
Owens & Minor, Inc.
Owens & Minor Distribution, Inc.
Owens & Minor Medical, Inc.
Barista Acquisition I, LLC
Barista Acquisition II, LLC
O&M Halyard, Inc.
O&M Byram Holding, GP
Byram Holdings I, Inc.
Byram Healthcare Centers, Inc.
Owens & Minor International Logistics, Inc.
AVID Medical, Inc., a Delaware corporation
Clinical Care Services, L.L.C., a Utah limited liability company
Diabetes Specialty Center, L.L.C., a Utah limited liability company
Fusion 5 Inc., a Delaware corporation
Halyard North Carolina, LLC, a North Carolina limited liability company
Key Diabetes Supply Co., a Michigan corporation
Medical Action Industries, Inc., a Delaware corporation
O&M Worldwide, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
Owens & Minor Global Resources, LLC, a Virginia limited liability company
O&M Halyard Canada Inc.
O&M Halyard Honduras S.A. de C.V.
O&M Halyard Mexico S. del R.L. de C.V.
O&M Brasil Consultoria Ltda
La Ada de Acuna-S. de R.L. de C.V.
O&M Halyard UK Limited
O&M Halyard France
O&M Halyard Germany GMBH
O&M Halyard Netherlands B.V.
O and M Halyard South Africa Pty Ltd
Mira MEDsource Holding Company Limited
Mira MEDsource (Shanghai) Co., LTD
O&M International Healthcare C.V.
Owens & Minor Ireland Unlimited Company
ArcRoyal Holdings Unlimited Company
ArcRoyal Unlimited Company
Owens & Minor Global Services Unlimited Company
O&M Healthcare Italia S.R.L.
O&M Halyard Belgium
O&M Halyard Australia PYT LTD
O&M Halyard Singapore PTE Ltd
O&M Halyard Ireland Limited
O&M Halyard Japan GK
O&M Halyard Health India Private Limited
Safeskin Medical & Scientific (Thailand) Ltd.
Halyard Malaysia SND BHD
Apria, Inc.



Apria Healthcare Group LLC
Apria Healthcare LLC
Apria Holdco LLC
CPAP Sleep Stores, LLC
DMEHUB LLC
Healthy Living Home Medical LLC
Lofta, Inc.
American Contract Systems, Inc.



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the registration statements (Nos. 033-32497, 333-203826, 333-217783, 333-224787, 333-231386, 333-238059,
333-251376 and 333-264671) on Form S-8 and registration statement (No. 333-238068) on Form S-3 of our reports dated February 28, 2023, with respect to
the consolidated financial statements of Owens & Minor, Inc. and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ KPMG LLP

Richmond, Virginia
February 28, 2023



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Edward A. Pesicka, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 of Owens & Minor, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date:  February 28, 2023
/s/ Edward A. Pesicka
Edward A. Pesicka
President, Chief Executive Officer & Director



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
RULE 13a-14(a) UNDER THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Alexander J. Bruni, certify that:
 

1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, of Owens & Minor, Inc.;
 

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

 

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 

a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those
entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

 

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date:  February 28, 2023
/s/ Alexander J. Bruni
Alexander J. Bruni
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Owens & Minor, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Edward A. Pesicka, President, Chief Executive Officer & Director of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my knowledge:
 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Edward A. Pesicka
Edward A. Pesicka
President, Chief Executive Officer & Director
Owens & Minor, Inc.
February 28, 2023



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,

AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Owens & Minor, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022, as filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Alexander J. Bruni, Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to the best of my
knowledge:
 

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

/s/ Alexander J. Bruni
Alexander J. Bruni
Executive Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
Owens & Minor, Inc.
February 28, 2023


